Division of Physiology and Neuroscience Department of Biosciences Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki

Finnish Graduate School of Neuroscience

KCC2 AS A MULTIFUNCTIONAL PROTEIN IN BRAIN DEVELOPMENT AND DISEASE

Martin Puskarjov

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public examination, with the permission of the Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences of the University of Helsinki, In the lecture hall 1041, Viikki Biocenter 2 (Viikinkaari 5), On November 1st at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2013

Supervised by:

Professor Kai Kaila Department of Biosciences and Neuroscience Center University of Helsinki Finland

Reviewed by:

Associate Professor R. Anne McKinney Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics McGill University Canada

and

Docent Tomi Rantamäki Neuroscience Center University of Helsinki Finland

Opponent:

Professor Quentin J. Pittman Hotchkiss Brain Institute Department of Physiology and Pharmacology University of Calgary Canada

Custos:

Professor Juha Voipio Department of Biosciences University of Helsinki Finland

ISSN 1799-7372 ISBN 978-952-10-9356-2 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-9357-9 (PDF, http://ethesis.helsinki.fi) Unigrafia, Helsinki 2013 To Filip and Lena

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out in the Laboratory of Neurobiology under the supervision of Professor Kai Kaila, to whom I am greatly thankful for true mentorship and guidance on my quest to learn about the brain through its disorders.

I would like to thank Professor Quentin Pittman for kindly accepting the invitation to act as the opponent of my Dissertation.

All comments given to me by Drs. Anne McKinney and Tomi Rantamäki during the review process of this work are highly appreciated.

The selfless dedication of Dr. Katri Wegelius not only to the Lab but equally to the Finnish Graduate School of Neuroscience and its students is what has made my journey smooth and enjoyable.

Dr. Eva Ruusuvuori has taught me a great deal about learning and teaching as well as seeing what is important in life.

The lessons and the kind support by Professor Juha Voipio were of immense value to me throughout my studies.

I would also like to thank Dr. Peter Blaesse, who has put much of his time and effort in keeping me on the path towards becoming a researcher.

One must also not forget to mention Dr. Himbeergeist and his support during the toughest periods.

By far not the least amount of my gratitude is directed to the present and past members of the Lab, with whom I have had the immense pleasure of working ever since I joined the group in 2008 as a Master's student.

Special thanks go to my office mates Patricia Seja and Alexey Yukin, for their support, advice, and friendship.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my biology teacher Maria Ekman-Ekebom, who inspired me to take this path in the first place, and supported me in every of my early steps.

My grandmother Margareta is to whom I will be forever grateful for everything I have achieved, and to all my family for their unconditional love, support and patience, especially during the last year of this endeavor.

CONTENTS

List of original publications						
					Abstractix	
1	Introduction			1		
2	Review of the literature			2		
	2.1	2.1 Ionic basis of GABA _A R- and GlyR-mediated signaling		2		
	2.2 Cation-chloride cotransporters			4		
	2.3	KCC2				
		2.3.1	Functions of KCC2	11		
			Neuronal K-Cl cotransport	11		
			Ion transport-independent roles of KCC2	14		
		2.3.2	Expression of KCC2	18		
			Ontogeny of KCC2 in rodents and humans	18		
			Influence of activity on KCC2 up-regulation	20		
			Subcellular distribution of KCC2 in pyramidal neurons	21		
		2.3.3	Regulation of KCC2	24		
			Transcriptional regulation of KCC2 expression	24		
			Post-translational regulation of KCC2	26		
		2.3.4	The role of KCC2 in CNS pathology	29		
			KCC2 in neonatal seizures	31		
			KCC2 in temporal lobe epilepsy	33		
3	Aim	Aims				
4	Methods			39		
5 Results				41		
	5.1	.1 A single seizure episode leads to rapid functional activation of				
	 KCC2 in the neonatal rat hippocampus (I) 5.2 BDNF is required for activity-dependent but not constitutive up-regulation of KCC2 during hippocampal development (II) 5.3 Activity-dependent cleavage of KCC2 mediated by 			41		
calcium-activated protease calpain (III)		tivated protease calpain (III)	43			
	5.4	An io	n transport-independent role for KCC2 in			
	deno	dritic s	pinogenesis <i>in vivo</i> (IV)	44		
6	Discussion			45		
	6.1	Study	· 1	45		
	6.2	Study	· II	47		
	6.3	Study	[,] III			
	6.4	Study	/ IV	51		
7	Con	clusio	ns	55		
Lis	List of references					

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This Thesis is based on the following publications which are referred to in Roman numerals in the text:

- I. Khirug S*, Ahmad F*, Puskarjov M¹, Afzalov R, Kaila K, Blaesse P (2010) A single seizure episode leads to rapid functional activation of KCC2 in the neonatal rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 30:12028-12035.
- II. Puskarjov M², Ahmad F, Khirug S, Sivakumaran S, Blaesse P, Kaila K (2013)
 BDNF is required for activity-dependent but not constitutive up-regulation of KCC2 during hippocampal development. Submitted manuscript.
- III. Puskarjov M*³, Ahmad F*, Kaila K, Blaesse P (2012) Activity-dependent cleavage of the K-Cl cotransporter KCC2 mediated by calcium-activated protease calpain. J Neurosci 32:11356-11364.
- IV. Fiumelli H*, Briner A*, Puskarjov M⁴, Blaesse P, Belem BJ, Dayer AG, Kaila K, Martin JL, Vutskits L (2013) An ion transport-independent role for the cation-chloride cotransporter KCC2 in dendritic spinogenesis *in vivo*. Cereb Cortex 23:378-88.

*Equal contribution

¹The candidate performed part of the electrophysiological experiments and participated in the analysis of the results.

²The candidate performed most of the electrophysiological experiments, contributed to the experimental design, participated in the analysis of the results and wrote the manuscript together with KK.

³The candidate performed the electrophysiological experiments, substantially contributed to the experimental design, participated in the analysis of the results and wrote the manuscript together with PB and KK.

⁴The candidate performed the electrophysiological experiments and participated in analysis of the results as well as in the writing of the manuscript.

Publications that have been used in other dissertations:

Studies I and III have been included in the Thesis of Dr. Faraz Ahmad, titled "Posttranslational regulation of KCC2 in the rat hippocampus" in 2012 (Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki). Study I has been included in the Thesis of Dr. Stanislav Khirug, titled "Functional expression and subcellular localization of the Cl⁻ cotransporters KCC2 and NKCC1 in rodent hippocampal and neocortical neurons" in 2011 (Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki).

Other publications related to the Thesis:

Löscher W, **Puskarjov M**, Kaila K (2013) Cation-chloride cotransporters NKCC1 and KCC2 as potential targets for novel antiepileptic and antiepileptogenic treatments. Neuropharmacology 69:62-74.

Kahle KT*, Deeb TZ*, **Puskarjov M***, Silayeva L, Liang B, Kaila K, Moss SJ (2013) Modulation of neuronal activity by phosphorylation of the K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. Trends Neurosci (in press; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2013.08.006).

*Equal contribution

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aa	Amino acid
AED	Antiepileptic drug
AMPAR	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate receptor
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
CCC	Cation-chloride cotransporter
CNS	Central nervous system
CTD	C-terminal domain
ΔΝΤD	N-terminal deletion
DF	Driving force
DIV	Day in vitro
Е	Embryonic day
E _{GABA-A}	Reversal potential of GABA _A R-mediated currents
EEG	Electroencephalogram
E _{Gly}	Reversal potential of GlyR-mediated currents
EGR	Early growth response
EPSP	Excitatory postsynaptic potential
FL	Full-length
GABA _A R	Ionotropic γ-aminobutyric acid receptor
GAD	Glutamic acid decarboxylase
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GlyR	Glycine receptor
IPSP	Inhibitory postsynaptic potential
IUE	In utero electroporation
KCC	K-Cl cotransporter
КО	Knockout
LSO	Lateral superior olive
LTCC	L-type Ca ²⁺ channel
mEPSC	Miniature excitatory postsynaptic current
mIPSC	Miniature inhibitory postsynaptic current
NCC	Na-Cl cotransporter
NKCC	Na-K-2Cl cotransporter
NL	Neuroligin
nAChR	Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor
NMDAR	N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor
NRSE	Neuron-restrictive silencer element
NRSF	Neuron-restrictive silencing factor
NTD	N-terminal domain
Р	Postnatal day
РКС	Protein kinase C
ΡLCγ	Phospholipase Cy
Shc	Src homology 2 domain containing transforming protein
TF	Transcription factor
TrkB	Tropomyosin-related kinase B
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
VIAAT	Vesicular inhibitory amino acid transporter
WT	Wildtype

ABSTRACT

Active extrusion of Cl⁻ from the neuronal cytoplasm by the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter isoform KCC2 is necessary for the hyperpolarizing inhibitory Cl⁻ currents mediated by the GABA receptors (GABA_ARs). Early in development and following cellular trauma or seizures, GABA_AR-mediated signaling is often depolarizing and may even, in contrast to its classical inhibitory action, promote action potential firing. Developmental up-regulation of KCC2 is largely responsible for the shift from depolarizing to hyperpolarizing GABA_AR-mediated signaling, and conditions associated with brain pathology often lead to loss of KCC2 and re-emergence of depolarizing GABA_AR responses. The molecular mechanisms responsible for the up-regulation of KCC2 during development and those mediating its down-regulation, however, remain elusive.

The present Thesis demonstrates that the low level of KCC2 protein in immature neurons is not a limiting factor for its functional activation. A single seizure episode induced with kainate triggers a fast transient enhancement of neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity paralleled by a large increase in surface-expressed but not total KCC2 protein in the hippocampus of neonatal rodents. This post-translational activation of KCC2 appears to be mediated by BDNF-TrkB signaling, as evidenced by its sensitivity to Trk inhibition and its absence in BDNF knockout mice. In contrast to these fast changes in functional expression of KCC2, no requirement for endogenous BDNF was observed for the developmental up-regulation of KCC2 protein. Another key finding of this work is that down-regulation and inactivation of KCC2 following intense NMDA receptor (NMDAR) activation is mediated via cleavage and truncation of KCC2 by the calciumactivated protease calpain. Importantly, the data obtained using inhibitors of protein degradation and protein synthesis indicate that the basal turn-over of KCC2 protein is slow and, consequently, down-regulation under pathological conditions is likely to result from enhanced degradation rather than from reduced de novo KCC2 synthesis. Together, the present findings highlight post-translational regulation as an important mediator of changes in the functional expression of KCC2 in response to conditions of enhanced neuronal activity, such as epileptic seizures.

KCC2 has been traditionally regarded to have the most clearly defined physiological role of all the K-Cl cotransporters, as it is uniquely expressed in central neurons, and determines the neuronal response to activation of GABA_A and glycine receptors. However, such a view has changed drastically following the unexpected observation that KCC2 has also a *structural* role in the morphological maintenance of dendritic spines, one that is independent of its ability to transport ions. The intimate temporal coincidence between the developmental onset of KCC2 expression and the most intense phase of synaptogenesis during the brain growth spurt points to a possible role for this protein in synapse formation. Importantly, whether KCC2 plays a role in spinogenesis i.e. in induction of spines during the brain growth spurt has not been investigated so far. The results of the present work demonstrate that expression of KCC2 is not only a necessary but also a *sufficient* condition for the induction of functional glutamatergic spines during the brain growth spurt.

The results of this work support the idea of KCC2 as an important synchronizing factor in the functional development of glutamatergic and GABAergic signaling.

1 INTRODUCTION

Recently, there has been an increasing interest in the indirect modulation of GABAergic responses in seizure disorders with a therapeutic aim based on a strategy of targeting the plasmalemmal ion transporters responsible for the generation and maintenance of the ion gradients that drive GABAAR-mediated currents (Löscher et al., 2013). This is motivated by the fact that short- and long-term changes in the functional properties of ion transporters have a major influence on GABAergic signaling during neuronal maturation and also following trauma and seizures (Fig. 1; Payne et al., 2003; Blaesse et al., 2009; Deeb et al., 2012; Löscher et al., 2013). Notably, standard antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), such as phenobarbital and benzodiazepines, which enhance GA-BAergic transmission by directly targeting GABA_ARs are less effective in suppressing seizures in neonates than in adults (Painter et al., 1999; Booth and Evans, 2004), and may lose their efficacy in parallel with seizure progression in adults as well (Wasterlain et al., 2009). The reasons for either of these are not fully understood.

Immature neurons show low functional expression of the main neuronspecific Cl⁻ extruder KCC2 which is associated with depolarizing and sometimes even excitatory actions of GABA on postsynaptic neurons. During neuronal maturation, the expression and functionality of KCC2 are progressively increased, which is the basis for the generation of classical hyperpolarizing inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs; Rivera et al., 1999). In rodent hippocampal and neocortical neurons, the 'developmental shift' from depolarizing to hyperpolarizing GABA_ARmediated responses takes place postnatally (Rivera et al., 1999; Ben-Ari et al., 2007; Blaesse et al., 2009; Fig. 1), and the lack of efficacy of drugs such as phenobarbital in human neonates has often been attributed to the lack of KCC2 (cf. e.g. Dzhala et al., 2005; Staley, 2006; Glykys et al., 2009).

In addition to its critical role as a prerequisite for the activity-suppressing action of the main inhibitory neurotransmitters GABA and glycine, KCC2 was recently demonstrated to play a vital, ion transport-independent, role in the morphological maintenance of the dendritic spine, the main target of the excitatory glutamatergic afferent in While mature neurons. genetic deficiencies of KCC2 in animals result in increased excitability (Blaesse et al., 2009), it is unclear to what extent this is attributable to the structural versus transport roles of KCC2, suggesting that, unlike specifically enhancing the transport activity of KCC2, elevating KCC2 protein levels by gene therapy might not be a useful therapeutic strategy.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 IONIC BASIS OF GABA_AR-AND GLYR-MEDIATED SIGNALING

Electrical signals in the brain are essentially mediated by means of dissipation of ion transporter-generated transmembrane ion gradients following voltageand neurotransmitter-gated opening of ion channels. The main inhibitory neurotransmitters of the CNS, GABA at supraspinal pathways and glycine in the brainstem and spinal cord, act on anion channel receptors primarily permeable to Cl⁻ but also to HCO₃⁻ (Bormann et al., 1987; Kaila and Voipio, 1987; Kaila et al., 1993; Kaila, 1994; Ikeda et al., 2004). The electrochemical gradient of a given ion species is set by the activities of plasmalemmal transport mechanisms and the gradient-dissipating conductive channels. The ion gradient is the potential energy for ion movement stored in the chemical potential of the transmembrane concentration gradient and the transmembrane voltage difference. When the chemical and electrical forces governing the net movement of ions across the cell membrane are equal and opposite, no transmembrane charge transfer by the ion species takes place. The membrane potential difference at this energy equilibrium is defined as the equilibrium potential E_i for the current I_i carried by the given ion (i) species. Increasing the membrane conductance by opening channels selectively permeable to ion species *i* drives the membrane potential V_m towards E_i. While the amount of the ionic current. $I_i = G_i(V_m - E_i)$ depends on the ionic conductance G_i and the driving force $(DF_i = V_m - E_i)$, where G_i is determined by the number and properties of ion channels, and DF_i is generated by the action of plasmalemmal ion transport mechanisms. Importantly, DF_i is responsible for setting the *polarity* i.e. direction of I_i. Thus, ion transporters of excitable cells are in a position to determine both the quantitative as well as the *qualitative* consequences of ion-channel mediated signaling.

GABAAR and GlyR-mediated hyperpolarization of the membrane potential to a level more negative than the resting V_m requires the presence of an active Cl⁻ extrusion mechanism (Kaila, 1994). The transmembrane electrochemical Cl⁻ gradient i.e. the DF for GABA_AR- and GlyR-mediated inhibitory postsynaptic potentials (IPSPs), is generated by secondary active K-Cl cotransport (Thompson et al., 1988), which was later shown to be largely mediated by the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter KCC2 (Rivera et al., 1999; Hübner et al., 2001b; Zhu et al., 2005; Blaesse et al., 2009; Seja et al., 2012). KCC2 is initially expressed at very low levels in the developing central nervous system (Blaesse et al., 2009), which fully accounts for the *lack of hyperpolarizing* responses to GABA observed in immature neurons which do not express KCC2 or other Cl⁻ extruding mechanisms (Fig. 1; Rivera et al., 1999; Blaesse et al., 2009). It is obvious, however, that the presence of additional mechanisms, such as Na-K-2Cl cotransport mediated by NKCC1 (see section 2.2), which actively accumulate Cl⁻, are required for a Cl⁻dependent *depolarization* of the membrane potential following GABA_AR or GlyR activation (Fig. 1).

GABA_AR-mediated depolarization is, however, not always an indication of Cl^{-} accumulation because active GABA_ARs are not solely permeable to Cl⁻ (Kaila, 1994). The term reversal potential E_r , often inappropriately used synonymously with the equilibrium potential E_i , is equal to E_i only if a channel is ideally permeable to one ion species only. Thus, the reversal potential for mediated currents **GABA**_A**R**s by (E_{GABA-A}) , receptor channels permeable to both Cl^{-} and HCO_{3}^{-} , is determined by the electrochemical gradients and by the relative permeabilities of these ions:

$$E_{GABA-A} = \frac{RT}{F} ln \frac{P_{Cl} - [Cl^{-}]_{in} + P_{HCO_3} [HCO_3]_{in}}{P_{Cl} - [Cl^{-}]_{out} + P_{HCO_3} [HCO_3]_{out}}$$

While the relative ionic permeability of GABA_ARs is larger for Cl⁻ than for $HCO_3^ (P_{HCO3}/P_{Cl} \approx 0.2-0.3;)$ Kaila, 1994), it is evident from the above equation that contribution of HCO_3^- to the value of EGABA-A can be substantial in neurons with low [Cl⁻]_i, typically mature neurons, and E_{GABA-A} can therefore significantly deviate from E_{Cl} towards the more depolarizing E_{HCO3} (see Farrant and Kaila, 2007), especially during intense GABA_AR activation leads to a HCO₃-dependent intracellular accumulation of Cl⁻ (Kaila, 1994; Viitanen et al., 2010). In contrast, the contribution of HCO₃⁻ to E_{GABA-A} is minimal in neurons with high [Cl]_i, such as immature neurons which often lack the capacity to extrude Cl⁻.



Figure 1. A shift from depolarizing to hyperpolarizing GABA_A receptor (GABA_AR)-mediated Cl⁻ currents takes place during neuronal development, and an opposite effect is often seen following epilepsy and trauma. In cortical and hippocampal neurons, the Na-K-2Cl cotransporter isoform 1 (NKCC1) mediates Cl⁻ uptake, while the K-Cl cotransporter isoform 2 (KCC2) extrudes Cl⁻. The energy for both of these electrically neutral ion-transport processes is derived from the ion gradients generated by the Na-K ATPase. NKCC1 is driven by the Na⁺ concentration gradient and KCC2 by the K⁺ gradient. In immature neurons (left) GABA_AR-mediated Cl⁻ currents are depolarizing. During neuronal development, up-regulation of KCC2 (rightward arrow) renders GABA_AR-mediated Cl⁻ currents hyperpolarizing (right). Exposure of neurons to recurrent seizures and other traumatic insults can lead to down-regulation of KCC2 and to a re-establishment of NKCC1-dependent depolarizing GABAergic signaling.

2.2 CATION-CHLORIDE COTRANSPORTERS

KCC2 is a member of the SLC12A electroneutral cation-chloride cotransporter (CCC) family, which in turn is part of the solute carrier (SLC) superfamily comprising ~300 transporter proteins (Hediger et al., 2004). SLC transporters are expressed in the plasma membrane and in the membranes of intracellular compartments of virtually all cells and organelles, where they control uptake or efflux of sugars, amino acids (aa), nucleotides, ions, and drugs. Active translocation of solutes across cell membranes is mediated by primary active adenosine triphosphate (ATP)driven transporters, such as the Na-K

ATPase, and secondary active transporters that couple the energetically favorable 'downhill' solute electrochemical gradients, generated by primary active transporters, to the transport of other solute species 'uphill' across cell membranes. The mammalian SLC12A family in humans and rats is encoded by the genes SLC12A1-9/Slc12a1-9. The gene products of SLC12A1-7 are secondaryactive electroneutral cation-Cl symporters that couple the energy stored in the Na⁺ and/or K⁺ electrochemical transmembrane gradients generated by the Na-K ATPase to actively transport membrane Cl across the plasma (Blaesse et al., 2009; Gagnon and Delpire, 2013). CCCs are 1000-1200 aa glycoproteins of 120-200 kDa, and their

predicted structure, so far confirmed only for SLC12A2 (Gerelsaikhan and Turner, 2000; Payne, 2012), comprises a short N-terminal and a long C-terminal domain, 12 transmembrane spanning domains, and an extracellular loop conputative taining glycosylation sites (Gamba, 2005; Arroyo et al., 2013). Based on both their transport properties and amino acid sequences the CCCs can be divided in two groups (Gagnon and Delpire, 2013), (i) the Na⁺-dependent Cl⁻ importers and (ii) the K⁺-dependent Cl⁻ extruders. Na-K-2Cl cotransporter isoforms 1 and 2 (NKCC1; SLC12A2 and NKCC2; SLC12A1) and the Na-Cl cotransporter (NCC; SLC12A3) exploit the inwardly-directed Na⁺ electrochemical gradient to import Cl into cells. K-Cl cotransporter isoforms 1-4 (KCC1-4; SLC12A4-7) use the outwardly-directed K^+ gradient to extrude Cl^- from the cell interior.

Because the CCCs transfer an equal number of cations and anions per transport cycle, their operation does not result in net charge movement across the plasma membrane rendering them electroneutral. In contrast, the $3Na^{+}/2K^{+}$ stoichiometry of antiport the Na-K ATPase is *electrogenic* and gives rise to an outward current. The electroneutral mode of CCC is particularly important in the context of excitable cells, such as muscle and nerve, as it enables regulatory control over intracellular anion activity and cell volume without affecting the membrane potential (Payne, 2012). CCCs are expressed in all organ systems and are critical for a wide range of physiological processes, including cell volume regulation, transepithelial transport of solute and water, blood pressure regulation, and regulation of intraneuronal Cl concentration (Hebert et al., 2004; Gamba, 2005; Blaesse et al., 2009; Arroyo et al., 2013; Gagnon and Delpire, 2013). Diseaserelated alterations in CCC-functionality have been implicated as part of several etiologically heterogeneous diseases. including arterial hypertension, osteoporosis, cancer, and epilepsy (Gamba, 2005). Pharmacological antagonists of some of the CCCs are among the most commonly used drugs in medicine (Bartholow, 2012) and they, most notably, include the loop and thiazide diuretics, which are indicated for a variety of fluid-balance disturbance-related conditions, such as hypertension, glaucoma, and edema (Sarafidis et al., 2010; Pacifici, 2012). In addition to their clinical use, the loop diuretics furosemide and bumetanide have proven to be valuable tools for research on KCCs and NKCCs. Bumetanide at low micromolar concentrations can be used to selectively inhibit NKCCs, while bumetanide and furosemide concentrations in the millimolar range non-selectively antagonize both K-Cl and Na-K-2Cl cotransport (Adragna et al., 2004; Löscher et al., 2013). A major limitation in studies on K-Cl cotransport has been the absence of selective inhibitors (Adragna et al., 2004). Recent high throughput screening of potential drug candidates has identified small-molecule inhibitors for the neuron-specific KCC isoform (Delpire et

al., 2009; Lindsley et al., 2010), however, characterization of the off-target actions of such molecules is still in progress (Delpire et al., 2012).

The clinical relevance of CCCs was highlighted following the identification of a number of mutated SLC12A genes in several human Mendelian diseases (Gamba, 2005; Arroyo et al., 2013). These include Bartter syndrome type I and Gitelman syndrome, both of which are characterized by low blood pressure due to renal failure and hypokalemic alkalosis, involving mutations in NKCC2 and NCC, respectively (Simon et al., 1996a; Simon et al., 1996b); as well as Andermann syndrome, a severe peripheral neuropathy with agenesis of the corpus callossum that involves mutations in KCC3 (Howard et al., 2002; Rudnik-Schoneborn et al., 2009). Although no human diseases have so far been directly linked to mutations in either NKCC1 or KCCs other than KCC3 (Rudnik-Schoneborn et al., 2009), phenotypes of mice with full or partial genetic disruptions in CCCs (for review, see Blaesse et al., 2009; Gagnon and Delpire, 2013) exhibit inner ear dysfunction (NKCC1, KCC3, KCC4; Delpire et al., 1999; Flagella et al., 1999; Howard et al., 2002; Boettger et al., 2002; Boettger et al., 2003), blood pressure regulation impairments (NKCC1, KCC3; Flagella et al., 1999; Rust et al., 2006), as well as reduced threshold for seizure generation (KCC2; KCC3; Woo et al., 2002 Boettger et al., 2003), and generalized seizures (KCC2 [splice variant KCC2b; see below]; Woo et al., 2002).

6

Apart from NCC and NKCC2 which are predominantly expressed in the kidney (Gamba et al., 1994; Mastroianni et al., 1996) all other CCCs are expressed at some stage in mammalian CNS development (Fig. 2; Blaesse et al., 2009; Arroyo et al., 2013). The ubiquitously expressed NKCC1 is present neurons of rodents (Delpire et al., 1994; Plotkin et al., 1997a; Kanaka et al., 2001; Li et al., 2002) and humans (Munoz et al., 2007; Hyde et al., 2011). Descriptions of the developmental expression patterns of NKCC1 in the CNS have been controversial. Plotkin et al. (1997b) first reported that a developmental peak in NKCC1 expression is reached in the rat forebrain around the first postnatal week, and down-regulation of NKCC1 mRNA and protein takes place thereafter (see also Wang et al., 2002). Such data is also in line with a reported shift from predominantly neuronal to largely glial expression of NKCC1 mRNA during CNS development in mouse (Hübner et al., 2001a), although, curiously, no NKCC1 protein was detected in glial cells by Plotkin et al. (1997a). In contrast, no developmental down-regulation of NKCC1 mRNA was observed by Clayton et al. (1998) in the rat cortex. The authors suggested that the loss of NKCC1 expression observed by Plotkin et al. (1997b) may actually reflect changes in the alternative splicing and not expression of NKCC1, as the region of NKCC1 mRNA and protein detected by the oligonucleotide probes and antibodies used by Plotkin et al. (1997b) was found to participate in alternative splicing (see Randall et al., 1997). In the human CNS, no down-regulation, but rather progressive up-regulation of NKCC1 mRNA across the entire lifespan has been demonstrated (Hyde et al., 2011; see also Szabadics et al., 2006; Munoz et al., 2007; Fig. 2). Such data is not, however, sufficient to yield information regarding the functional roles of NKCC1, as the subcellular expression pattern of NKCC1 seems to determine its physiological actions (cf. O'Donnell et al., 2004; Khirug et al., 2008; Bos et al., 2011). However, the lack of specific NKCC1 antibodies has complicated the interpretation of immunochemical studies on the subcellular distribution of NKCC1 (Blaesse et al., 2009). For example, Marty et al. (2002), reported localization change of NKCC1 from soma to dendrites in hippocampal pyramidal neurons during postnatal life, yet later electrophysiological work on NKCC1 knockout (KO) animals pinpointed the importance of this transporter in the regulation of GABAergic signaling at the axon initial segment of neocortical and hippocampal principal neurons (Khirug et al., 2008; see also Szabadics et al., 2006).

Among the KCCs, only the expression of KCC2 is restricted to central neurons (Payne et al., 1996; Williams et al., 1999; Rivera et al., 1999; Karadsheh and Delpire, 2001; Uvarov et al., 2005) and it is also the major KCC isoform expressed in the mature rodent and human CNS (Fig. 2; Rivera et al., 1999; Boettger et al., 2003; Karadsheh et al., 2004; Blaesse et al., 2009; Seja et al., 2012). Although KCC2 is broadly expressed among neurons of the adult CNS, certain neuronal subpopulations, including the dopaminergic neurons of substantia nigra (Gulacsi et al., 2003), vasopressinergic neurons of the dorsolateral part of the paraventricular nucleus (Kanaka et al., 2001; Haam et al., 2012), of the dorsomedial part of the suprachiasmatic nucleus (Kanaka et al., 2001; Belenky et al., 2008; Belenky et al., 2010), reticular thalamic neurons (Kanaka et al., 2001; Bartho et al., 2004), neurons of the medial habenular nucleus (Kanaka et al., 2001; Wang et al., 2006; Kim and Chung, 2007), as well as the neurons of the mesencephalic trigeminal nucleus (Kanaka et al., 2001; Toyoda et al., 2005) have been reported to lack KCC2.

The ubiquitously expressed KCC1 is often considered as a 'housekeeping' isoform involved in cell volume regulation (Hebert et al., 2004), however, in central neurons it appears to be expressed at very low levels (Payne et al., 1996; Rivera et al., 1999; Kanaka et al., 2001; Li et al., 2002; Rust et al., 2007). Similarly, except during the embryonic phase, the CNS expression of KCC4 is limited (Karadsheh et al., 2004). The relatively high mRNA expression of both KCC1 and KCC4 during early embryonic development in the rodent (Li et al., 2002) and human (Fig. 2) CNS is an intriguing observation that prompts future investigation. KCC3 is alternatively spliced producing three variants. Of these, KCC3a and KCC3c are expressed in glia and neurons, respectively,

while KCC3b is found outside the CNS (Le Rouzic et al., 2006; Blaesse et al., 2009).

In the rodent CNS the expression of both KCC2 and KCC3 is up-regulated during CNS development (Rivera et al., 1999; Pearson et al., 2001; Blaesse et al., 2009). Although up-regulation in the expression of both KCC2 and KCC3 temporally coincides with the emergence of hyperpolarizing GABA_AR and GlyRmediated responses (Ben-Ari et al., 2007; Blaesse et al., 2009), functional up-regulation of KCC2 appears both necessary (Rivera et al., 1999) and sufficient (Lee et al., 2005) to account for the observed qualitative change in GABAergic signaling in principal neurons. Indeed, based on a recent knockdown study, performed in cerebellar Purkinje and granule cells, the contribution of KCC3 to the total neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity is small compared to KCC2 (Seja et al., 2012; see also Boettger et al., 2003). The relatively higher expression of KCC2 compared to KCC3 is also likely to be explained by the striking finding that KCC2, not KCC3, is required for the morphological maturation of cortical dendritic spines, in a manner that is independent of its ability to transport ions (Li et al., 2007; see section 2.3.1).



Figure 2. Expression profiles of the SLC12A1-7 gene products in the human neocortex. Average fits of log2-transformed exon array signal intensity data from the Human Brain Transcriptome data bank (www.hbatlas.org; cf. Kang et al., 2011). Broken vertical line denotes approximate time of birth.

2.3 KCC2

KCC2 is a glycoprotein with a predicted topology of 12 transmembrane domains, an N-glycosylated (where N is amino acid asparagine) extracellular domain between the 5th and the 6th transmembrane domains, and two intracellular domains, a smaller (~100 aa) N-terminal domain (NTD) and a larger (~480 aa) C-terminal domain (CTD), which flank the transmembrane domains and together account approximately for half of the size of the KCC2 molecule (1116 aa; Fig. 3). Deletion of the NTD (aa 1-100; KCC2 ANTD) renders KCC2 transportinactive in neurons and HEK-293 cells, while at least the latter are able to express the Δ NTD variant at the cell membrane (Li et al., 2007). Similarly, the CTD is necessary for the K-Cl cotransport function (Mercado et al., 2006; Acton et al., 2012). Especially the latter of the two terminal domains has been identified as critical cytoplasmic target post-translational regulation of for KCC2. The majority of the phosphorylation sites predicted for KCC2 appear in its CTD (Song et al., 2002; Chamma et al., 2012) and several of these residues have been implicated in regulatory phosphorylation of KCC2 during development and in response to neuronal activity (Chamma et al., 2012; Kahle et al., 2013).

The mammalian KCC2 gene is N-terminally spliced to produce two neuron-specific isoforms, KCC2a and KCC2b, with comparable co-transport properties (Uvarov et al., 2007). KCC2b has been established as the major isoform contributing to almost 90% of total KCC2 protein in the adult murine cortex (Uvarov et al., 2007; Uvarov et al., 2009). While the expression of KCC2a remains relatively low throughout development, the expression of KCC2b is strongly up-regulated during postnatal life (Stein et al., 2004; Uvarov et al., 2007; Uvarov et al., 2009). A particularly high increase in KCC2b expression has been observed in mouse hippocampal and cortical regions, where KCC2b mRNA is up-regulated 10- and 35-fold, respectively, between embryonic day (E) 17 and postnatal day (P) 14 (Uvarov et al., 2007). The specific disruption of KCC2b leads to a seizure phenotype, however such mice are viable until the third postnatal week (Woo et al., 2002; Uvarov et al., 2007; cf. Blaesse et al., 2009). Thus, the genetic disruption of KCC2-mediated neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion is not lethal at birth as was originally thought (Hübner et al., 2001b).



Figure 3. KCC2 functions are regulated by transcriptional control, subcellular targeting, and posttranslational modifications such as protein phosphorylation. *Upper left* Transcriptional control of KCC2 expression in central neurons is mediated by several, most likely redundant, regulatory mechanisms. *Lower left* While protein 4.1N is involved in the anchoring of spine KCC2 to the cytoskeleton, it is not clear whether this is true for KCC2 located in dendritic shafts and neuronal somata (indicated by a question mark). The mechanisms whereby KCC2 is excluded from the axon and NKCC1 targeted to the axon initial segment are unclear. *Lower right* Kinases and phosphatases acting on the phosphorylatable residues of KCC2 (see inset upper right; e.g. PKC acting on S940) can modify KCC2 function by influencing the relative rates of endo- and exocytosis. The lack of evidence (indicated by a question mark) for direct modulation of the intrinsic rate of ion transport of neuronal CCCs is highlighted. Modified with permission from Blaesse et al. (2009). Inset with KCC2 diagram (and notable putative phosphorylation sites and the "ISO" domain) adapted, with permission, from Kahle et al. (2013).

2.3.1 FUNCTIONS OF KCC2

During neuronal development, depolarizing GABAergic signaling promotes the opening of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels, activation of NMDARs and sometimes the firing of action potentials. The resulting transient elevations in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and activation of downstream signaling cascades underlie the trophic effects of GABAergic depolarizing signaling during development (Ben-Ari et al., 2007). These effects have been observed in vitro at numerous levels of neuronal and network development, ranging from synthesis of DNA to neuronal proliferation. migration, and morphological maturation of neurons and synapses (Represa and Ben Ari, 2005; Blaesse et al., 2009). The loss of depolarizing and of acquisition hyperpolarizing GABA_AR-mediated signaling through functional up-regulation of KCC2 is believed to bring to an end the trophic effects of depolarizing GABA (cf. Akerman and Cline, 2006; Cancedda et al., 2007; Bortone and Polleux, 2009).

The functions of KCC2 in neurons have been studied using *in vitro* and *in vivo* models where KCC2 has been either disrupted or overexpressed. Such work has linked KCC2 to formation and function of GABAergic and glutamatergic synapses (for review, see Blaesse et al., 2009; Chamma et al., 2012). Original work using antisense oligonucleotide knockdown of KCC2, first defined the causal role for KCC2 in the generation of the driving force for hyperpolarizing actions of GABA (Rivera et al.,

1999). Later, a second structural function, one that is independent of ion transport, was demonstrated for KCC2 using transport-inactive variants of KCC2 in the morphogenesis of glutamatergic synapses (Li et al., 2007; see also Horn et al., 2010). Consequently, in light of this recent finding, many effects concluded in an *a priori* manner to arise from changes in KCC2-mediated Cl⁻ extrusion may in fact partly or fully be accounted for by the structural roles of KCC2. For instance, the KCC2-C568A mutant used by Cancedda et al. (2007) and Reynolds et al. (2008) to support the idea that premature expression of KCC2mediated Cl⁻ extrusion disrupts neuronal development, was later found to be unable not only of ion transport (Reynolds et al., 2008; Puskarjov et al., unpublished) but also of interactions with the actin cytoskeleton (Horn et al., 2010). Thus, in attempts to infer the roles of this multifunctional protein in CNS physiology and disease states, it is imperative to consider both the contribution of ion transport as wells as other functions of KCC2 that may be unrelated to K-Cl cotransport.

Neuronal K-Cl cotransport

K-Cl cotransport was initially identified in red blood cells (Kregenow, 1971; Dunham et al., 1980; Lauf and Theg, 1980), where (and as later discovered in most other cells of the body) it is activated by hypotonic cell swelling and mediates regulatory volume decrease through an efflux of K^+ , Cl⁻ and osmotically obliged water. Compared to the other KCC isoforms, which are exclusively swelling activated, the neuronspecific isoform KCC2 is unique as it is capable of constitutive K-Cl cotransport under isotonic conditions (Payne, 1997; Song et al., 2002; Gamba, 2005; Mercado et al., 2006). This important feature of KCC2 has been pinpointed to a unique stretch of amino acids termed the "ISO domain" and located in the distal C-terminus of the transporter (Fig. 3; Mercado et al., 2006). Deletion of the KCC2 ISO domain in neurons leads to loss of Cl⁻ extrusion under isotonic conditions whilst apparently sparing that experimentally-induced induced by hypotonic shock (Acton et al., 2012). However, physiologically-induced swelling of neurons results from activitydependent ionic loads, not from hypotonic stress (Gulyas et al., 2001; Payne et al., 2003). Thus, massive synaptic activity and excitotoxic conditions are thought to lead to neuronal swelling caused by an enhanced cellular ionic influx which is accompanied by the net movement of water (Choi, 1987; Allen et al., 2004). In contrast, under hypotonic conditions, the intracellular solute level is reduced (Basavappa and Ellory, 1996), and under these conditions the volume of glial but not of neuronal cells is likely to be affected, due to the apparent lack of aquaporins in neurons (Amiry-Moghaddam and Ottersen, 2003). The abundant expression of KCC2 near excitatory synapses in hippocampal neurons has been proposed to limit dendritic swelling in response to intense glutamatergic signaling (Gulvas et al., 2001). However, experimental tests of this hypothesis are lacking. Nonetheless, the exclusive ability of KCC2 among the KCCs, to extrude Cl⁻ under isotonic conditions (Gamba, 2005), supports the conclusion that it is the major functional KCC isoform in neurons. The salient developmental expression profile of KCC2b, together with the fact that GABAergic responses in cultured cortical neurons from KCC2b-specific KO mice remain depolarizing (Zhu et al., 2005), indicates that the KCC2b isoform is responsible for the shift from depolarizing to hyperpolarizing GABA_AR-mediated responses during development (Blaesse et al., 2009).

Regarding the role of ion transport in controlling the efficacy of inhibition, the determining factor is the capability of KCC2 to maintain the GABA_A driving force $(DF_{GABAA} = V_m - E_{GABA-A})$ at a sufficiently negative level to prevent the neuron from firing action potentials (Farrant and Kaila, 2007). The above does not necessarily stipulate hyperpolarizing levels, as an E_{GABA-A} level that is close to resting V_m or even slightly depolarizing does not imply an absence of an inhibitory GABAergic action. This is because the opening of GABAARs leads not only to a change in V_m towards E_{GABA-A}, but also to *shunting* of excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs), i.e. to a decrease in membrane resistance and a consequent decrease in the efficacy of EPSPs to sum up in space and in time and to reach the action potential threshold (Farrant and Kaila, 2007;

Bartos et al., 2007). An important distinction between voltage inhibition and shunting inhibition lies in the fact that the latter is local and lasts only for the duration of the change in synaptic conductance i.e. as long as the GABAARs reside in an open and conductive state. In contrast, hyperpolarizing or depolarizing synaptic potentials outlast the conductance change that generates them, and their spread in space and time is determined by passive membrane properties and voltage-gated channels (Farrant and Kaila, 2007).

The electroneutral transport mode of CCCs obviously precludes direct electrophysiological monitoring of their transport function in a manner used to assess electrogenic transporters. A notable example of such is the Na-K ATPase, the transport cycle of which generates an outward transmembrane current. Nevertheless, because the reversal potential of GABAARs and GlyRs is strongly influenced by the mechanisms regulating [Cl⁻]_i, these receptor channels can be used as indirect read-out devices for the assessment KCC2-mediated Cl⁻ extrusion. Measurements of the steady state E_{GABA-A} or E_{Gly} values can, however, at best provide information about the presence or absence of Cl⁻ extrusion as, in the absence of a cellular Cl⁻ load, even an inefficient extrusion mechanism is able to maintain a hyperpolarizing E_{GABA-A} or E_{Gly} (Jarolimek et al., 1999; Blaesse et al., 2009). Techniques involving an imposed Cl⁻ load are thus warranted to assess the *capacity* of a neuron to extrude Cl⁻ (Jarolimek et al., 1999;

Khirug et al., 2005; Jin et al., 2005; Zhu et al., 2005; Blaesse et al., 2009; Nardou et al., 2011b; Seja et al., 2012). The validity of this approach to assess changes in KCC2 function was well demonstrated by Prince and colleagues in cortical pyramidal neurons, where, in the absence of a Cl⁻ load, even a marked damage-induced down-regulation of KCC2 function could not be detected by recordings of the steady-state E_{GABA-A} (Jin et al., 2005).

Because neurons in active networks in vivo are under constant barrage of excitatory and inhibitory inputs that promotes Cl loading (Buzsaki et al., 2007), it is obvious that an efficient Cl⁻ extruding mechanism such as KCC2 is a requirement for maintaining E_{GABA-A} below action potential firing threshold in such cells. However, under conditions of strong GABAAR activation, high elevations in [Cl]_i, generated by a large electrogenic uptake of Cl⁻ driven by efflux of HCO_3^- through GABA_ARs, have been demonstrated to promote generation of depolarizing extracellular [K⁺] transients via KCC2 (Viitanen et al., 2010). Thus, under conditions of intense GABAAR activation, such as during bursts of ictal activity, KCC2 may paradoxically act as a mediator of excitatory GABAAR signaling (Kaila et al., 1997; Viitanen et al., 2010; see also Miles et al., 2012; Pavlov et al., 2013).

lon transport-independent roles of KCC2

Work by Gulyas et al. (2001) first showed that a considerable part of KCC2 is associated with dendritic spine heads and bases of all hippocampal principal cells and parvalbumin-positive interneurons, with a particularly high level in the thorny excrescences of CA3 neurons. In light of the notion that the vast majority of excitatory synapses are formed on dendritic spines and most inhibitory inputs are made onto dendritic shafts rather than spines (Somogyi et al., 1998; Hering and Sheng, 2001; Yuste, 2010), the high level of a key molecule for GABAergic transmission in the vicinity of glutamatergic synapses in spines (Gulyas et al., 2001) raised the question that perhaps 'spine KCC2' may have a role that is not directly related to inhibitory signaling.

Li et al. (2007) were first to provide evidence for a role of KCC2 in the formation of excitatory synapses. Neurons from organotypic or dissociated embryonic cortical cultures from KCC2 KO (KCC2^{-/-}) mice exhibited elongated filopodia-like dendritic protrusions, instead of dendritic spines, and a reduced number of functional excitatory synapses. The latter was seen as a reduction in synaptic clusters, in the number of active presynaptic elements as well as in the frequency of miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs; Li et al., 2007). Importantly, the authors also demonstrated that this effect was specifically attributable to the loss of KCC2 function unrelated to ion transport. Transfection of day in vitro (DIV) 9 KCC2^{-/-} neurons with full-length KCC2 (KCC2-FL) or with an N-terminallydeleted transport-deficient KCC2 construct (KCC2-ANTD; deletion of aa 1-100) prevented the above effects of constitutive KCC2 disruption, observed on DIV14, while transfection with GFP or KCC3 had no effect (Li et al., 2007). Accordingly, the impaired spine maturation in KCC2^{-/-} neurons was apparently not attributable to the lack of functional inhibition and consequent hyperexcitability, as culturing these neurons in the continuous presence of the voltage-gated Na^+ channel inhibitor tetrodotoxin (TTX) had no effect on the length of their dendritic protrusions (Li et al., 2007; but see also Richards et al., 2005). For corroboration of the in vitro data, Li et al. (2007) utilized hypomorphic heterozygous KCC2 mice (KCC2^{hy/-}), which express ~20% of wildtype (WT) KCC2 protein but, unlike the complete KO, they are viable (Tornberg et al., 2005). In cortical slices from KCC2^{hy/-} mice the constitutively decreased KCC2 expression was associated with elongation of dendritic protrusions, albeit to a much lesser extent than that seen in KCC2^{-/-} cultures (Li et al., 2007). Alterations in the *density* of dendritic protrusions were observed neither in vitro in cultured KCC2^{-/-} cortical neurons at DIV14, nor in ex vivo cortical neurons from P16 KCC2^{hy/-} mice (Li et al., 2007). Knockdown of KCC2 starting from the second postnatal week in cerebellar Purkinje neurons in vivo using Cre-mediated exon

excision (Seja et al., 2012) or from DIV14 in cultured hippocampal neurons using siRNA (Gauvain et al., 2011) had no effect on the length or density of dendritic protrusions, as seen in adult neurons from these preparations. Curiously though, in the study by Gauvain et al., an increase in the proportion of mushroom-type spines was observed (see also Khalilov et al., 2011). When KCC2 was knocked down starting from DIV4, i.e. before spine formation, a larger proportion of filopodia-type protrusions but no change in the overall density of dendritic protrusions was observed at DIV14 (Gauvain et al., 2011). Moreover, recent data by Sun et al. (2013) demonstrated that the dramatic reduction of spine density of DIV15 primary mouse cortical neurons following shRNA-mediated knockdown of the cell adhesion molecule neuroligin-2 (NL-2), could be completely prevented by co-transfecting the neurons with NL2shRNA and FL-KCC2 at DIV2. Together these studies (Li et al., 2007; Gauvain et al., 2011; Seja et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2013), might suggest that expression of KCC2 may be required for the induction rather than for the maintenance of dendritic spines. However, further studies are required to investigate whether knocking KCC2 down after spine formation in hippocampal and cortical pyramidal neurons has an effect on spine maintenance under in vivo conditions. While no effect of such a manipulation on dendritic spines was observed in cerebellar Purkinje neurons (Seja et al, 2012), given the likelihood of fundamental differences in the mechanisms of spine formation between pyramidal and Purkinje neurons (see Yuste and Bonhoeffer, 2004; Ethell and Pasquale, 2005), generalization of this observation to pyramidal neurons warrants caution.

Using cultured hippocampal neurons Gauvain et al. (2011) also found that chronic suppression of KCC2 expression after spine formation in vitro was associated with a reduction in mEPSC amplitude paralleled by increased lateral diffusion of the AMPA receptor (AMPAR) GluR1 subunits in spines. The authors suggested that this effect was attributable to an ion transport-independent function of KCC2, as increased lateral diffusion of AM-PARs was observed also after dominantnegative expression of the C-terminal domain of KCC2 (KCC2-CTD; aa 637-1116), but not following incubation of neuronal cultures with a recently synthesized KCC2 cotransport inhibitor VU0244051 for longer than 72 hours (Gauvain et al., 2011). This conclusion warrants confirmation because it is largely based on the data obtained using long incubation a relatively with VU0240551 (Delpire et al., 2009), which has been reported to have significant offtargets (Lindsley et al., 2010; Delpire et al., 2012), including inhibition of L-type Ca^{2+} channels (LTCCs). It is by no means excluded that such off-target effects may play a role in the present context, as LTCCs are expressed hippocampal pyramidal neurons and actively partake in plasticity of dendritic spines

(cf. Matus, 2000; Obermair et al., 2004; Oertner and Matus, 2005; Nakata and Nakamura, 2007; Di Biase et al., 2011). One potential approach to assess the non-dependence of the effect of lateral diffusion of AMPARs on KCC2 transport function would be to knock down endogenous KCC2 using shRNA against an N-terminal sequence of KCC2 mRNA and attempt a rescue with an Nterminally deleted KCC2 construct, such as the KCC2- Δ NTD, which is transportdeficient but has been shown to interact with the cytoskeleton (see Li et al., 2007).

Also Li et al. (2007) reported a dominant-negative effect of KCC2-CTD overexpression in cultured cortical neurons, but this was on the length of dendritic protrusions. Transfection of WT neurons on DIV9 with KCC2-CTD led to an increase in protrusion length as observed on DIV14 that was comparable to what was observed in KCC2^{-/-} neurons transfected with GFP alone (Li et al., 2007). However, no dominant-negative effect of KCC2-CTD on protrusion length was observed at DIV24 in hippocampal neurons that where transfected on DIV14 (Gauvain et al., 2011), suggesting either dependence on the cell type or a restricted time window for the effect. The dominant effect of KCC2-CTD in particular, and the morphogenic effect of KCC2 in general, have been attributed to stem from the interaction of the C-terminal domain of KCC2 with the 4.1N protein (Li et al., 2007; Horn et al., 2010), a structural protein found in neurons that binds actin and crosslinks

the spectrin/actin skeleton with transmembrane proteins (Bennett and Baines, 2001; Baines et al., 2001; Denker and Barber, 2002). Interestingly, a point mutation (KCC2-C568A) located outside the C-terminal domain of KCC2 also renders KCC2 unable to bind 4.1N, to interact with the cytoskeleton (Horn et 2010). and to transport ions al.. (Reynolds et al., 2008; Puskarjov et al., unpublished). It is likely that this mutation results in misfolding of KCC2 protein precluding its membrane expression and/or cytoskeletal interactions.

While the landmark study of Li et al. (2007) established a novel primary function for KCC2, the ion transportindependent role of KCC2 in synaptogenesis is not clear cut. For instance, while early overexpression of KCC2, but not of a transport-deficient mutant (KCC2-Y1087D; Strange et al., 2000), resulted in reduced amplitude and frequency of mEPSCs, in Xenopus tectal neurons (Akerman and Cline, 2006), overexpression of KCC2 in cultured hippocampal neurons had no effect on mEPSC frequency or amplitude or the density of glutamatergic terminals (Chudotvorova et al., 2005). In the latter study, overexpression of KCC2 was, however, reported to increase the frequency of miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (mIPSCs) and the density of GABA_AR clusters (Chudotvorova et al., 2005). Surprisingly, a reduction in the frequency of mIPSCs but not of mEPSCs was reported in CA1 pyramidal neurons of KCC2 hypomorphic mice (Riekki et al., 2008). However, it is not possible to assert, whether such effects of KCC2 overexpression or disruption on the properties of GABAergic synapses are a result of KCC2 functions dependent on K-Cl cotransport, on those independent of ion transport, or both. Intriguingly, an increased frequency of both spontaneous IPSCs and EPSCs in CA3 pyramidal neurons was observed in KCC2^{-/-} mice already at E18.5, well before KCC2-mediated Cl⁻ extrusion is up-regulated in these cells (Khalilov et al., 2011). The existence of an early embryonic ion-transport independent function of KCC2 in morphological maturation of neurons is also supported by the study of Horn et al. (2010). The authors of this work employed pronuclear DNA injection of fertilized mouse oocytes with KCC2 constructs under the nestin promoter, limiting their expression to neuronal progenitors. They demonstrated that constitutive neuronspecific overexpression of KCC2-FL or of the transport-deficient KCC2- Δ NTD, but not of KCC2-C568A (a mutant incapable of both ion transport and actinbinding) severely impaired the development of neural tube- and neural crestrelated structures, resulting in death of the implanted embryo at E13.5-15.5. Horn et al. (2010) also observed something that may shed light on the early ion transport-independent function of KCC2 in the early embryonic CNS. The authors demonstrated not only aberrant cytoplasmic distribution of 4.1N and actin but also impairments in neuronal differentiation and migration in the neural tube of embryos overexpressing FL-

KCC2, KCC2- Δ NTD but, again, not KCC2-C568A (Horn et al., 2010; see also Wei et al., 2011). This is an intriguing finding as premature expression of the transport active KCC2-FL but not of KCC2- Δ NTD has been shown to terminate the postnatal migration of cortical interneurons (Bortone and Polleux, 2009). However, no effects on migration but rather impairments in dendritic arborization of cortical pyramidal neurons were reported following *in utero* electroporation at E17-18 of KCC2-FL, but not KCC2-C568A (Cancedda et al., 2007).

2.3.2 EXPRESSION OF KCC2

Most of the data published on the spatiotemporal expression patterns of KCC2 reflects that of both KCC2a and KCC2b, as the mRNA probes and antibodies used do not differentiate between the two spice variants. Therefore in the present Thesis "KCC2" represents both splice variants (unless otherwise stated), except when referring to the study by Stein et al. (2004) where the antibody used was KCC2b-specific, although the authors were not aware of this at the time of publication of the original study (cf. Uvarov et al., 2009).

Ontogeny of KCC2 in rodents and humans

In all of the many species studied, including humans, an almost invariant feature observed during development of the CNS, is an up-regulation of KCC2 expression. However, in keeping with the general differences in the milestones of CNS development (cf. Clancy et al., 2001; Erecinska et al., 2004b; Semple et al., 2013), also the timing of KCC2 induction appears to be species- and CNS region-specific. In the CNS of the mouse and the rat, two species most studied with this regard and the model species used in the present Thesis, KCC2 is up-regulated strictly in parallel with neuronal differentiation, with a gradual increase in the caudal-to-rostral direction of the CNS (Li et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2002; Stein et al., 2004).

In the caudal parts of the rodent CNS, such as the spinal cord and parts of the brainstem, perinatal KCC2 expression patterns are comparable to those observed in older animals (Balakrishnan et al., 2003; Stein et al., 2004; Blaesse et al., 2006; Uvarov et al., 2009). In the more rostral parts, such as the hippocampus and the neocortex, a steep up-regulation of KCC2 mRNA commences by the time of birth (Rivera et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2002; Li et al., 2002; Balakrishnan et al., 2003; Stein et al., 2004) and reaches a plateau around the third postnatal week (Rivera et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2002).

In the mouse hippocampus, no detectable KCC2 protein was observed prenatally using Western blotting (Stein al., 2004). However, the et low resolution achieved with this technique may not detect the expression of KCC2 at this stage in subpopulations of neurons (cf. e.g. Khalilov et al., 2011). Postnatally, a very low level of expression of KCC2 protein was seen in the ~P1-P4 mouse hippocampus (Stein et al., 2004; Blaesse et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2008), and has been estimated to increase ~4-fold between P6-9 (Liu et al., 2006) and ~3-fold between ~P6-20 (Sipilä et al., 2009). Interestingly earlier expression has been reported in the CA1 than in the neighboring CA3 region (Zhu et al., 2008).

A similar picture prevails also in the rodent cerebral cortex, with very little KCC2 mRNA before birth, low but increasing levels during the first postnatal week, followed by robust upregulation reaching adult levels during or soon after the third postnatal week (Clayton et al., 1998; Wang et al., 2002; Shimizu-Okabe et al., 2002; Ikeda et al., 2003; Stein et al., 2004). KCC2 protein levels in the mouse neocortex appear very low perinatally up to P3-4, and increase robustly around the second postnatal week, as seen from Western blot data from the whole cortex (Stein et al.. 2004; Sun et al., 2013) or immunohistochemical analysis of the somatosensory cortex (Takayama and Inoue, 2010; Kovacs et al., 2013). For example, a ~3-fold increase in KCC2 protein level was seen in Western blots of the whole mouse neocortex between P4 and P16, reaching ~65% of the level observed at P20 (Sun et al., 2013). Immunohistochemical analysis of KCC2 expression in the rat cortex during the first two postnatal weeks demonstrated presence of KCC2 already at birth in the piriform and entorhinal cortices, with gradually increasing expression in the superficial layers of the neocortex during the first postnatal week. By the end of the first week an adult-like pattern of KCC2 expression, including discrete dendritic expression, was observed in cortical cells of all neocortical and paleocortical areas (Kovacs et al., 2013). All these observations are at striking odds with a highly cited study (Dzhala et al., 2005) containing Western blot data obtained from an unspecified cortical region of the rat brain, which failed to detect any KCC2 protein prior to P11.

A default assumption in the vast majority of studies seems to be that in

the rodent hippocampus, adult levels of KCC2 protein expression are reached during the third postnatal week, most commonly around P15 (Stein et al., 2004). However, this appears to be largely based on an extrapolation from a KCC2 mRNA plateau in levels beginning around ~P15 (cf. Rivera et al., 1999; Wang et al., 2002). To the best of my knowledge, the only report so far providing direct quantitative а comparison of total KCC2 protein levels at later time points in the mouse hippocampus demonstrated a ~2-fold increase in KCC2 protein levels between P15 and P30 (Uvarov et al., 2006; see also Zhu et al., 2008). Nevertheless, after P15, no further increase in KCC2mediated Cl extrusion capacity of mouse CA1 pyramidal neurons (Khirug et al., 2005), or additional shifts in E_{GABA-A} or DF_{GABA-A} of rat CA3 pyramidal neurons (Tyzio et al., 2008), Such observations were observed. suggest either a higher safety factor (cf. Diamond, 2002) for total cellular KCC2 protein expression in older animals, and that part of the total KCC2 pool in these cells is not immediately contributing to Cl⁻ extrusion at all. Obviously, these options are not mutually exclusive.

Most of the studies on the developmental shift in E_{GABA-A} have been performed using rodents (Ben-Ari et al., 2007). The timing of the E_{GABA-A} shift in human CNS structures has not been identified. In altricious rodents such as rats and mice, the most intense phase of the developmental increase in KCC2 protein, paralleled by a hyperpolarizing shift in E_{GABA-A}, takes place after birth during the first weeks of life (for review, see Ben-Ari et al., 2007). In contrast, in developmentally precocious species, such as the guinea pig, KCC2 mRNA up-regulation takes place already in utero and GABA_AR-mediated responses are hyperpolarizing at birth (Rivera et al., 1999). Humans are conventionally regarded as an altricious species but, in terms of CNS development, human neonates are born at a much more advanced stage compared to rats and mice, which are born at a stage of cortical development which roughly corresponds to that of the second half of human gestation (Clancy et al., 2001; Avishai-Eliner et al., 2002; Erecinska et al., 2004b; Khazipov and Luhmann, 2006; Semple et al., 2013). Analysis of several GABAergic parameters in standardized regions of the human cerebral cortex has demonstrated that the period from the second half of gestation to early infancy is a critical period for rapid development of the cortical GABAergic system (Xu et al., 2011). Notably, in human preterm babies changes in the properties of the electroencephalogram (EEG) parallel upregulation of KCC2 mRNA, and in the healthy human newborn the salient EEG properties correspond to a developmental stage in rodents where GABAergic signaling is no longer depolarizing (Vanhatalo et al., 2005). Furthermore, a study on the macaque hippocampus ex *utero* has demonstrated that epileptiform discharges can be evoked by GABAAR antagonism by the last third of gestation (Khazipov et al., 2001), which roughly

corresponds to the middle of the second trimester in humans (Clancy et al., 2001). Little KCC2 immunostaining is observed in the human neocortex before midgestation (Bayatti et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2010), and the above functional inferences as well as analyses of KCC2 expression patterns (Fig. 2; Vanhatalo et al., 2005; Bayatti et al., 2008; Hyde et al., 2011) suggest that a robust increase in KCC2 protein takes place during the second half of gestation and continues postnatally. This is in striking contrast to a study reporting strictly postnatal expression of KCC2 protein in human parietal cortex (Dzhala et al., 2005). The late postnatal expression of another key GABAergic protein, the GABAsynthesizing enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65 and GAD67), has been suggested to contribute to the susceptibility of the neonatal brain to perinatal hypoxia-ischemia (Xu et al., 2011). Further translational work on this topic is obviously needed.

Influence of activity on KCC2 up-regulation

Studies on the effects of chronic blockade of glutamatergic signaling and action potentials in cultured hippocampal neurons suggest that endogenous ionotropic glutamatergic signaling and even the firing of spikes are not needed for the developmental induction of KCC2 mRNA or protein (Ganguly et al., 2001; Ludwig et al., 2003). The requirement of signals mediated by GABA_ARs for upregulation of KCC2 has been subject to dispute. While Ganguly et al. (2001) reported a significant reduction of KCC2 mRNA by ~25% at DIV9 and by ~70% at DIV12-15 following GABAAR blockade starting at DIV3 (see also Leitch et al., 2005), a study by Ludwig et al. (2003) did not observe any effect on KCC2 protein levels when GABA_ARs were blocked from DIV2 to DIV15. In support of the latter observation, chronic blockade of GABAARs failed to prevent the developmental hyperpolarizing EGABA-A shift of cultured midbrain neurons (Titz et al., 2003). Furthermore, KCC2 mRNA and protein levels remain unperturbed despite the lack of depolarizing GABAergic signaling (Pfeffer et al., 2009; Sipilä et al., 2009) and even in complete absence of GABAergic synaptic transmission (Wojcik et al., 2006), as seen in mice lacking NKCC1 or the vesicular inhibitory amino acid transporter (VIAAT), respectively. In contrast to blockade of endogenous glutamatergic and GABAergic signaling, the effects of the glutamatergic proconvulsant kainate suggest that increased neuronal activity associated with pathophysiological insults may have pronounced effects on the developmental expression of KCC2 (Galanopoulou, 2008; **Briggs** and Galanopoulou, 2011).

Chronic treatment of neonatal rats with nicotine has been reported to increase hippocampal expression of KCC2 and BDNF mRNA (Damborsky and Winzer-Serhan, 2012). This is an intriguing observation, as impaired upregulation of KCC2 protein was reported in the hippocampi of KO mice deficient for the α 7 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) (Liu et al., 2006). However, whether there is a potential role for BDNF in this case is unclear as BDNF has been demonstrated to inhibit functional activation of nAthe ChRs containing α7 subunit (Fernandes et al., 2008). Moreover, in view of the neurotrophin hypothesis of BDNF as an instructive signal for the developmental up-regulation of KCC2 (Aguado et al., 2003; Carmona et al., 2006; Ludwig et al., 2011b), it is intriguing that general anesthetics, which are powerful modulators of not only GAactivity BAergic and glutamatergic (Rudolph and Antkowiak, 2004), but also of the BDNF-TrkB signaling pathway (Lu et al., 2006; Ponten et al., 2011; Popic et al., 2012), appear not to have any effect on the progression of upregulation of the total KCC2 protein level during the brain growth spurt (Lacoh et al., 2013). However, it is of interest to note here that striking modulatory effects of these agents have been demonstrated on the development of spine density (De et al., 2009; Briner et al., 2010; 2011).

Subcellular distribution of KCC2 in pyramidal neurons

In hippocampal and neocortical pyramidal neurons, KCC2 is associated with the plasma membrane and transport vesicle membranes of somato-dendritic compartments (Gulyas et al., 2001; Baldi et al., 2010; Kovacs et al., 2013), including dendritic spines (Gulyas et al., 2001; Baldi et al., 2010; Gauvain et al., 2011; Kovacs et al., 2013). It is absent from the axonal compartments, including the axon and the initial segment terminals (Szabadics et al., 2006; Baldi et al., 2010; see also Williams et al., 1999; Hübner et al., 2001; Bartho et al., 2004). A somato-dendritic KCC2 concentration gradient, with relatively higher expression of immunogold-labeled KCC2 in the apical dendritic membrane and cytoplasm, was observed in dentate granule cells (DGCs) and CA1 pyramidal neurons of the rat hippocampus (Baldi et al., 2010; see also Bartho et al., 2004). A similar, dendritically declining, native somato-dendritic gradient of E_{GABA-A}, reflecting an uneven distribution of functionally active KCC2 along the cell membrane, has been reported using gramicidin-patch recordings in adult mouse DGCs and rat CA1 pyramidal neurons (Khirug et al., 2008). Along the apical dendrite itself KCC2 appears evenly distributed in DGCs (Baldi et al., 2010), but in CA1 pyramidal neurons the highest KCC2 membrane densities have been observed in the proximal part of stratum radiatum and in the stratum lacunosum moleculare, i.e. the dendritic parts which are closest and the furthest away from the soma (Gulyas et al., 2001; Baldi et al., 2010). Although no detailed comparative somato-dendritic distribution analysis has been published for cortical pyramidal neurons, the strong dendritic versus somatic KCC2 labeling in all cortical layers (Kovacs et al., 2013) and the robust somato-dendritic EGABA-A gradient recorded in cortical layer 2/3

pyramidal neurons (Khirug et al., 2008) suggest that a somato-dendritic KCC2density gradient is a feature of both hippocampal and neocortical principal neurons.

Considerable developmental and regional variations in the distribution of KCC2 between the membrane and cytosolic compartments have been observed. A gradual decrease in cytoplasmic transport vesicle-associated KCC2 paralleled by an increase in plasma membrane-bound KCC2 was reported using immunogold-labeling during early postnatal development in rat hippocampal principal cells (Gulyas et al., 2001; see also Zhang et al., 2006). However, no such effect was seen in either the entorhinal or the somatosensory cortex (Kovacs et al., 2013; see also Vale et al., 2005; Blaesse et al., 2006). On the contrary, the authors reported an increase in association of KCC2 with transport vesicles from ~20% of total immunogold-labeled KCC2, at P2, to ~40-50% by P12 in superficial cortical layers (Kovacs et al., 2013). Moreover, in deep layers of these cortical regions, more than half of all KCC2 was associated with transport vesicles at all postnatal ages studied. A recent study, implementing trypsin-mediated enzymatic 'shaving' of the cell surface for quantitative analysis of surface-expressed proteins (Tjalsma et al., 2008), reported that only ~20% of the total KCC2 protein in the P19-22 rat hippocampus is expressed in the plasma membrane (Ahmad et al., 2011). As this approach is, by definition, able to detect only proteins that are

integrated in the plasma membrane, it avoids overestimation of membrane expression inherent to immunocytochemical approaches, where proteins located near the membrane may be erroneously interpreted as surfaceexpressed. This notion is especially relevant in the case of KCC2, as the commonly used antibodies are directed against either epitopes in the C- or N-termini (Blaesse et al., 2006; Chamma et al., 2012), both of which are cytosolic (see above).

Studies on the ultrastructural localization of KCC2 in principal neurons suggest also differential expression profiles of KCC2 in spines of cortical and hippocampal neurons. Quantification of the spine plasma membraneassociated KCC2 in adult rat CA1 pyramidal cells from adult rats has been estimated as ~40% of that labeled by immunogold in the shaft membrane (Baldi et al., 2010). In mature cultured hippocampal neurons, the intensity of KCC2 immunostaining was reported as ~76% higher in spines compared to dendritic shafts, and as three-fold higher than that in the cytoplasm (Gauvain et al., 2011; see also Chamma et al., 2012). In contrast, according to a recent study, by P12 only ~10% and ~15% of the total KCC2 immunogold particles in a given neuron appear to be associated with spines in the rat superficial somatosensory and entorhinal cortices, respectively (Kovacs et al., 2013). Moreover, in the rat hippocampus, robust KCC2 expression within both the necks and heads of spines was demonstrated (Gulyas et al.,

2001; Gauvain et al., 2011), and in cortical neurons KCC2 was observed to preferentially localize near the spine neck or even to *the spine apparatus*, but not to spine heads (Kovacs et al., 2013). The spine apparatus, which is found in a fraction of spines, consists of specialized smooth endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and because spines are not typically associated with rough ER (Yuste, 2010), a requirement for the production of membrane proteins, the reported localization of KCC2 to this structure is intriguing but warrants confirmation.

2.3.3 REGULATION OF KCC2

Transcriptional regulation of KCC2 expression

Unlike other mammalian KCCs, which are expressed widely or even ubiquitously (Becker et al., 2003; Arroyo et al., 2013) the expression of both KCC2 splice variants is largely restricted to central neurons with negligible expression in peripheral neurons and nonneuronal cells (Payne et al., 1996; Rivera et al., 1999; Williams et al., 1999; Song et al., 2002; Stein et al., 2004; Uvarov et al., 2007; 2009; Uvarov, 2010). However, the mechanisms responsible for driving expression of KCC2 in central neurons but not in other cells of the body are not clear-cut. Since the fairly recent discovery of the KCC2a isoform (Uvarov et al., 2007), no studies have yet addressed the mechanisms behind the confinement of its expression to neurons. Interestingly, KCC2a expression was recently reported also in avian cardiomyocytes (Antrobus et al., 2012), suggesting profound differences in transcriptional regulation between the two KCC2 splice variants.

For KCC2b, a potential neuronrestricting mechanism emerged after a consensus sequence for the neuronrestrictive silencer element (NRSE aka RE1) was identified in intron 1b of the genes coding for KCC2 in mouse and human (Fig. 3; Karadsheh and Delpire, 2001; Song et al., 2002). Binding of the neuron-restrictive silencing factor (NRSF aka REST) to NRSE has been shown to repress the expression of multiple neuron-specific genes in nonneuronal cells (Chong et al., 1995; and Schoenherr Anderson, 1995). Karadsheh and Delpire (2001) were the first to propose that NRSE-NRSFmediated repression of transcription of the gene encoding for KCC2 in nonneuronal cells might underlie the neuronrestricted expression profile of KCC2. However, this view was challenged by Uvarov et al. (2005) using transgenic mice with a deletion of the NRSE sequence in a KCC2 reporter gene. While exogenous NRSF was able to downregulate reporter KCC2 activity, it failed to derepress non-neuronal KCC2 expression. Interestingly, another NRSE site, located upstream from the transcription start site on the KCC2 gene was reported more recently (Yeo et al., 2009). It is thus possible that redundancy in the transcriptional machinery regulating KCC2 gene repression in non-neuronal cells accounts for the absence of derepression after deletion of only one NRSE site in the gene coding for KCC2. To substantiate this, studies on the effects of a dual NRSE deletion are needed.

A 1.4 kb promoter fragment upstream from the transcription start site of the KCC2 gene has been demonstrated sufficient to mediate neuron-specific KCC2 expression (Uvarov et al., 2005). This evolutionarily conserved promoter area was found to contain multiple transcription factor (TF) binding sites, including that for the TF early growth response 4 (EGR4 aka NGFI-C) of the EGR family of zinc finger TFs (Fig. 3; Uvarov et al., 2006), whose expression can be induced by neurotrophins and neuronal activity (O'Donovan et al., 1999).

Of the neurotrophins, signaling mediated in particular by the brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and its receptor tropomyosin-related kinase B (TrkB) (Park and Poo, 2013) has been suggested to play a role in the developmental up-regulation of KCC2 mRNA (Aguado et al., 2003; Carmona et al., 2006; Ludwig et al., 2011a; 2011b). Embryonic over-expression of BDNF (Aguado et al., 2003) and genetic deletion of TrkB (Carmona et al., 2006) were reported to increase and decrease, respectively, KCC2 mRNA levels. However, absence of TrkB signaling did not result in apparent impairment of the developmental shift in GABAergic action (Carmona et al., 2006). The similarity between KCC2 and EGR4 with respect to the developmental and neuronspecific expression patterns in the rat brain (Crosby et al., 1992; Uvarov et al., 2006), prompted the hypothesis that neuron-specific developmental upregulation of KCC2 is driven via neurotrophin-induced expression of the transcription factor EGR4 (Uvarov et al., 2006; Ludwig et al., 2011a; 2011b). Application of BDNF or of neurturin, a member of the glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor family (Airaksinen and Saarma, 2002), to immature cultured hippocampal neurons was shown to induce extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2)-dependent expression of EGR4 and activation of the

KCC2b promoter and to significantly increase the expression of KCC2 mRNA and protein (Ludwig et al., 2011a; 2011b). Also, injections of neurturin into hippocampi of rats at P5 led to an increase, albeit modest, in KCC2 immunostaining at P8 (Ludwig et al., 2011a). The effect of exogenous BDNF application was prevented by mutating the EGR4 site in the KCC2 promoter, rendering it unable to bind endogenous EGR4 (Ludwig et al., 2011b). Mutating the EGR4 binding site, knockdown of EGR4, or expression of a dominant negative EGR4 isoform resulted in ~25-50% decrease in KCC2 expression in neuroblastoma and dissociated cortical cultures (Uvarov et al., 2006). However, as only maximum of ~50% of total KCC2 expression was down-regulated under various conditions of diminished EGR4 signaling (Uvarov et al., 2006), transcriptional regulation of KCC2 expression is likely to be under control of additional transcription factors, e.g. upstream stimulating factors USF1-2 (cf. Markkanen et al., 2008). Up-regulation of KCC2 through developmental downregulation microRNA-92 has been also suggested (Barbato et al., 2010). Of the EGR family members (EGR1-4) expressed during human brain development, the transcript expression especially of EGR1 robustly follows that of KCC2 (Kang et al., 2011: http://hbatlas.org/hbtd/images/wholeBrai n/EGR1.pdf), while expression of EGR4 is up-regulated much less (Kang et al., 2011; http://hbatlas.org/hbtd/images/who leBrain/EGR4.pdf). This suggests that,

unlike in the rat (Crosby et al., 1992; Uvarov et al., 2006), in humans, EGRs other than EGR4 may be important for up-regulation of KCC2 expression during brain development.

Taken together, neuron-specific expression of KCC2b during development is unlikely to rely on a single transcriptional mechanism. A redundancy in transcriptional regulation of KCC2 might serve the purpose of minimizing perturbations in KCC2 expression, which, as exemplified by constitutive KO (KCC2a and KCC2b; Hübner et al., 2001b; KCC2b; Woo et al., 2002; see also Khalilov et al., 2011) or overexpression (Reynolds et al., 2008; Horn et al., 2010) of KCC2, can have devastating effects on CNS development and perinatal survival.

Post-translational regulation of KCC2

Post-translational modifications of the KCC2 protein have been suggested to regulate its functional expression in developing and mature neurons. For example, work on the developing brainstem has demonstrated that despite similarly high expression levels of KCC2 protein in the early postnatal period and by the second month of life in the lateral superior olive (LSO: Balakrishnan et al., 2003; Blaesse et al., 2006) and the cochlear nucleus (Vale et al., 2005), the Cl⁻ extrusion capacity of LSO neurons emerges gradually during the first weeks of life (Balakrishnan et al., 2003; Blaesse et al., 2006). Likewise, in the retina KCC2 is expressed but

largely localized in the cytosol of ganglion cells during the first two postnatal weeks and appears at or near the plasma membrane only by the third week (Zhang et al., 2006). Studies on immature cultured hippocampal neurons have shown that a considerable pool of transport active KCC2 can be recruited within minutes using broad-spectrum kinase inhibitors (Kelsch et al., 2001; Khirug et al., 2005). Examples of this kind suggest that the mere presence of KCC2 protein, even at high levels, does not automatically endow a neuron with efficient Cl⁻ extrusion. Thus, posttranslational modifications are likely to be important in determining the overall kinetics of KCC2-mediated K-Cl cotransport by regulation of the intrinsic ion transport rates and/or the number of KCC2 plasmalemmal molecules (Blaesse et al., 2009).

Work by Kelsch et al. (2001) on cultured hippocampal neurons from rat first suggested that a kinetic activation of KCC2 by tyrosine phosphorylation is required for the increase in neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity during development (see also Khirug et al., 2005). Along similar lines, later work by Stein and colleagues (2004), utilizing a panphosphotyrosine antibody, demonstrated the amount of that tyrosinephosphorylated KCC2 increased in the mouse cortex between P3 and P30 (Stein et al., 2004). Vale et al. (2005) observed that KCC2 protein was highly expressed in both P1 and P40 neurons of the cochlear nucleus (see also Balakrishnan et al., 2003; Blaesse et al., 2006), whereas the
level of tyrosine-phosphorylated KCC2 was virtually absent at birth and became significantly higher at P40 (Vale et al., 2005). Conversely, threonine residues 906 and 1007 of KCC2 appear to be partially phosphorylated in neonatal mouse brain and dephosphorylated in parallel with brain maturation (Rinehart et al., 2009). A simultaneous substitution of both of these residues to nonphosphorylatable alanines leads to robust activation of KCC2, as seen in HEK-293 cells (Rinehart et al., 2009).

Glycosylation is an important factor in regulation of protein folding, cell surface expression, and function of membrane-expressed glycoproteins (Rasmussen, 1992; Roth, 2002). Although extracellular N-linked glycosylation has been shown to play a decisive role in the membrane expression and function of KCC3 (Ding et al., 2013), KCC4 (Weng et al., 2013) and NKCC1 (Ye et al., 2012), no data exist to establish whether this type of posttranslational modification is necessary for KCC2 functions. Nonetheless, a glycosylation pattern of KCC2 of the kind observed in mature neurons does not appear to be alone sufficient for the induction of ion transporter activity (Blaesse et al., 2006; see also Hartmann et al., 2009).

Clustering of KCC2 in the cell membrane (Watanabe et al., 2009; Hartmann et al., 2009; Gauvain et al., 2011; Nardou et al., 2011b) has been suggested to involve KCC2 oligomerization and to regulate its membrane stability, activity, or both (Watanabe et al., 2009; Chamma et al., 2012; see also Blaesse et al., 2006; Hartmann et al., 2009; Uvarov et al., 2009). KCC2 clusters appear to be modulated by phosphorylation mechanisms as loss of KCC2 tyrosine phosphorylation was associated with a more diffuse membrane expression pattern and with shift in E_{GABA-A} towards more depolarized values (Watanabe et al., 2009). Intriguingly, KCC2 clustering was also reported to correlate with the maturation of dendritic spines, with maximal KCC2 clustering observed in mushroom-type spines, intermediate levels in stubby spines and low or no clustering in nonfunctional filopodia-like dendritic protrusions (Chamma et al., 2012). The main scaffolding protein of GABAergic synapses, gephyrin, forms clusters that are sensitive to (i) phosphorylation state of gephyrin and (ii) to the activitydependent cleavage of gephyrin by the Ca²⁺-dependent protease calpain (Tyagarajan et al., 2011; Tyagarajan et al., 2013). While gephyrin has been demonstrated to colocalize or juxtapose with KCC2 in hippocampal and spinal cord neurons (Hübner et al., 2001b; Chamma et al., 2012), further work is needed to assess whether KCC2 clusters functionally associate or are coregulated with gephyrin clusters. Important questions regarding KCC2 clustering are whether such clusters are modulated by neuronal activity e.g. via calpain cleavage, and whether KCC2 clustering requires an interaction of the CTD KCC2 with the cytoskeleton (cf. Li et al., 2007). Deletion of the last 28 amino

acids of the C-terminus (KCC2- Δ 1089-1116) results in a membrane-expressed KCC2 protein that does not form clusters (Watanabe et al., 2009). The region 929-1043 of the KCC2 CTD, which is required for KCC2 activity under isotonic conditions, also encompasses two predicted PEST sequences which, among the KCCs, are completely unique to KCC2 (Mercado et al., 2006). This is interesting, because PEST domains can serve to target proteins for calpaindependent degradation (Rechsteiner and Rogers, 1996; Wang et al., 2003; but see Carillo et al., 1996), although calpainmediated cleavage of KCC2 has been also speculated to result in functional activation of the cotransporter (Mercado et al., 2004).

There is indication for a very high rate of turnover, i.e. recycling, of KCC2 at the cell membrane (Lee et al., 2007), suggesting that the transporter is subject continuous kinetic modulation to (Blaesse et al., 2009). While the surface half-life of, for instance, GABAAR subunits is greater than 30 minutes (Thomas et al., 2005), the half-life of membrane-associated KCC2 appears to be strikingly fast at ~5 minutes, as seen in HEK-293 cells (Lee et al., 2007). The work by Lee et al. (2007; 2011) identified serine 940 (S940) located in the C-terminal domain of KCC2 as the main site of direct phosphorylation of KCC2 by protein kinase C (PKC). Using HEK-293 cells, the authors further demonstrated that activation of PKC increases KCC2 cell surface stability and ion transport activity (Lee et al., 2007).

Analysis of endogenous KCC2 expressed in cultured rat hippocampal neurons revealed a striking ~300% increase in KCC2 phosphorylation and surface expression within 10 minutes of PKC activation, while inhibition of PKC under basal conditions robustly decreased KCC2 phosphorylation (Lee et al., 2007). In support of that rapid changes in KCC2 membrane expression mediated by mechanisms regulating membrane trafficking, blocking clathrindependent endocytosis, was reported to elevate the cell surface levels of KCC2 to ~275% of control values within 45 minutes (Lee et al., 2010; see also Zhao al.. 2008). Such et rapid (de)phosphorylation-controlled membrane recycling of KCC2 is likely to permit dynamic post-translational regulation of the relative amount and the intrinsic functional properties of KCC2 molecules located in the plasma membrane and cytosolic vesicles. As a striking example of this, elevation of glutamate levels in dissociated hippocampal neuronal cultures was demonstrated to trigger, through activation of NMDARs, Ca^{2+} and protein phosphatase 1 (PP1)dependent dephosphorylation of KCC2 at S940, resulting in robust downregulation of total and membraneassociated KCC2 as well as loss of hyperpolarizing GABA_A responses (Lee et al., 2011; see also Sarkar et al., 2011). How dephosphorylation of S940 leads to degradation of KCC2 protein was not demonstrated. Curiously, as seen in cultured hippocampal neurons, the tyrosine phosphatase inhibitor sodium pervanadate was shown to trigger downregulation of both the total and surfaceexpressed KCC2 in a manner that was sensitive to the broad-spectrum protease inhibitor leupeptin, which was used at a concentration high of $200 \,\mu g/ml$ (~470 µM; Lee et al., 2010). In spite of the fact that leupeptin is a well-known inhibitor of a number of lysosomal and extra-lysosomal proteases, including the Ca²⁺-activated calpain (Goll et al., 2003), the authors concluded that the lysosomal pathway was responsible for down-regulation of KCC2 under the pertinent conditions (Lee et al., 2010). It should be noted that leupeptin at high concentrations has been reported to paradoxically result in stimulation of proteolytic activity (Sutherland and Greenbaum, 1983), which further complicates the interpretation of the results obtained under the experimental conditions employed by Lee et al. (2010).

With regard to the posttranslational regulation of the structural role of KCC2, only the protein-protein interaction between the CTD of KCC2 and the FERM domain of protein 4.1N has been implicated (Li et al., 2007; Horn et al., 2010). Although NL-2, a postsynaptic adhesion molecule previously implicated in the regulation of GABAergic synaptogenesis (Chih et al., 2005), has been recently suggested to play regulatory role over the structural function of KCC2 in spine formation the (see above). lack of coimmunoprecipitation of KCC2 with NL-2 suggests that this interaction may be indirect (Sun et al., 2013).

2.3.4 THE ROLE OF KCC2 IN CNS PATHOLOGY

In the mature rodent CNS, depolarizing GABA_AR-mediated responses are often seen under pathological conditions associated with enhanced neuronal excitation (Cohen et al., 2002; Miles et al., 2012). Deficits in KCC2 expression, often associated with decreased efficacy of GABAergic inhibition and emergence of depolarizing GABAAR-mediated currents that reflect decreased neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion, have been documented following experimental seizures (Rivera et al., 2002; Pathak et al., 2007; Li et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2010; Barmashenko et al., 2011; Shin et al., 2012; Reid et al., 2013), in models of cerebral ischemia (Papp et al., 2008; Jaenisch et al., 2010; Mao et al., 2012; Dai et al., 2013), traumatic brain injury (Jin et al., 2005; Bonislawski et al., 2007), and neuropathic pain following spinal cord injury or nerve ligation (Coull et al., 2003; Lu et al., 2008; Miletic and Miletic, 2008; Boulenguez et al., 2010; Janssen et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2012). The clinical relevance of changes in KCC2 expression is also highlighted by reports of decreased levels of KCC2 protein and loss of hyperpolarizing GABA_ARmediated signaling in resected epileptic tissue from human patients with temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE; Palma et al., 2006; Huberfeld et al., 2007; Munoz et al., 2007; see also Cohen et al., 2002; Deisz 2002). Down-regulation of KCC2 and up-regulation of NKCC1 has been implicated in generation of spontaneous

interictal-like activity (i.e. the epileptiform activity occurring between seizures; Huberfeld et al., 2007; Miles et al., 2012).

Under these diverse traumatic situations, KCC2 down-regulation may be related to activation of the TrkB receptor by BDNF (Rivera et al., 2002; Rivera et al., 2004; Coull et al., 2005; Wake et al., 2007; Shulga et al., 2008). Exogenously applied BDNF was shown to downregulate KCC2 via TrkB receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons (Rivera et al., 2002; Wake et al., 2007). Similarly, following epileptiform activity induced by withdrawal of extracellular Mg^{2+} , the efficacy of Cl⁻ extrusion was reduced in a BDNF-dependent manner within a few hours in parallel with KCC2 downregulation of KCC2 mRNA and protein (Rivera et al., 2004; see also Wake et al., 2007). The authors concluded that this effect was attributable to transcriptional changes in KCC2 expression levels (Rivera et al., 2004). However, the possibility that the decreased efficacy of Cl extrusion was caused by changes in posttranscriptional mechanisms could not be excluded. Indeed, a study by Wardle and Poo (2003) suggests that BDNF can act on KCC2 function within a time window that is too rapid to be mediated by transcriptional effects. Experiments with animals expressing loss of signaling point mutations in the TrkB receptor demonstrated that both the Shc (src homology 2 domain containing transand forming protein) PLC_γ-CREB (phospholipase Cy-cAMP response element-binding) pathways must be

activated to induce down-regulation of KCC2 protein by BDNF or $0-Mg^{2+}$ (Rivera et al., 2004). Notably, activation of the PLCy pathway is known to trigger elevations in [Ca²⁺]_i (Berridge et al., 2000), a necessary condition for rapid down-regulation of KCC2 following intense glutamatergic stimulation (Fiumelli et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2011). In contrast, the activation of the Shc pathway alone via the TrkB receptor enhances KCC2 synthesis under these conditions (Rivera et al., 2004). The above findings by Rivera et al. (2004) point to divergence in the actions of BDNF on regulation of KCC2 via downstream signaling of the TrkB receptor. Thus, the explanation for how BDNF exerts opposite effects on KCC2 in immature (Aguado et al., 2003; Ludwig et al., 2011) and mature (Rivera et al., 2002; 2004; Coull et al., 2005; Wake et al., 2007; Miletic and Miletic, 2008), or in intact and damaged neurons (Shulga et al., 2008; see also Shulga et al., 2009) may lie within the regulation of molecular cascades down-stream of TrkB.

Knock-down of KCC2 was reported to decrease the resistance of cultured neurons to NMDA-toxicity, whereas overexpression of KCC2 to protect from cell death (Pellegrino et al., 2011). This effect was attributed to K-Cl cotransport function of KCC2, as also overexpression of KCC3, a KCC isoform that does not maintain spines, had a comparable rescuing effect. Moreover, overexpression of the transport-inactive KCC2-Y1087D mutant failed to ameliorate cell death (Pellegrino et al., 2011). It has been suggested (Huberfeld et al., 2007; Miles et al., 2012) that downregulation of KCC2 leads to a decrease in the metabolic costs of maintaining cation gradients thereby reflecting an adaptive response to the "energy crisis" (cf. 1985) Hansen. commonly accompanying ischemia and seizure activity (Aiyathurai and Boon, 1989; Berger and Garnier, 1999; Kovac et al., 2012). Such a teleological explanation is probably also valid for the downregulation of the Na-K ATPase (cf. Pylova et al., 1989; Anderson et al., 1994; Fernandes et al.. 1996). Accordingly, work performed on an in in vitro model of CNS ischemia has shown that the robust loss of ATP followed by partial recovery during a 3 hour-long reoxygenation could period be completely recovered using either bumetanide furosemide or at concentrations which inhibit both NKCC1 and KCC2 (Pond et al., 2004).

KCC2 in neonatal seizures

Most commonly caused by hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy, hemorrhage, or cerebral infarction, seizures affect $\sim 2\%$ of neonates in intensive care units in Western societies (Bartha et al., 2007; Jensen, 2009; Seshia et al., 2011). Neonatal seizures portend severe neurological dysfunction later in life, with survivors experiencing higher rates of epilepsy (Ronen et al., 2007; Pisani et al., 2012) and motor and cognitive deficits (McBride et al., 2000; Tekgul et al., 2006; Ronen et al., 2007; Painter et al., 2012). Rodent models have revealed that seizures early in development alter synaptic organization and plasticity, and prime cortical neurons to increased seizure-susceptibility later in life (Ben-Ari and Holmes, 2006; Rakhade et al., 2011). Therefore, prompt diagnosis and successful treatment of seizures in neonates is necessary for improving long-term neurologic outcomes.

Standard antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), such as phenobarbital and benzodiazepines, which enhance GABAergic transmission by directly targeting GABA_ARs, are less effective in suppressing seizures in neonates than in adults (Painter et al., 1999; Booth and Evans, 2004). This is not surprising, because the signaling mechanisms and pharmacological properties of neurons in the immature brain are different from those in the adult (Clancy et al., 2001; Avishai-Eliner et al., 2002; Erecinska et al., 2004a). The idea to use bumetanide with the aim to block NKCC1 and thereby to enhance the efficacy of AEDs acting via GABAARs, has gained conciderable attention (Dzhala et al., 2005; 2008; 2010; Kilb et al., 2007; Rheims et al., 2008; Mares, 2009; Mazarati et al., 2009; Kahle et al., 2009; Nardou et al., 2009; 2011; Minlebaev and Khazipov, 2011; Wahab et al., 2011; Cleary et al., 2013; Vargas et al., 2013). While this is a prevalent hypothesis in the context of Cl⁻ regulation in neonatal seizures (for review, see Briggs and Galanopoulou, 2011; Ben-Ari et al., 2012; Löscher et al., 2013; Pressler and Mangum, 2013), the possible changes in

the functional expression of KCC2 have been adressed, surprisingly, by only a few studies (Galanopoulou, 2008; Nardou et al., 2011b).

Working on an *in vitro* preparation composed of two intact interconnected P7-8 rat hippocampi perfused in a tripartite chamber, Nardou et al. (2009) reported that inhibition of NKCC1 with bumetanide did not prevent generation of kainate-induced seizures or propagation of seizures to the contralateral "drug naive" hippocampus. NKCC1 inhibition also failed to prevent the formation of an acute epileptogenic *mirror focus* in the contralateral hippocampus that had not been exposed to propagating seizures originating from the kainate-exposed hippocampus (Nardou et al., 2009). In subsequent studies, Nardou et al. 2011a: (Nardou et al.. 2011b) demonstrated that the AED phenobarbital, which prolonges the open-time of GABAARs, when applied to the contralateral hippocampus at the onset of propagating seizures, reduced the interictal-like events and prevented the formation of an epileptogenic focus. These results suggest that during the initial few seizure events, GABAergic signaling is efficient enough to prevent epileptogenesis in the rodent hippocampus already by the end of the first postnatal week, despite the still relatively immature level of Cl⁻ extrusion capacity at this age (Khirug et al., 2005; Tyzio et al., 2007; 2008). In the studies by Nardou et al. (2011a; 2011b), phenobarbital was rendered seizureaggravating after a number of ictal-like

events due to a progressive increase in [Cl]_i. Work by Dzhala et al. (2010) suggested that the progressive accumulation of Cl⁻ in P5-7 mice results from the up-regulation of NKCC1. However, Nardou et al. (2011b) showed that epileptic mirror foci are formed at this age also in NKCC1 KO mice. Importantly. the authors also demonstrated that seizures eventually lead to down-regulation of KCC2 function that, in the epileptic mirror neurons. was paralleled bv internalization of KCC2 from the cell surface into the cytosol (Nardou et al., 2011b).

Three episodes of neonatal kainate-induced status epilepticus (3KA-SE), each elicited at P4-P6, were demonstrated to result in a premature of hyperpolarizing appearance $GABA_AR$ -mediated signaling at P9, instead of P14 in CA1 pyramidal neurons and paralleled by increased KCC2 immunoreactivity in the CA1 observed P10 region, as at (Galanopoulou, 2008). However, these effects were reported to be specific to male rats only as similar levels of KCC2 immunoreactivity were observed in female control animals at P10 as in males who had received three daily kainate injections. Moreover, 3KA-SE at P4-6 in the female pups was associated with a transient *depolarizing* shift in E_{GABA-A} at P8-13 that was attributed to functional increased expression of NKCC1 during this period (Galanopoulou, 2008). In contrast, gender-related differences in the effects of the GABAAR agonist isoguvacine were observed neither in the hippocampal CA3 region, the thalamus, nor the amygdala at P4-6 (Glykys et al., 2009). Regardless, the consequences of seizures on the functional expression of KCC2 in neonatal rats of either sex in the *immediate postictal period* were not assessed in the study by Galanopoulou (2008), where data was collected a minumum of ~five days after the first seizure episode. Similarly, in the study by Nardou et al. (2011b) a minimum of 5 hours had passed since the first kainate-triggered ictal event before internalization of KCC2 was assessed and observed. From the stand point of potential therapeutic interventions involving pharmacological modulation of KCC2 function, assessment of the immediate effect of seizures on KCC2 expression is of interest.

KCC2 in temporal lobe epilepsy

Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE), with seizure onset in the structures of the medial temporal lobe, notably the hippocampus, is the most common type of partial epilepsy refractory to AEDs (Semah et al., 1998; Tatum, 2012). It is also the most commonly occurring type of acquired epilepsy in adult humans (Semah et al., 1998; Wiebe, 2000; Engel, Jr., 2001). The causes of TLE are likely to be complex and patients often present with a precipitating injury, such as birth trauma, head injury, febrile seizures, and meningitis, typically taking place during early childhood (Blumcke et al., 2002).

A hallmark of TLE is sclerosis of the hippocampus with neuronal loss in the regions of CA1 and CA3/4, but to a lesser extent in CA2 (Blumcke et al., 2002). It is, however, unclear whether this is a cause or a consequence of seizures (Jefferys, 1999; Blumcke et al., 2002). It is also far from clear, to which extent the processes that contribute to epileptogenesis (i.e. the gradual transformation of non-epileptic tissue to one spontaneously generating seizures that takes place before the first spontaneous seizure occurs) overlap with those at play during *ictogenesis*, the rapid process of initiation and propagation of a seizure in time and space (Pitkänen and Lukasiuk, 2011; Löscher et al., 2013). For instance, there is some indication that the sclerotic loss of hippocampal cells may actually hinder epileptogenesis (Milward et al., 1999). Thus, an a priori interpretation that any observed change in the epileptic substrate reflects pathological progression, may lead to failure in recognizing intrinsic adaptive processes.

The most effective treatment for drug-resistant TLE symptoms to date is resection of the ictogenic brain regions (Engel, Jr., 2001). This has enabled *ex vivo* studies aimed at elucidating the mechanisms of seizure generation in humans. Such work has demonstrated that the *in vitro* correlates of interictal activity may in part be attributable to depolarizing GABA_AR-mediated signaling of a population of subicular pyramidal neurons downstream of the sclerotic CA1 region (Cohen et al., 2002; see also

Köhling et al., 1998; Benini et al., 2011). This depolarization was later shown to be associated with a reduction of KCC2 expressing cells or down-regulation of KCC2 mRNA and protein expression in the CA1-subiculum intersection and subiculum proper (Huberfeld et al., 2007; see also Palma et al., 2006; Munoz et al., 2007). Interestingly, the observed interictal activity was dependent on NKCC1 function, as inferred by its sensitivity to low concentrations of bumetanide (Huberfeld et al., 2007). While increased NKCC1 mRNA in the subiculum has been reported (Palma et 2006). al.. others have observed increased NKCC1 immunoreactivity in the CA2 region but not in the subiculum (Sen et al., 2007). While an acute damage-induced depolarizing shift in E_{GABA-A} is likely to result from posttranslational modification of CCCs and down-regulation of the Na-K ATPase, the consolidation of this effect may well involve long-term genomic regulation of KCC2 expression (Löscher et al., 2013). From the above studies performed on chronically epileptic TLE tissue it is impossible to conclude to which extent the observed changes in KCC2 expression are related to the epileptogenic or the ictogenic processes, and to which extent they are a result of genomic vs post-translational regulation.

Rodent models of TLE suggests that the time course for significant changes in both KCC2 protein and mRNA expression levels may under certain conditions take place on a timescale of few hours. For example, following rapid (all stimulations within a hippocampal kindling, KCC2 dav) mRNA levels in the mouse dentate gyrus (DG) decreased to ~55% by 2 hours and to $\sim 30\%$ by 6 hours after the last stimulation, when also a general decrease in KCC2 immunostaining was observed in the CA1, CA3 and DG regions. By 24 hours after kindling, partial recovery of KCC2 mRNA and immunostaining was observed (Rivera et al., 2002). Rapid decrease of total and plasmalemmal KCC2 protein in the time course of 1-2 hours has been reported in the mouse hippocampus following status epilepticus (SE) induced bv the muscarinic acetylcholine receptor (mAChR) agonist pilocarpine. This rapid effect observed in vivo correlated with increased tyrosine phosphorylation and was suggested to be induced bv increased degradation of KCC2 (Lee et al., 2010; see also Takkala and Woodin, 2013). Others using the pilocarpine model in rats, have reported decreased levels of KCC2 mRNA and protein, paralleled by positive E_{GABA-A} shifts in the CA1, CA3, DG, and the subiculum for up to two weeks post-SE during the latent period (Pathak et al., 2007; Barmashenko et al., 2011). At least in the DG, by the time spontaneous seizures begin to appear (2-8 weeks after SE), KCC2 total protein levels recover and the capacity of DGCs to extrude Cl⁻ substantially improves (Pathak et al., 2007). An important question to be adressed by future studies, is whether the initial acute loss of DGC dendritic spines followed by neo-spinogenesis, which starts approximately two weeks after pilocarpine-induced SE (Isokawa, 1998; Isokawa, 2000; see also Thind et al., 2010), involves specific changes in the expression of ion transport-independent KCC2 functions. It appears that expression of KCC2 after SE displays regional variation as, unlike the apparent recovery of KCC2 expression in DG (Pathak et al., 2007; see also Rivera et al., 2002), significantly decreased KCC2 immunoreactivity in the perirhinal cortex is observed upto 4-5 months following pilocarpine SE (Benini et al., 2011).

Disease-associated changes in the expression of CCCs leading to reemergence of depolarizing or even excitatory GABA_AR-mediated signaling, typical to immature neurons, have been to reflect neuronal proposed dedifferentiation and 'recapitulation of a developmental programme' (Cohen et al., 2003). Teleologically, this might serve the purpose of re-establishing plasticity and promote *de novo* targeting neurons during damage-related of rewiring (Nabekura et al., 2002; Cohen et al., 2003; Payne et al., 2003; Toyoda et al., 2003; Rivera et al., 2005). Importanly, the timing of the critical period for plasticity, at least in the visual cortex, appears to depend on the level of GABAergic activity (Hensch and Fagiolini, 2005; Hensch, 2005a; Hensch, 2005b). In support, intriguing correlations between reactivation of critical periods for neural plasticity (Hensch, 2005a) and decreased levels of GABA in the visual cortex (Arckens et al., 2000) and of KCC2 protein in the

CA1 and the basolateral amygdala (Karpova et al., 2011) have been reported.

Down-regulation of KCC2 may also prevent the generation of the large extracellular K⁺ transients during intense GABA_ARs, activation e.g. during seizures or any type of high frequency stimulation of neurons, leading to substantial electrogenic uptake of Cl⁻ driven by efflux of HCO_3^- which is replenished by carbonic anhydrasecatalyzed hydration of CO₂ (Kaila et al., 1997; Ruusuvuori and Kaila, 2013). Recent work has shown that the HCO_3^{-} driven intraneuronal accumulation of Cl⁻ can activate extrusion of Cl by KCC2 (Viitanen et al., 2010), thereby giving rise to a K⁺ efflux that accounts for the increase in [K⁺]_o which results in nonsynaptic depolarization of the membrane potential. Such a pathophysiological increase in $[K^+]_0$ can lead to a vicious cycle comprising a further depolarization of both the membrane potential and E_{GABA-A} , and to cellular swelling that enhances proepileptic ephaptic signaling (Jefferys, 1995; Somjen, 2002; Miles et al., 2012; Löscher et al., 2013). Taken together. the above conciderations underscore the fact that it is by no means a trivial question whether, and when, pathophysiological changes in CCC expression and function are causes of epileptogenesis, or adaptive, seizure suppressing consequences of epilepsy.

3 AIMS

The major aim of this Thesis was to investigate the effects of glutamatergic signaling on KCC2 expression, and *vice versa*, during brain development.

The specific aims were to:

- Investigate the effects and underlying mechanisms of neonatal seizures on KCC2 expression during the immediate postictal period (I and II)
- Identify the proximal mechanisms responsible for rapid down-regulation of KCC2 under conditions of enhanced glutamatergic activity (III)
- Assess the functional role of KCC2 in spinogenesis *in vivo* (IV)

Methods



Figure 4. An electrophysiological method to quantitatively assess the efficacy of KCC2-mediated Cl⁻ extrusion in pyramidal neurons. A defined Cl⁻ load was imposed via a patch pipette to clamp the somatic Cl⁻ concentration ([Cl⁻]) to that of the filling solution of the patch pipette. As a result of net dendritic Cl⁻ extrusion by KCC2, a declining somato-dendritic [Cl⁻] gradient is formed from the soma along the dendrite (indicated as lightening of turquoise from the soma to the distal dendritic parts). A spot of UV light was positioned consecutively at the somatic and the dendritic location for local GABA uncaging to evoke GABA_AR-mediated currents for determination of their reversal potential in the voltage clamp mode of whole-cell patch clamp recordings. Black and white circles indicate the diameters and the relative locations of the 10 ms-long uncaging flashes. Dendritic E_{GABA-A} more negative than the somatic E_{GABA-A} indicates the presence of an effective Cl⁻ extrusion mechanism and the value of the bumetanide-insensitive difference of these, ΔE_{GABA} , is taken as a quantitative measure of KCC2-mediated Cl⁻ extrusion.

4 METHODS

For detailed description of the materials and methods used in this Thesis work, the reader is referred to the original publications (I-IV). An overview of the methodology is provided below:

The electrophysiological methods comprised visually guided whole-cell, cellattached, and field potential recordings in hippocampal and neocortical slices prepared acutely from neonatal and juvenile rats and mice. Spike activity of intact single neurons was monitored using cell-attached current clamp in the 0-Mg²⁺ *in vitro* model of epileptiform activity. Whole-cell voltage clamp was used to study KCC2 functionality under conditions of a defined Cl⁻load imposed via the patch pipette (see Fig. 4). To determine E_{GABA-A} , UV-laser photolysis of caged GABA was used to evoke GABA_AR-mediated currents. Field potential recordings were performed to monitor kainate- and 0-Mg²⁺induced activity in slices. Induction of neonatal seizures in transgenic mice lacking BDNF and their WT littermates was done using the proconvulsant kainic acid. Assessment of behavioral seizures was performed using video recordings. Confocal and epifluorescence microscopy was used to trace dendrites of dye-filled pyramidal neurons and to identify neurons transfected using *in utero* electroporation.

5 RESULTS

5.1 A SINGLE SEIZURE EPISODE LEADS TO RAPID FUNCTIONAL ACTIVATION OF KCC2 IN THE NEONATAL RAT HIPPOCAMPUS (I)

The findings of the present study show that immediately following kainateinduced neonatal SE in P5-7 rats, the furosemide-sensitive Cl extrusion capacity of CA1 pyramidal neurons is significantly enhanced, as seen in ex vivo slices following a 1 hour recovery period. This effect is paralleled by similar increases in not only the surface expression of both of the KCC2a and KCCb splice variants but also of the Na-K ATPase, which generates the thermodynamic driving force for K-Cl cotransport. The increase in the Cl⁻ extrusion capacity did not correlate with an increase in the total KCC2 protein level, indicating that the low level of KCC2 protein is not a limiting factor for functional activation of KCC2 in hippocampal pyramidal neurons at this age in the rodent brain. In corroboration with the idea that the functional up-regulation of KCC2 is due to kainate-induced increase in neuronal activity and not kainate per se, a brief application of kainate to naive hippocampal slices similarly led to enhanced KCC2 function and surface expression, but these effects were not seen when neuronal activity was blocked with TTX. To gain further insight into the underlying mechanisms of KCC2 activation, experiments with the dynamin-inhibitory peptide (DIP) demonstrated that an up-regulation of KCC2 function similar to that following kainate-induced activity could be evoked by an acute block of clathrin-dependent endocytosis. Both the kainate-induced up-regulation of Cl⁻ extrusion and of KCC2 surface expression were fully blocked by the kinase inhibitor K252a, suggesting a potential involvement of the Trk family of receptor tyrosine kinases in mediating the effect of KCC2 activation following neonatal seizures. Although K252a, a potent non-specific inhibitor of Trk kinases (Knusel and Hefti, 1992), has been shown to prevent TrkB-mediated down-regulation of KCC2 (Rivera et al., 2002; 2004), the possibility that its effects observed herein may be mediated through inhibition of other kinases than TrkB, e.g. PKC (cf. Kase et al., 1986; Lee et al., 2007), cannot be excluded. Thus, further experimental evidence is required to test the hypothesis that the functional upregulation of KCC2 after neonatal seizures is dependent on BDNF-TrkB signaling.

5.2 BDNF IS REQUIRED FOR ACTIVITY-DEPENDENT BUT NOT CONSTITUTIVE UP-REGULATION OF KCC2 DURING HIPPOCAMPAL DEVELOPMENT (II)

To investigate the involvement of the BDNF-TrkB signaling in the functional up-regulation of KCC2 following a single neonatal seizure episode, suggested by the effect of the Trk inhibitor K252a in study I, homozygous BDNF KO (BDNF^{-/-}) mice were used in the present study. Strikingly, the seizureinduced enhancement of neuronal Cl extrusion capacity observed previously in P5-7 rats and now also in P6 WT (BDNF^{+/+}) mice, was strongly impaired in P6 BDNF^{-/-} mice. Accordingly, compared to the WT littermates, significantly less KCC2 was incorporated into the plasma membrane in BDNF^{-/-} pups following kainate-induced status.

Identical levels of total hippocampal KCC2 protein and of Cl⁻ extrusion capacity of CA1 pyramidal neurons were observed in BDNF^{-/-} and WT mice at P13-14. This provides strong support for the conclusion that the observed impairment in functional activation of KCC2 is not a result of a general impairment in the developmental up-regulation of KCC2 as a result of lack of BDNF.

In order to investigate the time course of the functional enhancement of KCC2 following neonatal seizures, the window for assessment of KCC2 function was extended from the 1 hour after slicing recovery up to 5 hours. Interestingly, in WT P6 mice, a progressive decay in the efficacy of Cl⁻ extrusion was observed after the initial upregulation. The total level of KCC2 protein in hippocampal slices prepared from kainate-injected animals was significantly decreased by the 4th hour following recovery from slicing. Both the down-regulation of KCC2 function and total protein could be prevented by incubating the slices with MDL-28170, an inhibitor of the Ca²⁺-activated protease calpain.

5.3 ACTIVITY-DEPENDENT CLEAVAGE OF KCC2 MEDIATED BY CALCIUM-ACTIVATED PROTEASE CALPAIN (III)

The main finding of this study was that KCC2 is subject to calpain-mediated cleavage following intense NMDAR activation. Treatment of slices with a Ca^{2+} -ionophore (ionomycin), NMDA, or 0-Mg²⁺ conditions, resulted in a robust calpain inhibitor-sensitive loss of fulllength KCC2 protein, as seen by immunoblotting with a polyclonal antibody raised against aa residues 929-1045 of the KCC2 C-terminal domain. An antibody raised against 1-100 aa of KCC2 showed a truncated N-terminal fragment of KCC2, with a molecular weight ~100 kDa, following in vitro cleavage with recombinant calpain. Importantly, the proteasome inhibitor lactacystin had no influence on loss of KCC2 protein triggered by NMDAR activation. Interictallike activity induced by Mg²⁺ withdrawal led to a significant reduction in surfaceexpressed KCC2, and to complete inactivation of KCC2-mediated Cl⁻ extrusion that could be prevented by inhibiting calpain activity.

Another important finding of this study was that both KCC2 total protein and Cl⁻ extrusion function remain stable for several hours in the absence of mRNA translation induced with emetine or cycloheximide. Accordingly, no rapid change in total KCC2 protein was observed in the presence of the broadspectrum protease inhibitor leupeptin. Together these observations suggest the turn-over of total cellular KCC2 protein under control conditions is low due to a slow basal degradation rate, which is in direct contrast to what was suggested previously (cf. Rivera et al., 2004). Notably, robust down-regulation of KCC2 protein could be still induced by NMDAR stimulation under full block of mRNA translation by cycloheximide.

In summary, the obtained data suggest that rapid down-regulation of KCC2 function is unlikely to result from diminished *de novo* synthesis of KCC2. It also appears that rapid downregulation and functional inactivation of KCC2 under conditions of elevated intracellular Ca²⁺ levels, typical to a wide range of CNS insults, is a result of calpain-mediated cleavage.

5.4 AN ION TRANSPORT-INDEPENDENT ROLE FOR KCC2 IN DENDRITIC SPINOGENESIS *IN VIVO* (IV)

This study set forth to investigate whether expression of KCC2 is sufficient for the induction of functional dendritic spines during the brain growth spurt. Utilizing the powerful technique of introducing genetic material to a subset of cortical neurons at a defined time period during CNS development provided by in utero electroporation (IUE), neuronal precursors of rat neocortical layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons where electroporated at E17.5 with rat KCC2-FL and enhanced GFP plasmids. Contrary to a previous report using a similar approach (Cancedda et al., 2007), impairments in either dendritic length or the number of branch points were observed neither at P10, P15, or P90 following overexpression of KCC2 using IUE. The only obvious methodological difference with regard to the abovementioned study is that in the present work, in order to ensure complete visualization of dendritic arbors, all neurons where filled post-hoc with Lucifervellow, whereas in the other study dendritic morphology was assessed based on the GFP signal alone. Overexpression of KCC2 was, however, associated with a persistently increased spine density of both apical and basal dendrites of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons at P10, P15, and P90. Importantly, the increased density was seen in spines in a wide-range of head diameters, indicating that overexpression of KCC2 was associated with the induction of synaptically active

spines. This notion was corroborated by the observation of significantly higher frequency of mEPSCs recorded from KCC2 overexpressing neurons compared to neighboring non-transfected control neurons solely expressing native KCC2.

Based on the previous work by Li et al. (2007), which implicated a structural, ion transport-independent role for KCC2 in the maintenance of functional dendritic spines, the ability of the Nterminally deleted KCC2-ANTD to induce spines was assessed. As expected on the basis of the results by Li et al. (2007) this KCC2 variant, which is devoid of Cl⁻ extrusion function was observed to induce a comparable level of spines as the full-length KCC2-FL. Unexpectedly, the mere C-terminal domain of KCC2 (KCC2-CTD) was able to induce spines with wide range in diameter, similarly to the KCC2-FL and the KCC2- Δ NTD.

To shed further light on the underlying mechanism of KCC2-mediated spinogenesis, effects of the KCC2 mutant KCC2-C568A, which is devoid not only of the ion transport function but also of the interaction with the actin cytoskeleton via protein 4.1N (cf. Horn et al., 2010), were assessed. Importantly, overexpression of this KCC2 mutant had no effect on spine density or spine head diameter. Together with data obtained using KCC2-ANTD and KCC2-CTD, this result suggests that KCC2-induces spines via an ion transport-independent function mediated by its C-terminal domain that most likely involves an interaction with the cytoskeleton via 4.1N.

6 DISCUSSION

6.1 STUDY I

The main finding of the present study is that a single neonatal seizure episode triggers a fast increase in neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity which leads to a large hyperpolarizing shift in E_{GABA-A} and to the development of a native somatodendritic E_{GABA-A} gradient in rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons at P5-7. The post-seizure value of E_{GABA-A} is close to that seen in mature neurons. Notably, an approximately 2-fold activity-dependent increase in the plasmalemmal protein pool with no change in total KCC2 protein was observed by two different biochemical approaches, biotinylation and cleavage of surface proteins. The increase in surface KCC2 may not fully account for the increase in Cl⁻ extrusion efficacy since additional changes in the intrinsic turnover rate of the transporter may take place in parallel, but it is likely to play a role in the functional effects observed in the present studies. That fast changes in membrane trafficking of KCC2 have a significant effect on K-Cl cotransport obtained further support from the result that inhibiting endocytosis in single pyramidal neurons by adding the endocytosis blocker DIP into the patch pipette led to an increase in the Cl⁻ extrusion capacity. These results are striking as they demonstrate that the efficacy of neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion by KCC2 is not rate-limited by the total expression level of the transporter protein at this early developmental

stage; and that KCC2 functionality can be precociously enhanced in an activitydependent manner close to the level that is seen after the developmental shift in E_{GABA-A} .

To the best of my knowledge, no prior study has investigated the immediate consequence of a single neonatal seizure episode on the capacity of hippocampal pyramidal neurons to extrude Cl⁻. The work by Nardou et al. (2011b) using two isolated interconnected hippocampi demonstrated that following 15 three minute-long kainate (400 nM) applications at 20 minute intervals to one of the hippocampi led to emergence of spontaneous ictal events in the drugnaive contralateral hippocampus and loss of Cl⁻ extrusion capacity paralleled by internalization of KCC2 in CA3 pyramidal neurons. In the present work a *single* application of kainate (300 nM for 10 minutes) to hippocampal slices from neonatal rats of comparable age led to enhanced surface expression of KCC2 in the CA1 region and an up-regulation of the neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity within minutes after the ictal event. An identical up-regulation of KCC2 was observed in vivo following a single kainate-induced SE. Thus, it appears that the initial response to a neonatal ictal event is enhancement of KCC2 surface expression and consequent neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity. However, aggravation of seizures leads to down-regulation of KCC2. An interesting hypothesis for future work is that the initial functional enhancement of KCC2 acts as an intrinsic anti-ictogenic or an antiepileptogenic

mechanism in the neonatal hippocampus. The gradual increase in KCC2 expression during neuronal maturation has often been considered as an explanation of the parallel developmental shift in E_{GABA-A} (Ben-Ari et al., 2007). An important conclusion from the present work is that immature hippocampal neurons are capable of undergoing a large precocious negative shift in EGABA-A, based on a more efficacious utilization of their low total KCC2 protein pool. However, fast post-translational effects such as those described in the present work obviously do not exclude long-term effects based on enhanced KCC2 protein synthesis. Indeed, the work by Galanopoulou (2008) on a similar neonatal seizure model, but involving three episodes of SE each with one day interval, demonstrated that an increase in KCC2 expression leads to sustained KCC2 activation, which apparently takes place after the initial post-translational effect described in the present work. In future work it would be of interest to determine whether such long-term changes in KCC2 protein expression take place already after a single episode of neonatal SE, after the time window of the present experiments.

In view of the tight functional and structural coupling of KCC2 and the $\alpha 2$ subunit of the Na-K ATPase (cf. Ikeda et al., 2004), it is interesting that the upregulation of the membrane expression of KCC2 was paralleled by a quantitatively similar up-regulation of the Na-K ATPase, the ion pump which ultimately provides the thermodynamic driving force for K-Cl cotransport mediated by both KCC2a and KCC2b. It would be interesting to investigate whether KCC2 physically interacts with the Na-K ATPase also through the $\alpha 3$ subunit, as the expression of this subunit of the Na-K ATPase appears to be neuronspecific while that of $\alpha 2$ is observed in both glia and neurons (Cameron et al., 1994). While the available data indicate that the KCC2b isoform is required for the developmental shift in E_{GABA-A} (see section 2.3.1) little is known about the functional significance of KCC2a (Uvarov et al., 2007; 2009). Nevertheless, the parallel activity-dependent up-regulation of the two isoforms is of interest because of their capability of heterodimerization (Uvarov et al., 2009). Recent work suggests that heterodimerization of KCC2 with other KCCs might be a way of regulating KCC2 trafficking and function (Ding et al., 2013; see also Wenz et al., 2009).

The similarities of the fast increase in the Cl⁻ extrusion capacity paralleled by the increase in the surface expression of KCC2 observed between the in vivo and *in vitro* models in the present study are consistent with the idea that the two neonatal seizure models have common underlying molecular mechanisms of KCC2 regulation in response to epileptiform activity. The block of the activityinduced activation of KCC2 by K252a in the *in vitro* model is interesting in light of the previous finding that K252a blocks the activity-induced downregulation of KCC2 in mature neurons (Rivera et al., 2004). A similar agedependent difference in the direction of the effect induced by a signaling cascade has been described for the action of BDNF on GABA_A currents, which are enhanced by BDNF in immature and suppressed in mature neurons (Mizoguchi et al., 2003). Based on the K252a effect *in vitro*, BDNF-TrkB signaling is a promising candidate mediating the activation of KCC2 *in vivo*.

6.2 STUDY II

This study not only mechanistically elaborates on the findings of Study I, but demonstrates that the *developmental* upregulation of KCC2 can take place in the absence of BDNF. The results obtained using full homozygous BDNF KO mice demonstrated that the fast functional upregulation of KCC2 following a single neonatal seizure is dependent on BDNF signaling. In Study I, enhanced surface expression of KCC2 was observed in parallel with functional enhancement of the Cl⁻ extrusion capacity. Similarly, in this Study BDNF KO mice exhibited reduced levels of KCC2 compared to WT littermates, suggesting that disrupted KCC2 trafficking in BDNF KO mice may account for the lack of enhancement of Cl⁻ extrusion following neonatal seizures. Interestingly, work on trafficking of GABAARs has identified BDNF-TrkB signaling as an important regulatory (Brunig et al., 2001). Given that the seizure-induced up-regulation of both KCC2 function and surface expression were completely prevented by the Trk inhibitor K252a (Study I), and in the

BDNF KO mice, it appears that this signaling pathway may be important also for regulation of KCC2 trafficking.

Impairments in the developmental up-regulation of functional KCC2 protein, which have been suggested to accompany changes in BDNF-TrkB signaling (Aguado et al., 2003; Carmona et al., 2006; Ludwig et al., 2011b), are an unlikely reason for the observed impairment activation of KCC2 following neonatal seizures, because KCC2 total protein levels were indistinguishable between BDNF KO and WT littermates at P14. Endogenous BDNF has been demonstrated to mediate fast activity-dependent down-regulation of KCC2 in older animals (Rivera et al., 2002; Rivera et al., 2004). Thus, it appears that activation of the BDNF-TrkB pathway may have opposite effects on KCC2 function depending on the stage of brain development. Intriguingly, recent work has demonstrated qualitatively different responsiveness of mouse brain TrkB receptors to BDNF before and after ~P12 (Knüsel et al., 1994; Di Lieto et al., 2012).

An interesting observation made in Study II is, that following a single neonatal seizure, down-regulation of KCC2 ensues after the initial functional upregulation. In Study I, where changes in KCC2 induced by the neonatal seizure where examined during the early period, no change in the total KCC2 protein pool was observed. However, extending the experimental time window to 4 hours revealed progressive down-regulation of Cl⁻ extrusion capacity that was paralleled by significant calpain-dependent reduction of the total KCC2 protein pool. It was not investigated whether the presently observed down-regulation of KCC2 protein and transport capacity is mediated by TrkB. Given the sensitivity of KCC2 down-regulation to inhibition of BDNF-TrkB signaling (Rivera et al., 2002; Rivera et al., 2004) and activation of calpain by BDNF (Zadran et al., 2010a; Zadran et al., 2010b), an interesting hypothesis for future work is that the down-regulation of KCC2 observed herein is mediated by TrkB.

6.3 STUDY III

The key finding of this study is that KCC2, a protein instrumental in the development and plasticity of GABAergic hyperpolarizing inhibition and in the maturation and function of dendritic spines and glutamatergic synapses, is a substrate of the Ca²⁺-activated protease calpain and is down-regulated following calpain activation. The validity of the present findings was extended by a parallel study (Zhou et al., 2012) carried out independently of this Thesis. This work, consistently the present one, demonstrated that down-regulation of KCC2 following pathological activation of NMDARs is attributable to calpain activation but not to decreased KCC2 mRNA levels in spinal cord neurons of adult rats (Zhou et al., 2012).

Calpains constitute a family of intracellular non-lysosomal cysteine proteases that are activated by Ca^{2+} in the cell cytosol at neutral or slightly alkaline pH (Zhao et al., 1998; Goll et al., 2003). In contrast to relatively promiscuous degradative proteases, such as many of the lysosomal proteases (Cuervo and Dice, 1998), calpains regulate cellular processes by partially truncating a restricted set of substrates, conferring them posttranslational protein modifications, which can also serve as signals for protein degradation (Wu and Lynch, 2006; Croall and Ersfeld, 2007; Zadran et al., 2010a). There are so far 14 known members in the calpain family of proteases, out of which two isoforms, calpain-1 and calpain-2, are particularly abundant in the CNS (Croall and Ersfeld, 2007). These two CNS isoforms of calpain do not differ with respect to their substrate preference but rather in their sensitivity to the level of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. While calpain-1, also known as μ -calpain is activated in the low μ M range of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$, calpain-2 is activated only at high >0.4 mM $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ thereby earning its eponymous alias, m-calpain (Baudry et al., 2013). The other main difference between the two major CNS calpain isoforms is that calpain-2 can bypass the Ca^{2+} requirement and be activated by BDNF-signaling via phosphorylation by the MAPK/ERK kinase (Zadran et al., 2010a; Zadran et al., 2010b). In practice, it is however very difficult to specifically attribute a given effect to either of the two isoforms as known calpain inhibitors target both calpain-1 and 2 with a similar potency (Goll et al., 2002; Baudry et al., 2013). The use of RNA interference to specifically suppress one or the other calpain isoform is not feasible in acute

preparations, such as the brain slice, as both of these calpain isoforms have a half-life of several days (Zhang et al., 1996). In the present work, direct calpain-mediated cleavage of KCC2 was demonstrated using recombinant calpain-2. However, given the above considerations, both isoforms may well be responsible for the observed KCC2 downregulation under the present conditions (see also Zhou et al., 2012). Thus, here they are collectively referred to as 'calpain'.

Constitutive calpain cleavage of synaptic proteins is part of normal CNS function (Amini et al., 2013), and activation of calpain by excitatory amino acid signaling confers selective activitydependent cleavage of its substrates (Wu and Lynch, 2006; Liu et al., 2008; Baudry et al., 2013). Thus, the role of calpain-mediated signaling is pivotal in regulation of neuronal plasticity. Hyperactivation of calpain under pathophysiological conditions, including experimental seizures (Bi et al., 1996; Sierra-Paredes et al., 1999; Fujikawa, 2005; Sharma et al., 2009), is, however, often associated with neurotoxicity (Liu et al., 2008). Increased calpain expression has been reported in hippocampal and cortical tissue of patients with drug-resistant TLE (Feng et al., 2011; Das et al., 2012). Several studies have shown neuroprotective effects of calpain inhibitors in various models of CNS pathology (Markgraf et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 2003; O'Hanlon et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2008; Nimmrich et al., 2008; Granic et al., 2010), indicating that calpain-mediated

cleavage of proteins can be detrimental. In line with this, one of the calpain inhibitors used in the present work, MDL 28170, has been reported to reduce pyramidal cell death in the CA1 of the hippocampus in a rodent model of TLE (Araujo et al., 2008). Thus, the novel interaction between KCC2 and calpain, first reported herein, may be of clinical interest.

The present data acquired using cycloheximide, emetine, and leupeptin all point to a rather low basal turnover of KCC2. It should be noted here that, because of the several days long half-life of calpain (Zhang et al., 1996), it is unlikely that the observed stability of KCC2 under arrested *de novo* translation is due to reduced calpain levels in the present experimental time window of four to five hours. However, previous data obtained with leupeptin in neuronal cultures (Lee et al., 2010) and analysis of the KCC2 surface pool in hippocampal slices (Rivera et al., 2004) indicated a high turnover rate. The data of the present work demonstrate that activation of calpain can lead to fast changes in KCC2 protein levels. While the study by Rivera et al. (2004) reported a constant decrease (0.2%/min) in the total KCC2 protein pool under control conditions (i.e., in standard physiological solution) in biochemical experiments, the KCC2 protein level in the present study remained stable for at least 5 hours after recovery under control conditions as well in the absence of protein synthesis. The difference between previous and present data is most likely attributable to non-optimal

slice preparation and maintenance conditions used in the biochemical assays by Rivera et al. (2004) which affected $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ levels and, consequently, calpain activity (see also discussion section in the original publication, Study III). While the methodological approach used by Rivera et al. (2004) did not permit analysis of protein turnover per se, and the data demonstrated a high degradation rate of KCC2 under the conditions used for the biochemical experiments, this paper is often referred to (e.g. Uvarov et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2010) as evidence for fast down-regulation of KCC2 to take place at the transcriptional level. The present work shows that such conclusions are unwarranted. Indeed, recent work by Pan and colleagues demonstrated that the chronic down-regulation of KCC2 protein triggered by enhanced NMDAR activation was not associated with changes at the level of KCC2 mRNA (Zhou et al., 2012).

In view of the low turnover rate of the total KCC2 protein observed presently, studies reporting fast functional changes in the efficacy of KCC2mediated Cl⁻ extrusion caused by changes in gene expression warrant reinterpretation. For example, Yang et al. (2010) reported that changes in E_{GABA-A} taking place within 30 minutes of high frequency stimulation of rat CA1 pyramidal neurons may be blocked by employing KCC2 antisense oligonucleotides through the recording pipette. Surprisingly, however, the authors failed to replicate the antisense effects using a high 100 µM concentration of bumetanide (Yang et al., 2010), which is known to block K-Cl cotransport (Payne, 1997; Delpire et al., 2009; Nardou et al., 2011b).

The present data clearly show that an enhanced degradation rate of KCC2 is required to rapidly reduce KCC2 protein levels. The calpain-mediated cleavage of KCC2 presented here might be one of the major mechanisms responsible for an enhanced degradation of KCC2, while changes at the transcriptional level (e.g., Rivera et al., 2002; Huberfeld et al., 2007) are involved in long-term effects. Work by Rivera et al. (1999) demonstrated that the KCC2 antisense approach to block KCC2 synthesis results in severely decreased total levels of KCC2 protein in organotypic hippocampal cultures after 8 hours of antisense application. In view of the present data, this suggests that down-regulation of KCC2 attributable to synthesis deficits takes place roughly 5-8 hours after arrest of KCC2 translation. It would be interesting to further investigate, whether changes in the phosphorylation state of KCC2, which also are known to trigger enhanced degradation of KCC2 (Lee et al., 2010; 2011; Kahle et al., 2013), are involved in the regulation of calpainmediated KCC2 cleavage.

Several key proteins for GABAergic and glycinergic signaling, such as the GABA transporter GAT1 (Baliova et al., 2009), vesicular inhibitory amino acid transporter VIAAT (Gomes et al., 2011), GABA synthesizing enzyme GAD65 (Buddhala et al., 2012) glycine transporters GlyT1 and GlyT2 (Baliova et al., 2004; Baliova and Jursky, 2005) are all cleaved by calpain. Thus, the present finding of calpain-mediated KCC2 down-regulation suggests a more general role for calpain in the regulation of GABAergic and glycinergic neurotransmission. This idea gains further support from the finding that gephyrin, a key protein for clustering of both GABA_ARs and GlyRs, is also a calpain substrate (Tyagarajan et al., 2011; Tyagarajan et al., 2013). An important hypothesis for future work is that calpain plays a determining role in the erosion of inhibition (cf. Trevelyan et al., 2007) that takes place in response to ictal activity and contributes to AED resistance.

As mentioned above, in addition to activity-induced elevation in intracellular Ca^{2+} , calpain-2 is also activated by BDNF signaling (Zadran et al., 2010b). Seizure-induced up-regulation of BDNF-TrkB signaling (Rivera et al., 2002), activity-dependent endogenous release (Rivera et al., 2004) as well as exogenous application of BDNF (Rivera et al., 2002; Wake et al., 2007) have been demonstrated to result in rapid impairment of KCC2 expression and function, demonstrating a critical role for BDNF-TrkB signaling in down-regulation of KCC2. Thus, it would be of interest to test whether the BDNF-triggered activation of calpain plays a role in the BDNFinduced down-regulation of KCC2.

In conclusion, this work shows that fast, activity-dependent down-regulation of KCC2 is attributable to calpainmediated cleavage of the protein, and not to suppression of KCC2 gene expression. It thereby identifies a new molecular mechanism for the fast regulation of KCC2 involved in synaptic plasticity under physiological and pathophysiological conditions.

6.4 STUDY IV

The main finding of this study was that overexpression of KCC2 induces the formation of functional dendritic spines. In humans, the most intensive period for synaptogenesis takes place between the third trimester of pregnancy and the first few postnatal years (Huttenlocher and Dabholkar, 1997; Petanjek et al., 2011). In rodents, the peak period of synaptogenesis is limited to a time window between the second and fourth postnatal week (Juraska, 1982; Micheva and Beaulieu, 1996; De Felipe et al., 1997). The intimate temporal correlation between the developmental up-regulation of KCC2 expression and synaptogenesis in rodents and humans (see section 2.3.2) points to a possible role for KCC2 in synapse formation. The major novel finding of the present study is that overexpression of KCC2 leads to increased dendritic spinogenesis under in vivo conditions. Previous work on cultured neurons has shown that maturation of dendritic spines fails when neurons are deprived of KCC2 expression before or at the onset of spinogenesis (Li et al., 2007; Gauvain et al., 2011) and that overexpression of KCC2 is able to rescue spine development when neurons are transfected with KCC2 before the onset of spine formation (Li et al., 2007; see

also Sun et al., 2013). Notably, in cultured neurons expression of endogenous KCC2 is observed already before formation of synapses (see Ludwig et al., 2003).

In the present study, a striking increase in the density of spines over a wide range of head diameters, which was paralleled by increased frequency of mEPSCs, was observed throughout the observed first three postnatal months in the rat somatosensory cortex following in utero electroporation of neurons at E17.5. In view of the minor effect of suppression of KCC2 expression starting after the onset of synaptogenesis on the density and morphology of spines in cultured hippocampal neurons and Purkinje cells in vivo (Gauvain et al., 2011; Seja et al., 2012), the present data suggest that KCC2 may play a role in the induction of synaptogenesis. Testing whether suppression of KCC2 expression after the peak period of spinogenesis affects the maintenance of spines, is, however, needed to further assess the differential role of KCC2 in induction versus maintenance of dendritic spines in neocortical pyramidal neurons.

Notably, the present study did not demonstrate any effect of premature expression of KCC2 or the of IUE procedure *per se* on the dendritic length or branching of cortical layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons. This is in striking contrast with a previous report (Cancedda et al., 2007), which suggested that precocious termination of depolarizing GABAergic signaling through overexpression of KCC2 impairs the morphological maturation of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons. Our data is, however, in agreement with the study by Pfeffer et al. (2009) who observed no morphological alterations in hippocampal neurons from NKCC1^{-/-} mice which displayed normal dendritic length, branching, and spine synapse density despite a much reduced depolarizing action mediated by GABA_ARs.

The present work also demonstrates that not only is the ion transport function of KCC2 not needed for spine induction but there is apparently no necessity for membrane association of KCC2, as similar spine-induction as with KCC2-FL was observed with KCC2-CTD, which is predicted (cf. Payne et al., 1996) to contain no membrane spanning sequences. Unlike in the present in vivo experiments, work in vitro has reported that when expressed before the onset of glutamatergic synaptogenesis, KCC2-CTD exerts dominant-negative effects on spine maturation (Li et al., 2007), but not when expressed at later time points (Gauvain et al., 2011). Similarly, no dominant-negative effects of the KCC2 mutant KCC2-C568A (cf. Pellegrino et al., 2010) were observed presently on spine density or spine head distribution of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons.

A recent study reported of the existence of several previously unrecognized alternative KCC2 transcripts in both human adult and fetal brain, including truncated KCC2 variants (Tao et al., 2012). Interesting questions for future work are whether there are alternative KCC2 proteins that endogenously dissociate between ion transport and spine formation and whether truncated KCC2 or KCC2 proper (see also Adusei et al., 2010; Hyde et al., 2011; Tao et al., 2012) contribute to disease states, such as schizophrenia (Glausier and Lewis, 2012), autism spectrum disorders, fragile X (De Rubeis et al., 2012), and epilepsy (Wong and Guo, 2012), in which pathological changes in dendritic spines have been implicated.

7 CONCLUSIONS

The main findings of Study I are that (i) the immediate postictal effect of a neonatal seizure on KCC2 in the hippocampi of P5-7 rats is a robust post-translational activation of the transporter function of KCC2 close to the mature level of Cl⁻ extrusion, and (ii) the low total level of KCC2 protein in the P5-7 hippocampus is not a limiting factor for functional up-regulation of KCC2 during this stage in development. Functional up-regulation of KCC2 in response to seizures enhances the ability of neurons to cope with the increased intracellular Cl⁻ loads associated with seizure activity and may represent an endogenous first-in-line anti-ictogenic mechanism of the neonate brain by keeping the reversal potential of GABA_AR-mediated responses more negative than the action potential firing threshold.

The results of Study II expand on the mechanism of the functional activation of KCC2 as an immediate response to a neonatal seizure. The results obtained in this study using mice with full genetic disruption of BDNF expression, together with the data on the effects of Trk receptor kinase inhibition in Study I, strongly indicate that intact BDNF-TrkB signaling is necessary for the precocious functional up-regulation of KCC2 to take place in response to neonatal seizure. Study II also reports that BDNF-signaling is not a requirement for the canonical up-regulation of KCC2 during development. Together, these findings highlight the importance of BDNF-signaling in fast post-translational regulation of KCC2.

The results of Study III indicate that down-regulation of KCC2 total protein and neuronal Cl⁻ extrusion capacity is unlikely to be attributed to a deficit in synthesis of KCC2 protein, and demonstrate that under conditions of elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ the enhanced degradation and functional inactivation of KCC2 is a consequence of KCC2 cleavage by the Ca²⁺-activated protease calpain.

Study IV reports an ion transport-independent role for KCC2 in the genesis of dendritic spines *in vivo*, and demonstrates that expression of KCC2 is sufficient for the induction of functional glutamatergic spines during the brain growth spurt.

LIST OF REFERENCES

Acton BA, Mahadevan V, Mercado A, Uvarov P, Ding Y, Pressey J, Airaksinen MS, Mount DB, Woodin MA (2012) Hyperpolarizing GABAergic transmission requires the KCC2 C-terminal ISO domain. J Neurosci 32:8746-8751.

Adragna NC, Di Fulvio M, Lauf PK (2004) Regulation of K-Cl cotransport: from function to genes. Journal of Membrane Biology 201:109-137.

Adusei DC, Pacey LK, Chen D, Hampson DR (2010) Early developmental alterations in GABAergic protein expression in fragile X knockout mice. Neuropharmacology 59:167-171.

Aguado F, Carmona MA, Pozas E, Aguilo A, Martinez-Guijarro FJ, Alcantara S, Borrell V, Yuste R, Ibanez CF, Soriano E (2003) BDNF regulates spontaneous correlated activity at early developmental stages by increasing synaptogenesis and expression of the K+/Cl- co-transporter KCC2. Development 130:1267-1280.

Ahmad F, Coleman SK, Kaila K, Blaesse P (2011) Cold-adapted protease enables quantitation of surface proteins in the absence of membrane trafficking. Biotechniques 50:255-257.

Airaksinen MS, Saarma M (2002) The GDNF family: signalling, biological functions and therapeutic value. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:383-394.

Aiyathurai EJ, Boon WH (1989) The probable mechanisms of brain damage and epilepsy in febrile convulsions, Singapore syndrome and Reye's syndrome. Acta Paediatr Jpn 31:245-258.

Akerman CJ, Cline HT (2006) Depolarizing GABAergic conductances regulate the balance of excitation to inhibition in the developing retinotectal circuit in vivo. J Neurosci 26:5117-5130.

Allen NJ, Rossi DJ, Attwell D (2004) Sequential release of GABA by exocytosis and reversed uptake leads to neuronal swelling in simulated ischemia of hippocampal slices. J Neurosci 24:3837-3849.

Amini M, Ma CL, Farazifard R, Zhu G, Zhang Y, Vanderluit J, Zoltewicz JS, Hage F, Savitt JM, Lagace DC, Slack RS, Beique JC, Baudry M, Greer PA, Bergeron R, Park DS (2013) Conditional disruption of calpain in the CNS alters dendrite morphology, impairs LTP, and promotes neuronal survival following injury. J Neurosci 33:5773-5784.

Amiry-Moghaddam M, Ottersen OP (2003) The molecular basis of water transport in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 4:991-1001.

Anderson WR, Franck JE, Stahl WL, Maki AA (1994) Na,K-ATPase is decreased in hippocampus of kainate-lesioned rats. Epilepsy Res 17:221-231.

Antrobus SP, Lytle C, Payne JA (2012) K+-Cl- cotransporter-2 KCC2 in chicken cardiomyocytes. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 303:C1180-C1191.

Araujo IM, Gil JM, Carreira BP, Mohapel P, Petersen A, Pinheiro PS, Soulet D, Bahr BA, Brundin P, Carvalho CM (2008) Calpain activation is involved in early caspaseindependent neurodegeneration in the hippocampus following status epilepticus. J Neurochem 105:666-676.

Arckens L, Schweigart G, Qu Y, Wouters G, Pow DV, Vandesande F, Eysel UT, Orban GA (2000) Cooperative changes in GABA, glutamate and activity levels: the missing link in cortical plasticity. Eur J Neurosci 12:4222-4232.

Arroyo JP, Kahle KT, Gamba G (2013) The SLC12 family of electroneutral cationcoupled chloride cotransporters. Mol Aspects Med 34:288-298.

Avishai-Eliner S, Brunson KL, Sandman CA, Baram TZ (2002) Stressed-out, or in (utero)? Trends Neurosci 25:518-524.

Baines AJ, Keating L, Phillips GW, Scott C (2001) The postsynaptic spectrin/4.1 membrane protein "accumulation machine". Cell Mol Biol Lett 6:691-702.

Balakrishnan V, Becker M, Löhrke S, Nothwang HG, Güresir E, Friauf E (2003) Expression and function of chloride transporters during development of inhibitory neurotransmission in the auditory brainstem. J Neurosci 23:4134-4145.

Baldi R, Varga C, Tamas G (2010) Differential distribution of KCC2 along the axosomato-dendritic axis of hippocampal principal cells. Eur J Neurosci 32:1319-1325.

Baliova M, Betz H, Jursky F (2004) Calpain-mediated proteolytic cleavage of the neuronal glycine transporter, GlyT2. J Neurochem 88:227-232.

Baliova M, Jursky F (2005) Calpain sensitive regions in the N-terminal cytoplasmic domains of glycine transporters GlyT1A and GlyT1B. Neurochem Res 30:1093-1100.

Baliova M, Knab A, Franekova V, Jursky F (2009) Modification of the cytosolic regions of GABA transporter GAT1 by calpain. Neurochem Int 55:288-294.

Barbato C, Ruberti F, Pieri M, Vilardo E, Costanzo M, Ciotti MT, Zona C, Cogoni C (2010) MicroRNA-92 modulates K(+) Cl(-) co-transporter KCC2 expression in cerebellar granule neurons. J Neurochem 113:591-600.

Barmashenko G, Hefft S, Aertsen A, Kirschstein T, Kohling R (2011) Positive shifts of the GABAA receptor reversal potential due to altered chloride homeostasis is widespread after status epilepticus. Epilepsia 52:1570-1578.

Bartha AI, Shen J, Katz KH, Mischel RE, Yap KR, Ivacko JA, Andrews EM, Ferriero DM, Ment LR, Silverstein FS (2007) Neonatal seizures: multicenter variability in current treatment practices. Pediatr Neurol 37:85-90.

Bartho P, Payne JA, Freund TF, Acsady L (2004) Differential distribution of the KCl cotransporter KCC2 in thalamic relay and reticular nuclei. Eur J Neurosci 20:965-975.

Bartholow M (2012) Top 200 Drugs of 2011.

http://www.pharmacytimes.com/publications/issue/2012/July2012/Top-200-Drugs-of-2011 Accessed 09.06.2013.

Bartos M, Vida I, Jonas P (2007) Synaptic mechanisms of synchronized gamma oscillations in inhibitory interneuron networks. Nat Rev Neurosci 8:45-56.

Basavappa S, Ellory JC (1996) The role of swelling-induced anion channels during neuronal volume regulation. Mol Neurobiol 13:137-153.

Baudry M, Chou MM, Bi X (2013) Targeting calpain in synaptic plasticity. Expert Opin Ther Targets 17:579-592.

Bayatti N, Moss JA, Sun L, Ambrose P, Ward JFH, Lindsay S, Clowry GJ (2008) A molecular neuroanatomical study of the developing human neocortex from 8 to 17 postconceptional weeks revealing the early differentiation of the subplate and subventricular zone. Cereb Cortex 18:1536-1548.

Becker M, Nothwang HG, Friauf E (2003) Differential expression pattern of chloride transporters NCC, NKCC2, KCC1, KCC3, KCC4, and AE3 in the developing rat auditory brainstem. Cell Tissue Res 312:155-165.

Belenky MA, Sollars PJ, Mount DB, Alper SL, Yarom Y, Pickard GE (2010) Cell-type specific distribution of chloride transporters in the rat suprachiasmatic nucleus. Neuroscience 165:1519-1537.

Belenky MA, Yarom Y, Pickard GE (2008) Heterogeneous expression of gammaaminobutyric acid and gamma-aminobutyric acid-associated receptors and transporters in the rat suprachiasmatic nucleus. J Comp Neurol 506:708-732.

Ben-Ari Y, Gaiarsa JL, Tyzio R, Khazipov R (2007) GABA: a pioneer transmitter that excites immature neurons and generates primitive oscillations. Physiol Rev 87:1215-1284.

Ben-Ari Y, Holmes GL (2006) Effects of seizures on developmental processes in the immature brain. Lancet Neurol 5:1055-1063.

Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I, Kahle KT, Cherubini E (2012) The GABA Excitatory/Inhibitory Shift in Brain Maturation and Neurological Disorders. Neuroscientist.

Benini R, Longo D, Biagini G, Avoli M (2011) Perirhinal cortex hyperexcitability in pilocarpine-treated epileptic rats. Hippocampus 21:702-713.

Bennett V, Baines AJ (2001) Spectrin and ankyrin-based pathways: metazoan inventions for integrating cells into tissues. Physiol Rev 81:1353-1392.

Berger R, Garnier Y (1999) Pathophysiology of perinatal brain damage. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 30:107-134.

Berridge MJ, Lipp P, Bootman MD (2000) The versatility and universality of calcium signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1:11-21.

Bi X, Chang V, Siman R, Tocco G, Baudry M (1996) Regional distribution and timecourse of calpain activation following kainate-induced seizure activity in adult rat brain. Brain Res 726:98-108.

Blaesse P, Airaksinen MS, Rivera C, Kaila K (2009) Cation-chloride cotransporters and neuronal function. Neuron 61:820-838.

Blaesse P, Guillemin I, Schindler J, Schweizer M, Delpire E, Khiroug L, Friauf E, Nothwang HG (2006) Oligomerization of KCC2 correlates with development of inhibitory neurotransmission. J Neurosci 26:10407-10419.

Blumcke I, Thom M, Wiestler OD (2002) Ammon's horn sclerosis: a maldevelopmental disorder associated with temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain Pathol 12:199-211.

Boettger T, Hübner CA, Maier H, Rust MB, Beck FX, Jentsch TJ (2002) Deafness and renal tubular acidosis in mice lacking the K-Cl co-transporter Kcc4. Nature 416:874-878.

Boettger T, Rust MB, Maier H, Seidenbecher T, Schweizer M, Keating DJ, Faulhaber J, Ehmke H, Pfeffer C, Scheel O, Lemcke B, Horst J, Leuwer R, Pape HC, Volkl H, Hübner CA, Jentsch TJ (2003) Loss of K-Cl co-transporter KCC3 causes deafness, neurodegeneration and reduced seizure threshold. EMBO J 22:5422-5434.

Bonislawski DP, Schwarzbach EP, Cohen AS (2007) Brain injury impairs dentate gyrus inhibitory efficacy. Neurobiol Dis 25:163-169.

Booth D, Evans DJ (2004) Anticonvulsants for neonates with seizures. Cochrane Database Syst RevCD004218.

Bormann J, Hamill OP, Sakmann B (1987) Mechanism of anion permeation through channels gated by glycine and gamma-aminobutyric-acid in mouse cultured spinal neurons. J Physiol 385:243-286.

Bortone D, Polleux F (2009) KCC2 expression promotes the termination of cortical interneuron migration in a voltage-sensitive calcium-dependent manner. Neuron 62:53-71.

Bos R, Brocard F, Vinay L (2011) Primary afferent terminals acting as excitatory interneurons contribute to spontaneous motor activities in the immature spinal cord. J Neurosci 31:10184-10188.

Boulenguez P, Liabeuf S, Bos R, Bras H, Jean-Xavier C, Brocard C, Stil A, Darbon P, Cattaert D, Delpire E, Marsala M, Vinay L (2010) Down-regulation of the potassiumchloride cotransporter KCC2 contributes to spasticity after spinal cord injury. Nat Med 16:302-307.

Briggs SW, Galanopoulou AS (2011) Altered GABA signaling in early life epilepsies. Neural Plast 2011:527605.

Briner A, De RM, Dayer A, Muller D, Habre W, Vutskits L (2010) Volatile anesthetics rapidly increase dendritic spine density in the rat medial prefrontal cortex during synaptogenesis. Anesthesiology 112:546-556.

Briner A, Nikonenko I, De RM, Dayer A, Muller D, Vutskits L (2011) Developmental Stage-dependent persistent impact of propofol anesthesia on dendritic spines in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. Anesthesiology 115:282-293.

Brunig I, Penschuck S, Berninger B, Benson J, Fritschy JM (2001) BDNF reduces miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents by rapid downregulation of GABA(A) receptor surface expression. Eur J Neurosci 13:1320-1328.

Buddhala C, Suarez M, Modi J, Prentice H, Ma Z, Tao R, Wu JY (2012) Calpain cleavage of brain glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 is pathological and impairs GABA neurotransmission. PLoS One 7:e33002.

Buzsaki G, Kaila K, Raichle M (2007) Inhibition and brain work. Neuron 56:771-783.

Cameron R, Klein L, Shyjan AW, Rakic P, Levenson R (1994) Neurons and astroglia express distinct subsets of Na,K-ATPase alpha and beta subunits. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 21:333-343.

Cancedda L, Fiumelli H, Chen K, Poo MM (2007) Excitatory GABA action is essential for morphological maturation of cortical neurons in vivo. J Neurosci 27:5224-5235.

Carillo S, Pariat M, Steff A, Jariel-Encontre I, Poulat F, Berta P, Piechaczyk M (1996) PEST motifs are not required for rapid calpain-mediated proteolysis of c-fos protein. Biochem J 313 (Pt 1):245-251.

Carmona MA, Pozas E, Martinez A, Espinosa-Parrilla JF, Soriano E, Aguado F (2006) Age-dependent spontaneous hyperexcitability and impairment of GABAergic function in the hippocampus of mice lacking trkB. Cereb Cortex 16:47-63.

Chamma I, Chevy Q, Poncer JC, Levi S (2012) Role of the neuronal K-Cl cotransporter KCC2 in inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmission. Front Cell Neurosci 6:5.

Chih B, Engelman H, Scheiffele P (2005) Control of excitatory and inhibitory synapse formation by neuroligins. Science 307:1324-1328.

Choi DW (1987) Ionic dependence of glutamate neurotoxicity. J Neurosci 7:369-379.

Chong JA, Tapia-Ramirez J, Kim S, Toledo-Aral JJ, Zheng Y, Boutros MC, Altshuller YM, Frohman MA, Kraner SD, Mandel G (1995) REST: a mammalian silencer protein that restricts sodium channel gene expression to neurons. Cell 80:949-957.

Chudotvorova I, Ivanov A, Rama S, Hübner CA, Pellegrino C, Ben Ari Y, Medina I (2005) Early expression of KCC2 in rat hippocampal cultures augments expression of functional GABA synapses. J Physiol 566:671-679.

Clancy B, Darlington RB, Finlay BL (2001) Translating developmental time across mammalian species. Neuroscience 105:7-17.

Clayton GH, Owens GC, Wolff JS, Smith RL (1998) Ontogeny of cation-Clcotransporter expression in rat neocortex. Dev Brain Res 109:281-292. Cleary RT, Huynh T, Manning SM, Sun H, Li Y, Rotenberg A, Talos DM, Kahle KT, Jackson M, Rakhade SN, Berry G, Jensen FE (2013) Bumetanide enhances phenobarbital efficacy in a rat model of hypoxic neonatal seizures. PLoS ONE 8:e57148.

Cohen I, Navarro V, Clemenceau S, Baulac M, Miles R (2002) On the origin of interictal activity in human temporal lobe epilepsy in vitro. Science 298:1418-1421.

Cohen I, Navarro V, Le DC, Miles R (2003) Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: a pathological replay of developmental mechanisms? Biol Cell 95:329-333.

Coull JA, Boudreau D, Bachand K, Prescott SA, Nault F, Sik A, De Koninck P, De Koninck Y (2003) Trans-synaptic shift in anion gradient in spinal lamina I neurons as a mechanism of neuropathic pain. Nature 424:938-942.

Coull JAM, Beggs S, Boudreau D, Boivin D, Tsuda M, Inoue K, Gravel C, Salter MW, De Koninck Y (2005) BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. Nature 438:1017-1021.

Croall DE, Ersfeld K (2007) The calpains: modular designs and functional diversity. Genome Biol 8:218.

Crosby SD, Veile RA, Donis-Keller H, Baraban JM, Bhat RV, Simburger KS, Milbrandt J (1992) Neural-specific expression, genomic structure, and chromosomal localization of the gene encoding the zinc-finger transcription factor NGFI-C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:4739-4743.

Cuervo AM, Dice JF (1998) Lysosomes, a meeting point of proteins, chaperones, and proteases. J Mol Med (Berl) 76:6-12.

Dai J, Chen L, Qiu YM, Li SQ, Xiong WH, Yin YH, Jia F, Jiang JY (2013) Activations of GABAergic signaling, HSP70 and MAPK cascades are involved in baicalin's neuroprotection against gerbil global ischemia/reperfusion injury. Brain Res Bull 90:1-9.

Damborsky JC, Winzer-Serhan UH (2012) Effects of sex and chronic neonatal nicotine treatment on Na(2)(+)/K(+)/Cl(-) co-transporter 1, K(+)/Cl(-) co-transporter 2, brainderived neurotrophic factor, NMDA receptor subunit 2A and NMDA receptor subunit 2B mRNA expression in the postnatal rat hippocampus. Neuroscience 225:105-117.

Das A, Wallace GC, Holmes C, McDowell ML, Smith JA, Marshall JD, Bonilha L, Edwards JC, Glazier SS, Ray SK, Banik NL (2012) Hippocampal tissue of patients with refractory temporal lobe epilepsy is associated with astrocyte activation, inflammation, and altered expression of channels and receptors. Neuroscience 220:237-246.

De Felipe J, Marco P, Fairen A, Jones EG (1997) Inhibitory synaptogenesis in mouse somatosensory cortex. Cereb Cortex 7:619-634.

De Rubeis S, Fernandez E, Buzzi A, Di MD, Bagni C (2012) Molecular and cellular aspects of mental retardation in the Fragile X syndrome: from gene mutation/s to spine dysmorphogenesis. Adv Exp Med Biol 970:517-551.

De RM, Klauser P, Briner A, Nikonenko I, Mendez P, Dayer A, Kiss JZ, Muller D, Vutskits L (2009) Anesthetics rapidly promote synaptogenesis during a critical period of brain development. PLoS ONE 4:e7043.

Deeb TZ, Maguire J, Moss SJ (2012) Possible alterations in GABAA receptor signaling that underlie benzodiazepine-resistant seizures. Epilepsia 53 Suppl 9:79-88.

Deisz RA (2002) Cellular mechanisms of pharmacoresistance in slices from epilepsy surgery. Novartis Found Symp 243:186-199.

Delpire E, Baranczak A, Waterson AG, Kim K, Kett N, Morrison RD, Daniels JS, Weaver CD, Lindsley CW (2012) Further optimization of the K-Cl cotransporter KCC2 antagonist ML077: development of a highly selective and more potent in vitro probe. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 22:4532-4535.

Delpire E, Lu JM, England R, Dull C, Thorne T (1999) Deafness and imbalance associated with inactivation of the secretory Na-K-2Cl co-transporter. Nat Genet 22:192-195.

Delpire E, Rauchman MI, Beier DR, Hebert SC, Gullans SR (1994) Molecular cloning and chromosome localization of a putative basolateral Na(+)-K(+)-2Cl- cotransporter from mouse inner medullary collecting duct (mIMCD-3) cells. J Biol Chem 269:25677-25683.

Delpire E, Days E, Lewis LM, Mi D, Kim K, Lindsley CW, Weaver CD (2009) Smallmolecule screen identifies inhibitors of the neuronal K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:5383-5388.

Denker SP, Barber DL (2002) Ion transport proteins anchor and regulate the cytoskeleton. Curr Opin Cell Biol 14:214-220.

Di Biase V, Tuluc P, Campiglio M, Obermair GJ, Heine M, Flucher BE (2011) Surface traffic of dendritic CaV1.2 calcium channels in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 31:13682-13694.

Di Lieto A, Rantamaki T, Vesa L, Yanpallewar S, Antila H, Lindholm J, Rios M, Tessarollo L, Castren E (2012) The responsiveness of TrkB to BDNF and antidepressant drugs is differentially regulated during mouse development. PLoS One 7:e32869.

Diamond J (2002) Quantitative evolutionary design. J Physiol 542:337-345.

Ding J, Ponce-Coria J, Delpire E (2013) A trafficking-deficient mutant of KCC3 reveals dominant-negative effects on K-Cl cotransport function. PLoS ONE 8:e61112.

Dunham PB, Stewart GW, Ellory JC (1980) Chloride-activated passive potassium transport in human erythrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 77:1711-1715.

Dzhala VI, Brumback AC, Staley KJ (2008) Bumetanide enhances phenobarbital efficacy in a neonatal seizure model. Ann Neurol 63:222-235.
Dzhala VI, Kuchibhotla KV, Glykys JC, Kahle KT, Swiercz WB, Feng G, Kuner T, Augustine GJ, Bacskai BJ, Staley KJ (2010) Progressive NKCC1-dependent neuronal chloride accumulation during neonatal seizures. J Neurosci 30:11745-11761.

Dzhala VI, Talos DM, Sdrulla DA, Brumback AC, Mathews GC, Benke TA, Delpire E, Jensen FE, Staley KJ (2005) NKCC1 transporter facilitates seizures in the developing brain. Nat Med 11:1205-1213.

Edwards DA, Shah HP, Cao W, Gravenstein N, Seubert CN, Martynyuk AE (2010) Bumetanide alleviates epileptogenic and neurotoxic effects of sevoflurane in neonatal rat brain. Anesthesiology 112:567-575.

Engel J, Jr. (2001) Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: what have we learned? Neuroscientist 7:340-352.

Erecinska M, Cherian S, Silver IA (2004a) Energy metabolism in mammalian brain during development. Prog Neurobiol 73:397-445.

Erecinska M, Cherian S, Silver IA (2004b) Energy metabolism in mammalian brain during development. Prog Neurobiol 73:397-445.

Ethell IM, Pasquale EB (2005) Molecular mechanisms of dendritic spine development and remodeling. Prog Neurobiol 75:161-205.

Farrant M, Kaila K (2007) The cellular, molecular and ionic basis of GABAA receptor signalling. Prog Brain Res 160:59-87.

Feng ZH, Hao J, Ye L, Dayao C, Yan N, Yan Y, Chu L, Shi FD (2011) Overexpression of mu-calpain in the anterior temporal neocortex of patients with intractable epilepsy correlates with clinicopathological characteristics. Seizure 20:395-401.

Fernandes CC, Pinto-Duarte A, Ribeiro JA, Sebastiao AM (2008) Postsynaptic action of brain-derived neurotrophic factor attenuates alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptormediated responses in hippocampal interneurons. J Neurosci 28:5611-5618.

Fernandes MJ, Naffah-Mazzacoratti MG, Cavalheiro EA (1996) Na+K+ ATPase activity in the rat hippocampus: a study in the pilocarpine model of epilepsy. Neurochem Int 28:497-500.

Fiumelli H, Cancedda L, Poo MM (2005) Modulation of GABAergic transmission by activity via postsynaptic Ca2+-dependent regulation of KCC2 function. Neuron 48:773-786.

Flagella M, Clarke LL, Miller ML, Erway LC, Giannella RA, Andringa A, Gawenis LR, Kramer J, Duffy JJ, Doetschman T, Lorenz JN, Yamoah EN, Cardell EL, Shull GE (1999) Mice lacking the basolateral Na-K-2Cl cotransporter have impaired epithelial chloride secretion and are profoundly deaf. J Biol Chem 274:26946-26955.

Fujikawa DG (2005) Prolonged seizures and cellular injury: understanding the connection. Epilepsy Behav 7 Suppl 3:S3-11.

Gagnon KB, Delpire E (2013) Physiology of SLC12 Transporters: Lessons from Inherited Human Genetic Mutations and Genetically-Engineered Mouse Knockouts. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.

Galanopoulou AS (2008) Dissociated gender-specific effects of recurrent seizures on GABA signaling in CA1 pyramidal neurons: role of GABAA receptors. J Neurosci 28:1557-1567.

Gamba G (2005) Molecular physiology and pathophysiology of electroneutral cationchloride cotransporters. Physiol Rev 85:423-493.

Gamba G, Miyanoshita A, Lombardi M, Lytton J, Lee WS, Hediger MA, Hebert SC (1994) Molecular cloning, primary structure, and characterization of two members of the mammalian electroneutral sodium-(potassium)-chloride cotransporter family expressed in kidney. J Biol Chem 269:17713-17722.

Ganguly K, Schinder AF, Wong ST, Poo MM (2001) GABA itself promotes the developmental switch of neuronal GABAergic responses from excitation to inhibition. Cell 105:521-532.

Gauvain G, Chamma I, Chevy Q, Cabezas C, Irinopoulou T, Bodrug N, Carnaud M, Levi S, Poncer JC (2011) The neuronal K-Cl cotransporter KCC2 influences postsynaptic AMPA receptor content and lateral diffusion in dendritic spines. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:15474-15479.

Gerelsaikhan T, Turner RJ (2000) Transmembrane topology of the secretory Na+-K+-2Cl- cotransporter NKCC1 studied by in vitro translation. J Biol Chem 275:40471-40477.

Glausier JR, Lewis DA (2012) Dendritic spine pathology in schizophrenia. Neuroscience.

Glykys J, Dzhala VI, Kuchibhotla KV, Feng G, Kuner T, Augustine GJ, Bacskai BJ, Staley K (2009) Differences in cortical versus subcortical GABAergic signaling: A candidate mechanism of electroclinical uncoupling of neonatal seizures. Neuron 63:657-672.

Goll DE, Thompson VF, Li H, Wei W, Cong J (2003) The calpain system. Physiol Rev 83:731-801.

Gomes JR, Lobo AC, Melo CV, Inacio AR, Takano J, Iwata N, Saido TC, de Almeida LP, Wieloch T, Duarte CB (2011) Cleavage of the vesicular GABA transporter under excitotoxic conditions is followed by accumulation of the truncated transporter in nonsynaptic sites. J Neurosci 31:4622-4635.

Granic I, Nyakas C, Luiten PG, Eisel UL, Halmy LG, Gross G, Schoemaker H, Moller A, Nimmrich V (2010) Calpain inhibition prevents amyloid-beta-induced neurodegeneration and associated behavioral dysfunction in rats. Neuropharmacology 59:334-342.

Gulacsi A, Lee CR, Sik A, Viitanen T, Kaila K, Tepper JM, Freund TF (2003) Cell type-specific differences in chloride-regulatory mechanisms and GABA(A) receptormediated inhibition in rat substantia nigra. J Neurosci 23:8237-8246.

Gulyas AI, Sik A, Payne JA, Kaila K, Freund TF (2001) The KCl cotransporter, KCC2, is highly expressed in the vicinity of excitatory synapses in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 13:2205-2217.

Haam J, Popescu IR, Morton LA, Halmos KC, Teruyama R, Ueta Y, Tasker JG (2012) GABA is excitatory in adult vasopressinergic neuroendocrine cells. J Neurosci 32:572-582.

Hansen AJ (1985) Effect of anoxia on ion distribution in the brain. Physiol Rev 65:101-148.

Hartmann AM, Blaesse P, Kranz T, Wenz M, Schindler J, Kaila K, Friauf E, Nothwang HG (2009) Opposite effect of membrane raft perturbation on transport activity of KCC2 and NKCC1. J Neurochem 111:321-331.

Hebert SC, Mount DB, Gamba G (2004) Molecular physiology of cation-coupled Clcotransport: the SLC12 family. Pflugers Arch 447:580-593.

Hediger MA, Romero MF, Peng JB, Rolfs A, Takanaga H, Bruford EA (2004) The ABCs of solute carriers: physiological, pathological and therapeutic implications of human membrane transport proteinsIntroduction. Pflugers Arch 447:465-468.

Hensch TK (2005a) Critical period mechanisms in developing visual cortex. Curr Top Dev Biol 69:215-237.

Hensch TK, Fagiolini M (2005) Excitatory-inhibitory balance and critical period plasticity in developing visual cortex. Prog Brain Res 147:115-124.

Hensch TK (2005b) Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:877-888.

Hering H, Sheng M (2001) Dentritic spines : structure, dynamics and regulation. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:880-888.

Horn Z, Ringstedt T, Blaesse P, Kaila K, Herlenius E (2010) Premature expression of KCC2 in embryonic mice perturbs neural development by an ion transport-independent mechanism. Eur J Neurosci 31:2142-2155.

Howard HC, et al. (2002) The K-Cl cotransporter KCC3 is mutant in a severe peripheral neuropathy associated with agenesis of the corpus callosum. Nat Genet 32:384-392.

Huberfeld G, Wittner L, Clemenceau S, Baulac M, Kaila K, Miles R, Rivera C (2007) Perturbed chloride homeostasis and GABAergic signaling in human temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 27:9866-9873.

Hübner CA, Lorke DE, Hermans-Borgmeyer I (2001a) Expression of the Na-K-2Clcotransporter NKCC1 during mouse development. Mech Dev 102:267-269. Hübner CA, Stein V, Hermans-Borgmeyer I, Meyer T, Ballanyi K, Jentsch TJ (2001b) Disruption of KCC2 reveals an essential role of K-Cl cotransport already in early synaptic inhibition. Neuron 30:515-524.

Huttenlocher PR, Dabholkar AS (1997) Regional differences in synaptogenesis in human cerebral cortex. J Comp Neurol 387:167-178.

Hyde TM, Lipska BK, Ali T, Mathew SV, Law AJ, Metitiri OE, Straub RE, Ye T, Colantuoni C, Herman MM, Bigelow LB, Weinberger DR, Kleinman JE (2011) Expression of GABA signaling molecules KCC2, NKCC1, and GAD1 in cortical development and schizophrenia. J Neurosci 31:11088-11095.

Ikeda K, Onimaru H, Yamada J, Inoue K, Ueno S, Onaka T, Toyoda H, Arata A, Ishikawa T, Taketo MM, Fukuda A, Kawakami K (2004) Malfunction of respiratoryrelated neuronal activity in Na+, K+-ATPase alpha 2 subunit-deficient mice is attributable to abnormal Cl- homeostasis in brainstem neurons. J Neurosci 24:10693-10701.

Ikeda M, Toyoda H, Yamada J, Okabe A, Sato K, Hotta Y, Fukuda A (2003) Differential development of cation-chloride cotransporters and Cl- homeostasis contributes to differential GABAergic actions between developing rat visual cortex and dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus. Brain Res 984:149-159.

Isokawa M (1998) Remodeling dendritic spines in the rat pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurosci Lett 258:73-76.

Isokawa M (2000) Remodeling dendritic spines of dentate granule cells in temporal lobe epilepsy patients and the rat pilocarpine model. Epilepsia 41 Suppl 6:S14-S17.

Jaenisch N, Witte OW, Frahm C (2010) Downregulation of potassium chloride cotransporter KCC2 after transient focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke 41:e151-e159.

Janssen SP, Gerard S, Raijmakers ME, Truin M, Van KM, Joosten EA (2012) Decreased intracellular GABA levels contribute to spinal cord stimulation-induced analgesia in rats suffering from painful peripheral neuropathy: the role of KCC2 and GABA(A) receptor-mediated inhibition. Neurochem Int 60:21-30.

Jarolimek W, Lewen A, Misgeld U (1999) A furosemide-sensitive K+-Cl- cotransporter counteracts intracellular Cl- accumulation and depletion in cultured rat midbrain neurons. J Neurosci 19:4695-4704.

Jefferys JG (1995) Nonsynaptic modulation of neuronal activity in the brain: electric currents and extracellular ions. Physiol Rev 75:689-723.

Jefferys JG (1999) Hippocampal sclerosis and temporal lobe epilepsy: cause or consequence? Brain 122 (Pt 6):1007-1008.

Jensen FE (2009) Developmental factors in the pathogenesis of neonatal seizures. J Pediatr Neurol 7:5-12.

Jin X, Huguenard JR, Prince DA (2005) Impaired Cl- extrusion in layer V pyramidal neurons of chronically injured epileptogenic neocortex. J Neurophysiol 93:2117-2126.

Juraska JM (1982) The development of pyramidal neurons after eye opening in the visual cortex of hooded rats: a quantitative study. J Comp Neurol 212:208-213.

Kahle KT, Barnett SM, Sassower KC, Staley KJ (2009) Decreased seizure activity in a human neonate treated with bumetanide, an inhibitor of the Na+-K+-2Cl- cotransporter NKCC1. J Child Neurol 24:572-576.

Kahle KT, Deeb TZ, Puskarjov M, Silayeva L, Liang B, Kaila K, Moss SJ (2013) Modulation of neuronal activity by phosphorylation of the K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. Trends Neurosci (in press; http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2013.08.006).

Kaila K (1994) Ionic basis of GABAA receptor channel function in the nervous system. Prog Neurobiol 42:489-537.

Kaila K, Lamsa K, Smirnov S, Taira T, Voipio J (1997) Long-lasting GABA-mediated depolarization evoked by high- frequency stimulation in pyramidal neurons of rat hippocampal slice is attributable to a network-driven, bicarbonate-dependent K+ transient. J Neurosci 17:7662-7672.

Kaila K, Voipio J (1987) Postsynaptic fall in intracellular pH induced by GABAactivated bicarbonate conductance. Nature 330:163-165.

Kaila K, Voipio J, Paalasmaa P, Pasternack M, Deisz RA (1993) The role of bicarbonate in GABAA receptor-mediated IPSPs of rat neocortical neurones. J Physiol 464:273-289.

Kanaka C, Ohno K, Okabe A, Kuriyama K, Itoh T, Fukuda A, Sato K (2001) The differential expression patterns of messenger RNAs encoding K-Cl cotransporters (KCC1,2) and Na-K-2Cl cotransporter (NKCC1) in the rat nervous system. Neuroscience, 104:933-946.

Kang HJ, et al. (2011) Spatio-temporal transcriptome of the human brain. Nature 478:483-489.

Karadsheh MF, Byun N, Mount DB, Delpire E (2004) Localization of the KCC4 potassium chloride cotransporter in the nervous system. Neuroscience, 123:381-391.

Karadsheh MF, Delpire E (2001) Neuronal restrictive silencing element is found in the KCC2 gene: molecular basis for KCC2-specific expression in neurons. J Neurophysiol 85:995-997.

Karpova NN, Pickenhagen A, Lindholm J, Tiraboschi E, Kulesskaya N, Agustsdottir A, Antila H, Popova D, Akamine Y, Bahi A, Sullivan R, Hen R, Drew LJ, Castren E (2011) Fear erasure in mice requires synergy between antidepressant drugs and extinction training. Science 334:1731-1734.

Kase H, Iwahashi K, Matsuda Y (1986) K-252a, a potent inhibitor of protein kinase C from microbial origin. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 39:1059-1065.

Kelsch W, Hormuzdi S, Straube E, Lewen A, Monyer H, Misgeld U (2001) Insulin-like growth factor 1 and a cytosolic tyrosine kinase activate chloride outward transport during maturation of hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci 21:8339-8347.

Khalilov I, Chazal G, Chudotvorova I, Pellegrino C, Corby S, Ferrand N, Gubkina O, Nardou R, Tyzio R, Yamamoto S, Jentsch TJ, Hubner CA, Gaiarsa JL, Ben-Ari Y, Medina I (2011) Enhanced Synaptic Activity and Epileptiform Events in the Embryonic KCC2 Deficient Hippocampus. Front Cell Neurosci 5:23.

Khazipov R, Esclapez M, Caillard O, Bernard C, Khalilov I, Tyzio R, Hirsch J, Dzhala V, Berger B, Ben-Ari Y (2001) Early development of neuronal activity in the primate hippocampus in utero. J Neurosci 21:9770-9781.

Khazipov R, Luhmann HJ (2006) Early patterns of electrical activity in the developing cerebral cortex of humans and rodents. Trends Neurosci 29:414-418.

Khirug S, Huttu K, Ludwig A, Smirnov S, Voipio J, Rivera C, Kaila K, Khiroug L (2005) Distinct properties of functional KCC2 expression in immature mouse hippocampal neurons in culture and in acute slices. Eur J Neurosci 21:899-904.

Khirug S, Yamada J, Afzalov R, Voipio J, Khiroug L, Kaila K (2008) GABAergic depolarization of the axon initial segment in cortical principal neurons is caused by the Na-K-2Cl cotransporter NKCC1. J Neurosci 28:4635-4639.

Kilb W, Sinning A, Luhmann HJ (2007) Model-specific effects of bumetanide on epileptiform activity in the in-vitro intact hippocampus of the newborn mouse. Neuropharmacology 53:524-533.

Kim U, Chung Ly (2007) Dual GABAergic Synaptic Response of Fast Excitation and Slow Inhibition in the Medial Habenula of Rat Epithalamus. J Neurophysiol 98:1323-1332.

Knüsel B, Rabin SJ, Hefti F, Kaplan DR (1994) Regulated neurotrophin receptor responsiveness during neuronal migration and early differentiation. J Neurosci 14:1542-1554.

Knüsel B, Hefti F (1992) K-252 compounds: modulators of neurotrophin signal transduction. J Neurochem 59:1987-1996.

Köhling R, Lucke A, Straub H, Speckmann EJ, Tuxhorn I, Wolf P, Pannek H, Oppel F (1998) Spontaneous sharp waves in human neocortical slices excised from epileptic patients. Brain 121:1073-1087.

Kovac S, Domijan AM, Walker MC, Abramov AY (2012) Prolonged seizure activity impairs mitochondrial bioenergetics and induces cell death. J Cell Sci 125:1796-1806.

Kovacs K, Basu K, Rouiller I, Sik A (2013) Regional differences in the expression of K(+)-Cl (-) 2 cotransporter in the developing rat cortex. Brain Struct Funct.

Kregenow FM (1971) The response of duck erythrocytes to nonhemolytic hypotonic media. Evidence for a volume-controlling mechanism. J Gen Physiol 58:372-395.

Lacoh CM, Bodogan T, Kaila K, Fiumelli H, Vutskits L (2013) General anaesthetics do not impair developmental expression of the KCC2 potassium-chloride cotransporter in neonatal rats during the brain growth spurt. Br J Anaesth 110 Suppl 1:i10-i18.

Lauf PK, Theg BE (1980) A chloride dependent K+ flux induced by N-ethylmaleimide in genetically low K+ sheep and goat erythrocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 92:1422-1428.

Le Rouzic P, Ivanov TR, Stanley PJ, Baudoin FMH, Chan F, Pinteaux E, Brown PD, Luckman SM (2006) KCC3 and KCC4 expression in rat adult forebrain. Brain Res 1110:39-45.

Lee H, Chen CXQ, Liu YJ, Aizenman E, Kandler K (2005) KCC2 expression in immature rat cortical neurons is sufficient to switch the polarity of GABA responses. Eur J Neurosci 21:2593-2599.

Lee HH, Deeb TZ, Walker JA, Davies PA, Moss SJ (2011) NMDA receptor activity downregulates KCC2 resulting in depolarizing GABAA receptor-mediated currents. Nat Neurosci 14:736-743.

Lee HH, Jurd R, Moss SJ (2010) Tyrosine phosphorylation regulates the membrane trafficking of the potassium chloride co-transporter KCC2. Mol Cell Neurosci 45:173-179.

Lee HHC, Walker JA, Williams JR, Goodier RJ, Payne JA, Moss SJ (2007) Direct protein kinase C-dependent phosphorylation regulates the cell surface stability and activity of the potassium chloride cotransporter KCC2. J Biol Chem 282:29777-29784.

Leitch E, Coaker J, Young C, Mehta V, Sernagor E (2005) GABA type-A activity controls its own developmental polarity switch in the maturing retina. J Neurosci 25:4801-4805.

Li H, Khirug S, Cai C, Ludwig A, Blaesse P, Kolikova J, Afzalov R, Coleman SK, Lauri S, Airaksinen MS, Keinanen K, Khiroug L, Saarma M, Kaila K, Rivera C (2007) KCC2 interacts with the dendritic cytoskeleton to promote spine development. Neuron 56:1019-1033.

Li H, Tornberg J, Kaila K, Airaksinen MS, Rivera C (2002) Patterns of cation-chloride cotransporter expression during embryonic rodent CNS development. Eur J Neurosci 16:2358-2370.

Li X, Zhou J, Chen Z, Chen S, Zhu F, Zhou L (2008) Long-term expressional changes of Na+ -K+ -Cl- co-transporter 1 (NKCC1) and K+ -Cl- co-transporter 2 (KCC2) in CA1 region of hippocampus following lithium-pilocarpine induced status epilepticus (PISE). Brain Res 1221:141-146.

Lindsley C, Lewis M, Weaver D, Delpire E (2010) Discovery of a Highly Selective KCC2 Antagonist. In: Probe Reports from the NIH Molecular Libraries Program [PMID:21433363] Bethesda (MD): National Center for Biotechnology Information (US).

Liu J, Liu MC, Wang KK (2008) Calpain in the CNS: from synaptic function to neurotoxicity. Sci Signal 1:re1.

Liu Z, Neff RA, Berg DK (2006) Sequential interplay of nicotinic and GABAergic signaling guides neuronal development. Science 314:1610-1613.

Löscher W, Puskarjov M, Kaila K (2013) Cation-chloride cotransporters NKCC1 and KCC2 as potential targets for novel antiepileptic and antiepileptogenic treatments. Neuropharmacology 69:62-74.

Lu LX, Yon JH, Carter LB, Jevtovic-Todorovic V (2006) General anesthesia activates BDNF-dependent neuroapoptosis in the developing rat brain. Apoptosis 11:1603-1615.

Lu Y, Zheng J, Xiong L, Zimmermann M, Yang J (2008) Spinal cord injury-induced attenuation of GABAergic inhibition in spinal dorsal horn circuits is associated with down-regulation of the chloride transporter KCC2 in rat. J Physiol 586:5701-5715.

Ludwig A, Li H, Saarma M, Kaila K, Rivera C (2003) Developmental up-regulation of KCC2 in the absence of GABAergic and glutamatergic transmission. Eur J Neurosci 18:3199-3206.

Ludwig A, Uvarov P, Pellegrino C, Thomas-Crusells J, Schuchmann S, Saarma M, Airaksinen MS, Rivera C (2011a) Neurturin evokes MAPK-dependent upregulation of Egr4 and KCC2 in developing neurons. Neural Plast 2011:1-8.

Ludwig A, Uvarov P, Soni S, Thomas-Crusells J, Airaksinen MS, Rivera C (2011b) Early growth response 4 mediates BDNF induction of potassium chloride cotransporter 2 transcription. J Neurosci 31:644-649.

Mao X, Ji C, Sun C, Cao D, Ma P, Ji Z, Cao F, Min D, Li S, Cai J, Cao Y (2012) Topiramate attenuates cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury in gerbils via activating GABAergic signaling and inhibiting astrogliosis. Neurochem Int 60:39-46.

Mares P (2009) Age- and dose-specific anticonvulsant action of bumetanide in immature rats. Physiol Res 58:927-930.

Markgraf CG, Velayo NL, Johnson MP, McCarty DR, Medhi S, Koehl JR, Chmielewski PA, Linnik MD (1998) Six-hour window of opportunity for calpain inhibition in focal cerebral ischemia in rats. Stroke 29:152-158.

Markkanen M, Uvarov P, Airaksinen MS (2008) Role of upstream stimulating factors in the transcriptional regulation of the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. Brain Res 1236:8-15.

Marty S, Wehrle R, Alvarez-Leefmans FJ, Gasnier B, Sotelo C (2002) Postnatal maturation of Na+, K+, 2Cl- cotransporter expression and inhibitory synaptogenesis in the rat hippocampus: an immunocytochemical analysis. Eur J Neurosci 15:233-245.

Mastroianni N, De FM, Zollo M, Arrigo G, Zuffardi O, Bettinelli A, Ballabio A, Casari G (1996) Molecular cloning, expression pattern, and chromosomal localization of the human Na-Cl thiazide-sensitive cotransporter (SLC12A3). Genomics 35:486-493.

Matus A (2000) Actin-based plasticity in dendritic spines. Science 290:754-758.

Mazarati A, Shin D, Sankar R (2009) Bumetanide inhibits rapid kindling in neonatal rats. Epilepsia 50:2117-2122.

McBride MC, Laroia N, Guillet R (2000) Electrographic seizures in neonates correlate with poor neurodevelopmental outcome. Neurology 55:506-513.

Mercado A, Broumand V, Zandi-Nejad K, Enck AH, Mount DB (2006) A C-terminal domain in KCC2 confers constitutive K+-Cl- cotransport. J Biol Chem 281:1016-1026.

Mercado A, Mount DB, Gamba G (2004) Electroneutral cation-chloride cotransporters in the central nervous system. Neurochem Res 29:17-25.

Micheva KD, Beaulieu C (1996) Quantitative aspects of synaptogenesis in the rat barrel field cortex with special reference to GABA circuitry. J Comp Neurol 373:340-354.

Miles R, Blaesse P, Huberfeld G, Wittner L, Kaila K (2012) Chloride homeostasis and GABA signaling in temporal lobe epilepsy. In: Jasper's Basic Mechanisms of the Epilepsies, fourth ed (Noebels JL, Avoli M, Rogawski MA, Olsen RW, Delgado-Escueta AV, eds), Oxford University Press.

Miletic G, Miletic V (2008) Loose ligation of the sciatic nerve is associated with TrkB receptor-dependent decreases in KCC2 protein levels in the ipsilateral spinal dorsal horn. Pain 137:532-539.

Milward AJ, Meldrum BS, Mellanby JH (1999) Forebrain ischaemia with CA1 cell loss impairs epileptogenesis in the tetanus toxin limbic seizure model. Brain 122 (Pt 6):1009-1016.

Minlebaev M, Khazipov R (2011) Antiepileptic effects of endogenous betahydroxybutyrate in suckling infant rats. Epilepsy Res 95:100-109.

Mizoguchi Y, Ishibashi H, Nabekura J (2003) The action of BDNF on GABAA currents changes from potentiating to suppressing during maturation of rat hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. J Physiol 548:703-709.

Munoz A, Mendez P, DeFelipe J, Alvarez-Leefmans FJ (2007) Cation-chloride cotransporters and GABA-ergic innervation in the human epileptic hippocampus. Epilepsia 48:663-673.

Nabekura J, Ueno T, Okabe A, Furuta A, Iwaki T, Shimizu-Okabe C, Fukuda A, Akaike N (2002) Reduction of KCC2 expression and GABA(A) receptor-mediated excitation after in vivo axonal injury. J Neurosci 22:4412-4417.

Nakata H, Nakamura S (2007) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates AMPA receptor trafficking to post-synaptic densities via IP3R and TRPC calcium signaling. FEBS Lett 581:2047-2054.

Nardou R, Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I (2009) Bumetanide, an NKCC1 antagonist, does not prevent formation of epileptogenic focus but blocks epileptic focus seizures in immature rat hippocampus. J Neurophysiol 101:2878-2888.

Nardou R, Yamamoto S, Bhar A, Burnashev N, Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I (2011a) Phenobarbital but not diazepam reduces AMPA/kainate receptor mediated currents and exerts opposite actions on initial seizures in the neonatal rat hippocampus. Front Cell Neurosci 5:16.

Nardou R, Yamamoto S, Chazal G, Bhar A, Ferrand N, Dulac O, Ben-Ari Y, Khalilov I (2011b) Neuronal chloride accumulation and excitatory GABA underlie aggravation of neonatal epileptiform activities by phenobarbital. Brain 134:987-1002.

Nimmrich V, Szabo R, Nyakas C, Granic I, Reymann KG, Schroder UH, Gross G, Schoemaker H, Wicke K, Moller A, Luiten P (2008) Inhibition of Calpain Prevents N-Methyl-D-aspartate-Induced Degeneration of the Nucleus Basalis and Associated Behavioral Dysfunction. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 327:343-352.

O'Donnell ME, Tran L, Lam TI, Liu XB, Anderson SE (2004) Bumetanide inhibition of the blood-brain barrier Na-K-Cl cotransporter reduces edema formation in the rat middle cerebral artery occlusion model of stroke. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 24:1046-1056.

O'Donovan KJ, Tourtellotte WG, Millbrandt J, Baraban JM (1999) The EGR family of transcription-regulatory factors: progress at the interface of molecular and systems neuroscience. Trends Neurosci 22:167-173.

O'Hanlon GM, Humphreys PD, Goldman RS, Halstead SK, Bullens RW, Plomp JJ, Ushkaryov Y, Willison HJ (2003) Calpain inhibitors protect against axonal degeneration in a model of anti-ganglioside antibody-mediated motor nerve terminal injury. Brain 126:2497-2509.

Obermair GJ, Szabo Z, Bourinet E, Flucher BE (2004) Differential targeting of the Ltype Ca2+ channel alpha 1C (CaV1.2) to synaptic and extrasynaptic compartments in hippocampal neurons. Eur J Neurosci 19:2109-2122.

Oertner TG, Matus A (2005) Calcium regulation of actin dynamics in dendritic spines. Cell Calcium 37:477-482.

Pacifici GM (2012) Clinical pharmacology of the loop diuretics furosemide and bumetanide in neonates and infants. Paediatr Drugs 14:233-246.

Painter MJ, Scher MS, Stein AD, Armatti S, Wang Z, Gardiner JC, Paneth N, Minnigh B, Alvin J (1999) Phenobarbital compared with phenytoin for the treatment of neonatal seizures. N Engl J Med 341:485-489.

Painter MJ, Sun Q, Scher MS, Janosky J, Alvin J (2012) Neonates with seizures: what predicts development? J Child Neurol 27:1022-1026.

Palma E, Amici M, Sobrero F, Spinelli G, Di Angelantonio S, Ragozzino D, Mascia A, Scoppetta C, Esposito V, Miledi R, Eusebi F (2006) Anomalous levels of Cltransporters in the hippocampal subiculum from temporal lobe epilepsy patients make GABA excitatory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:8465-8468.

Papp E, Rivera C, Kaila K, Freund TF (2008) Relationship between neuronal vulnerability and potassium-chloride cotransporter 2 immunoreactivity in hippocampus following transient forebrain ischemia. Neuroscience 154:677-689.

Park H, Poo MM (2013) Neurotrophin regulation of neural circuit development and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:7-23.

Pathak HR, Weissinger F, Terunuma M, Carlson GC, Hsu FC, Moss SJ, Coulter DA (2007) Disrupted dentate granule cell chloride regulation enhances synaptic excitability during development of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 27:14012-14022.

Pavlov I, Kaila K, Kullmann DM, Miles R (2013) Cortical inhibition, pH and cell excitability in epilepsy: what are optimal targets for antiepileptic interventions? J Physiol 591:765-774.

Payne JA (1997) Functional characterization of the neuronal-specific K-Cl cotransporter - implications for [K+](o) regulation. Am J Physiol 42:C1516-C1525.

Payne JA (2012) Molecular operation of the cation chloride cotransporters: ion binding and inhibitor interaction. Curr Top Membr 70:215-237.

Payne JA, Rivera C, Voipio J, Kaila K (2003) Cation-chloride co-transporters in neuronal communication, development and trauma. Trends Neurosci 26:199-206.

Payne JA, Stevenson TJ, Donaldson LF (1996) Molecular characterization of a putative K-Cl cotransporter in rat brain. A neuronal-specific isoform. J Biol Chem 271:16245-16252.

Pearson MM, Lu J, Mount DB, Delpire E (2001) Localization of the K-Clcotransporter, KCC3, in the central and peripheral nervous systems: expression in the choroid plexus, large neurons and white matter tracts. Neuroscience, 103:481-491.

Pellegrino C, Gubkina O, Schaefer M, Becq H, Ludwig A, Mukhtarov M, Chudotvorova I, Corby S, Salyha Y, Salozhin S, Bregestovski P, Medina I (2011) Knocking down of the KCC2 in rat hippocampal neurons increases intracellular chloride concentration and compromises neuronal survival. J Physiol 589:2475-2496.

Petanjek Z, Judas M, Simic G, Rasin MR, Uylings HB, Rakic P, Kostovic I (2011) Extraordinary neoteny of synaptic spines in the human prefrontal cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:13281-13286.

Pfeffer CK, Stein V, Keating DJ, Maier H, Rinke I, Rudhard Y, Hentschke M, Rune GM, Jentsch TJ, Hubner CA (2009) NKCC1-dependent GABAergic excitation drives synaptic network maturation during early hippocampal development. J Neurosci 29:3419-3430.

Pisani F, Piccolo B, Cantalupo G, Copioli C, Fusco C, Pelosi A, Tassinari CA, Seri S (2012) Neonatal seizures and postneonatal epilepsy: a 7-y follow-up study. Pediatr Res 72:186-193.

Pitkänen A, Lukasiuk K (2011) Mechanisms of epileptogenesis and potential treatment targets. Lancet Neurol 10:173-186.

Plotkin MD, Kaplan MR, Peterson LN, Gullans SR, Hebert SC, Delpire E (1997a) Expression of the Na(+)-K(+)-2Cl- cotransporter BSC2 in the nervous system. Am J Physiol 272:C173-C183.

Plotkin MD, Snyder EY, Hebert SC, Delpire E (1997b) Expression of the Na-K-2Cl cotransporter is developmentally regulated in postnatal rat brains: a possible mechanism underlying GABA's excitatory role in immature brain. J Neurobiol 33:781-795.

Pond BB, Galeffi F, Ahrens R, Schwartz-Bloom RD (2004) Chloride transport inhibitors influence recovery from oxygen-glucose deprivation-induced cellular injury in adult hippocampus. Neuropharmacology 47:253-262.

Ponten E, Fredriksson A, Gordh T, Eriksson P, Viberg H (2011) Neonatal exposure to propofol affects BDNF but not CaMKII, GAP-43, synaptophysin and tau in the neonatal brain and causes an altered behavioural response to diazepam in the adult mouse brain. Behav Brain Res 223:75-80.

Popic J, Pesic V, Milanovic D, Todorovic S, Kanazir S, Jevtovic-Todorovic V, Ruzdijic S (2012) Propofol-induced changes in neurotrophic signaling in the developing nervous system in vivo. PLoS ONE 7:e34396.

Pressler RM, Mangum B (2013) Newly emerging therapies for neonatal seizures. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.

Pylova SI, Majkowska J, Hilgier W, Kapuscinski A, Albrecht J (1989) Rapid decrease of high affinity ouabain binding sites in hippocampal CA1 region following short-term global cerebral ischemia in rat. Brain Res 490:170-173.

Rakhade SN, Klein PM, Huynh T, Hilario-Gomez C, Kosaras B, Rotenberg A, Jensen FE (2011) Development of later life spontaneous seizures in a rodent model of hypoxiainduced neonatal seizures. Epilepsia 52:753-765.

Randall J, Thorne T, Delpire E (1997) Partial cloning and characterization of Slc12a2: the gene encoding the secretory Na+-K+-2Cl- cotransporter. Am J Physiol 273:C1267-C1277.

Rasmussen JR (1992) Effect of glycosylation on protein function. Current Opinion in Structural Biology 2:682-686.

Rechsteiner M, Rogers SW (1996) PEST sequences and regulation by proteolysis. Trends Biochem Sci 21:267-271.

Reid AY, Riazi K, Campbell TG, Pittman QJ (2013) Increased excitability and molecular changes in adult rats after a febrile seizure. Epilepsia 54:e45-e48.

Represa A, Ben Ari Y (2005) Trophic actions of GABA on neuronal development. Trends Neurosci 28:278-283.

Reynolds A, Brustein E, Liao M, Mercado A, Babilonia E, Mount DB, Drapeau P (2008) Neurogenic role of the depolarizing chloride gradient revealed by global overexpression of KCC2 from the onset of development. J Neurosci 28:1588-1597.

Rheims S, Minlebaev M, Ivanov A, Represa A, Khazipov R, Holmes GL, Ben Ari Y, Zilberter Y (2008) Excitatory GABA in rodent developing neocortex in vitro. J Neurophysiol 100:609-619.

Richards DA, Mateos JM, Hugel S, De P, V, Caroni P, Gahwiler BH, McKinney RA (2005) Glutamate induces the rapid formation of spine head protrusions in hippocampal slice cultures. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:6166-6171.

Riekki R, Pavlov I, Tornberg J, Lauri SE, Airaksinen MS, Taira T (2008) Altered Synaptic Dynamics and Hippocampal Excitability but Normal Long-Term Plasticity in Mice Lacking Hyperpolarizing GABAA Receptor-Mediated Inhibition in CA1 Pyramidal Neurons. J Neurophysiol 99:3075-3089.

Rinehart J, Maksimova YD, Tanis JE, Stone KL, Hodson CA, Zhang J, Risinger M, Pan W, Wu D, Colangelo CM, Forbush B, Joiner CH, Gulcicek EE, Gallagher PG, Lifton RP (2009) Sites of regulated phosphorylation that control K-Cl cotransporter activity. Cell 138:525-536.

Rivera C, Li H, Thomas-Crusells J, Lahtinen H, Viitanen T, Nanobashvili A, Kokaia Z, Airaksinen MS, Voipio J, Kaila K, Saarma M (2002) BDNF-induced TrkB activation down-regulates the K+-Cl- cotransporter KCC2 and impairs neuronal Cl- extrusion. J Cell Biol 159:747-752.

Rivera C, Voipio J, Kaila K (2005) Two developmental switches in GABAergic signalling: the K+-Cl- cotransporter KCC2 and carbonic anhydrase CAVII. J Physiol 564:953.

Rivera C, Voipio J, Payne JA, Ruusuvuori E, Lahtinen H, Lamsa K, Pirvola U, Saarma M, Kaila K (1999) The K+/Cl- co-transporter KCC2 renders GABA hyperpolarizing during neuronal maturation. Nature 397:251-255.

Rivera C, Voipio J, Thomas-Crusells J, Li H, Emri Z, Sipilä S, Payne JA, Minichiello L, Saarma M, Kaila K (2004) Mechanism of activity-dependent downregulation of the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. J Neurosci 24:4683-4691.

Ronen GM, Buckley D, Penney S, Streiner DL (2007) Long-term prognosis in children with neonatal seizures: a population-based study. Neurology 69:1816-1822.

Roth J (2002) Protein N-glycosylation along the secretory pathway: relationship to organelle topography and function, protein quality control, and cell interactions. Chem Rev 102:285-303.

Rudnik-Schoneborn S, Hehr U, von KT, Bornemann A, Winkler J, Zerres K (2009) Andermann syndrome can be a phenocopy of hereditary motor and sensory neuropathyreport of a discordant sibship with a compound heterozygous mutation of the KCC3 gene. Neuropediatrics 40:129-133.

Rudolph U, Antkowiak B (2004) Molecular and neuronal substrates for general anaesthetics. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:709-720.

Rust MB, Alper SL, Rudhard Y, Shmukler BE, Vicente R, Brugnara C, Trudel M, Jentsch TJ, Hübner CA (2007) Disruption of erythroid K-Cl cotransporters alters erythrocyte volume and partially rescues erythrocyte dehydration in SAD mice. J Clin Invest 117:1708-1717.

Rust MB, Faulhaber J, Budack MK, Pfeffer C, Maritzen T, Didie M, Beck FX, Boettger T, Schubert R, Ehmke H, Jentsch TJ, Hübner CA (2006) Neurogenic mechanisms contribute to hypertension in mice with disruption of the K-Cl cotransporter KCC3. Circ Res 98:549-556.

Ruusuvuori E, Kaila K (2013) Carbonic anhydrases and brain pH in the control of neuronal excitability. In: Carbonic Anhydrase: Mechanism, Regulation, Links to Disease, and Industrial Applications (Frost S, McKenna R, eds), Springer (*in press*).

Sarafidis PA, Georgianos PI, Lasaridis AN (2010) Diuretics in clinical practice. Part I: mechanisms of action, pharmacological effects and clinical indications of diuretic compounds. Expert Opin Drug Saf 9:243-257.

Sarkar J, Wakefield S, MacKenzie G, Moss SJ, Maguire J (2011) Neurosteroidogenesis is required for the physiological response to stress: role of neurosteroid-sensitive GABAA receptors. J Neurosci 31:18198-18210.

Schoenherr CJ, Anderson DJ (1995) The neuron-restrictive silencer factor (NRSF): a coordinate repressor of multiple neuron-specific genes. Science 267:1360-1363.

Seja P, Schonewille M, Spitzmaul G, Badura A, Klein I, Rudhard Y, Wisden W, Hubner CA, De Zeeuw CI, Jentsch TJ (2012) Raising cytosolic Cl- in cerebellar granule cells affects their excitability and vestibulo-ocular learning. EMBO J 31:1217-1230.

Semah F, Picot MC, Adam C, Broglin D, Arzimanoglou A, Bazin B, Cavalcanti D, Baulac M (1998) Is the underlying cause of epilepsy a major prognostic factor for recurrence? Neurology 51:1256-1262.

Semple BD, Blomgren K, Gimlin K, Ferriero DM, Noble-Haeusslein LJ (2013) Brain development in rodents and humans: Identifying benchmarks of maturation and vulnerability to injury across species. Prog Neurobiol.

Sen A, Martinian L, Nikolic M, Walker MC, Thom M, Sisodiya SM (2007) Increased NKCC1 expression in refractory human epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 74:220-227.

Seshia SS, Huntsman RJ, Lowry NJ, Seshia M, Yager JY, Sankaran K (2011) Neonatal seizures: diagnosis and management. Chin J Contemp Pediatr 13:81-100.

Sharma AK, Searfoss GH, Reams RY, Jordan WH, Snyder PW, Chiang AY, Jolly RA, Ryan TP (2009) Kainic acid-induced F-344 rat model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: gene expression and canonical pathways. Toxicol Pathol 37:776-789.

Shimizu-Okabe C, Yokokura M, Okabe A, Ikeda M, Sato K, Kilb W, Luhmann HJ, Fukuda A (2002) Layer-specific expression of Cl- transporters and differential [Cl-]i in newborn rat cortex. NeuroReport 13:2433-2437.

Shin HJ, Jeon BT, Kim J, Jeong EA, Kim MJ, Lee DH, Kim HJ, Kang SS, Cho GJ, Choi WS, Roh GS (2012) Effect of the calcineurin inhibitor FK506 on K+-Clcotransporter 2 expression in the mouse hippocampus after kainic acid-induced status epilepticus. J Neural Transm 119:669-677.

Shulga A, Blaesse A, Kysenius K, Huttunen HJ, Tanhuanpaa K, Saarma M, Rivera C (2009) Thyroxin regulates BDNF expression to promote survival of injured neurons. Mol Cell Neurosci 42:408-418.

Shulga A, Thomas-Crusells J, Sigl T, Blaesse A, Mestres P, Meyer M, Yan Q, Kaila K, Saarma M, Rivera C, Giehl KM (2008) Posttraumatic GABAA-mediated [Ca2+]i increase is essential for the induction of brain-derived neurotrophic factor-dependent survival of mature central neurons. J Neurosci 28:6996-7005.

Sierra-Paredes G, Cornes JM, Sierra-Marcuno G (1999) Calpain inhibitor I retards seizure offset in the hippocampus of freely moving rats. Neurosci Lett 263:165-168.

Simon DB, Karet FE, Hamdan JM, DiPietro A, Sanjad SA, Lifton RP (1996a) Bartter's syndrome, hypokalaemic alkalosis with hypercalciuria, is caused by mutations in the Na-K-2Cl cotransporter NKCC2. Nat Genet 13:183-188.

Simon DB, Nelson-Williams C, Bia MJ, Ellison D, Karet FE, Molina AM, Vaara I, Iwata F, Cushner HM, Koolen M, Gainza FJ, Gitleman HJ, Lifton RP (1996b) Gitelman's variant of Bartter's syndrome, inherited hypokalaemic alkalosis, is caused by mutations in the thiazide-sensitive Na-Cl cotransporter. Nat Genet 12:24-30.

Sipilä ST, Huttu K, Yamada J, Afzalov R, Voipio J, Blaesse P, Kaila K (2009) Compensatory enhancement of intrinsic spiking upon NKCC1 disruption in neonatal hippocampus. J Neurosci 29:6982-6988.

Somjen GG (2002) Ion regulation in the brain: implications for pathophysiology. Neuroscientist 8:254-267.

Somogyi P, Tam s G, Lujan R, Buhl EH (1998) Salient features of synaptic organisation in the cerebral cortex. Brain Res Rev 26:113-135.

Song LY, Mercado A, Vazquez N, Xie QZ, Desai R, George AL, Gamba G, Mount DB (2002) Molecular, functional, and genomic characterization of human KCC2, the neuronal K-Cl cotransporter. Mol Brain Res 103:91-105.

Staley KJ (2006) Wrong-way chloride transport: is it a treatable cause of some intractable seizures? Epilepsy Curr 6:124-127.

Stein V, Hermans-Borgmeyer I, Jentsch TJ, Hübner CA (2004) Expression of the KCl cotransporter KCC2 parallels neuronal maturation and the emergence of low intracellular chloride. J Comp Neurol 468:57-64.

Strange K, Singer TD, Morrison R, Delpire E (2000) Dependence of KCC2 K-Cl cotransporter activity on a conserved carboxy terminus tyrosine residue. Am J Physiol 279:C860-C867.

Sun C, Zhang L, Chen G (2013) An unexpected role of neuroligin-2 in regulating KCC2 and GABA functional switch. Mol Brain 6:23.

Sutherland JH, Greenbaum LM (1983) Paradoxical effect of leupeptin in vivo on cathepsin B activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 110:332-338.

Szabadics J, Varga C, Molnar G, Olah S, Barzo P, Tamas G (2006) Excitatory effect of GABAergic axo-axonic cells in cortical microcircuits. Science 311:233-235.

Takayama C, Inoue Y (2010) Developmental localization of potassium chloride cotransporter 2 (KCC2), GABA and vesicular GABA transporter (VGAT) in the postnatal mouse somatosensory cortex. Neurosci Res 67:137-148.

Takkala P, Woodin MA (2013) Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor activation prevents disinhibition-mediated LTP in the hippocampus. Front Cell Neurosci 7:16.

Tao R, Li C, Newburn EN, Ye T, Lipska BK, Herman MM, Weinberger DR, Kleinman JE, Hyde TM (2012) Transcript-specific associations of SLC12A5 (KCC2) in human prefrontal cortex with development, schizophrenia, and affective disorders. J Neurosci 32:5216-5222.

Tatum WO (2012) Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. J Clin Neurophysiol 29:356-365.

Tekgul H, Gauvreau K, Soul J, Murphy L, Robertson R, Stewart J, Volpe J, Bourgeois B, du Plessis AJ (2006) The current etiologic profile and neurodevelopmental outcome of seizures in term newborn infants. Pediatrics 117:1270-1280.

Thind KK, Yamawaki R, Phanwar I, Zhang G, Wen X, Buckmaster PS (2010) Initial loss but later excess of GABAergic synapses with dentate granule cells in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Comp Neurol 518:647-667.

Thomas P, Mortensen M, Hosie AM, Smart TG (2005) Dynamic mobility of functional GABAA receptors at inhibitory synapses. Nat Neurosci 8:889-897.

Thompson SM, Deisz RA, Prince DA (1988) Outward chloride/cation co-transport in mammalian cortical neurons. Neurosci Lett 89:49-54.

Titz S, Hans M, Kelsch W, Lewen A, Swandulla D, Misgeld U (2003) Hyperpolarizing inhibition develops without trophic support by GABA in cultured rat midbrain neurons. J Physiol 550:719-730.

Tjalsma H, Lambooy L, Hermans PW, Swinkels DW (2008) Shedding & shaving: disclosure of proteomic expressions on a bacterial face. Proteomics 8:1415-1428.

Tornberg J, Voikar V, Savilahti H, Rauvala H, Airaksinen MS (2005) Behavioural phenotypes of hypomorphic KCC2-deficient mice. Eur J Neurosci 21:1327-1337.

Toyoda H, Ohno K, Yamada J, Ikeda M, Okabe A, Sato K, Hashimoto K, Fukuda A (2003) Induction of NMDA and GABA(A) receptor-mediated Ca2+ oscillations with KCC2 mRNA downregulation in injured facial motoneurons. J Neurophysiol 89:1353-1362.

Toyoda H, Yamada J, Ueno S, Okabe A, Kato H, Sato K, Hashimoto K, Fukuda A (2005) Differential functional expression of cation-Cl- cotransporter mRNAs (KCC1, KCC2, and NKCC1) in rat trigeminal nervous system. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 133:12-18.

Trevelyan AJ, Sussillo D, Yuste R (2007) Feedforward inhibition contributes to the control of epileptiform propagation speed. J Neurosci 27:3383-3387.

Tyagarajan SK, Ghosh H, Yevenes GE, Imanishi SY, Zeilhofer HU, Gerrits B, Fritschy JM (2013) Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase and Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3beta Regulate Gephyrin Postsynaptic Aggregation and GABAergic Synaptic Function in a Calpain-dependent Mechanism. J Biol Chem 288:9634-9647.

Tyagarajan SK, Ghosh H, Yevenes GE, Nikonenko I, Ebeling C, Schwerdel C, Sidler C, Zeilhofer HU, Gerrits B, Muller D, Fritschy JM (2011) Regulation of GABAergic synapse formation and plasticity by GSK3beta-dependent phosphorylation of gephyrin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:379-384.

Tyzio R, Holmes GL, Ben Ari Y, Khazipov R (2007) Timing of the developmental switch in GABA(A) mediated signaling from excitation to inhibition in CA3 rat hippocampus using gramicidin perforated patch and extracellular recordings. Epilepsia 48 Suppl 5:96-105.

Tyzio R, Minlebaev M, Rheims S, Ivanov A, Jorquera I, Holmes GL, Zilberter Y, Ben Ari Y, Khazipov R (2008) Postnatal changes in somatic gamma-aminobutyric acid signalling in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 27:2515-2528.

Uvarov P (2010) Neuronal K-Cl Cotransporter: Transcriptional Mechanisms of KCC2 Gene Regulation (Dissertation). University of Helsinki http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-10-6300-8.

Uvarov P, Ludwig A, Markkanen M, Pruunsild P, Kaila K, Delpire E, Timmusk T, Rivera C, Airaksinen MS (2007) A novel N-terminal isoform of the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. J Biol Chem 282:30570-30576.

Uvarov P, Ludwig A, Markkanen M, Rivera C, Airaksinen MS (2006) Upregulation of the neuron-specific K+/Cl- cotransporter expression by transcription factor early growth response 4. J Neurosci 26:13463-13473.

Uvarov P, Ludwig A, Markkanen M, Soni S, Hubner CA, Rivera C, Airaksinen MS (2009) Coexpression and heteromerization of two neuronal K-Cl cotransporter isoforms in neonatal brain. J Biol Chem 284:13696-13704.

Uvarov P, Pruunsild P, Timmusk T, Airaksinen MS (2005) Neuronal K+/Cl- cotransporter (KCC2) transgenes lacking neurone restrictive silencer element recapitulate CNS neurone-specific expression and developmental up-regulation of endogenous KCC2 gene. J Neurochem 95:1144-1155.

Vale C, Caminos E, Martinez-Galan JR, Juiz JM (2005) Expression and developmental regulation of the K+-Cl- cotransporter KCC2 in the cochlear nucleus. Hear Res 206:107-115.

Vanhatalo S, Palva JM, Andersson S, Rivera C, Voipio J, Kaila K (2005) Slow endogenous activity transients and developmental expression of K+-Cl- cotransporter 2 in the immature human cortex. Eur J Neurosci 22:2799-2804.

Vargas E, Petrou S, Reid CA (2013) Genetic and pharmacological modulation of giant depolarizing potentials in the neonatal hippocampus associates with increased seizure susceptibility. J Physiol 591:57-65.

Viitanen T, Ruusuvuori E, Kaila K, Voipio J (2010) The K+-Cl cotransporter KCC2 promotes GABAergic excitation in the mature rat hippocampus. J Physiol 588:1527-1540.

Wahab A, Albus K, Heinemann U (2011) Age- and region-specific effects of anticonvulsants and bumetanide on 4-aminopyridine-induced seizure-like events in immature rat hippocampal-entorhinal cortex slices. Epilepsia 52:94-103.

Wake H, Watanabe M, Moorhouse AJ, Kanematsu T, Horibe S, Matsukawa N, Asai K, Ojika K, Hirata M, Nabekura J (2007) Early changes in KCC2 phosphorylation in response to neuronal stress result in functional downregulation. J Neurosci 27:1642-1650.

Wang C, Shimizu-Okabe C, Watanabe K, Okabe A, Matsuzaki H, Ogawa T, Mori N, Fukuda A, Sato K (2002) Developmental changes in KCC1, KCC2, and NKCC1 mRNA expressions in the rat brain. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 139:59-66.

Wang DG, Gong N, Luo B, Xu TL (2006) Absence of GABA type A signaling in adult medial habenular neurons. Neuroscience 141:133-141.

Wang N, Chen W, Linsel-Nitschke P, Martinez LO, Agerholm-Larsen B, Silver DL, Tall AR (2003) A PEST sequence in ABCA1 regulates degradation by calpain protease and stabilization of ABCA1 by apoA-I. J Clin Invest 111:99-107.

Wang WZ, Hoerder-Suabedissen A, Oeschger FM, Bayatti N, Ip BK, Lindsay S, Supramaniam V, Srinivasan L, Rutherford M, Mollgard K, Clowry GJ, Molnar Z (2010) Subplate in the developing cortex of mouse and human. J Anat 217:368-380.

Wardle RA, Poo MM (2003) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor modulation of GABAergic synapses by postsynaptic regulation of chloride transport. J Neurosci 23:8722-8732.

Wasterlain CG, Liu H, Naylor DE, Thompson KW, Suchomelova L, Niquet J, Mazarati AM, Baldwin RA (2009) Molecular basis of self-sustaining seizures and pharmacoresistance during status epilepticus: The receptor trafficking hypothesis revisited. Epilepsia 50 Suppl 12:16-18.

Watanabe M, Wake H, Moorhouse AJ, Nabekura J (2009) Clustering of neuronal K+-Cl- cotransporters in lipid rafts by tyrosine phosphorylation. J Biol Chem 284:27980-27988.

Wei WC, Akerman CJ, Newey SE, Pan J, Clinch NW, Jacob Y, Shen MR, Wilkins RJ, Ellory JC (2011) The potassium-chloride cotransporter 2 promotes cervical cancer cell migration and invasion by an ion transport-independent mechanism. J Physiol 589:5349-5359.

Weng TY, Chiu WT, Liu HS, Cheng HC, Shen MR, Mount DB, Chou CY (2013) Glycosylation regulates the function and membrane localization of KCC4. Biochim Biophys Acta 1833:1133-1146.

Wenz M, Hartmann AM, Friauf E, Nothwang HG (2009) CIP1 is an activator of the K+-Cl- cotransporter KCC2. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 381:388-392.

Wiebe S (2000) Epidemiology of temporal lobe epilepsy. Can J Neurol Sci 27 Suppl 1:S6-10.

Williams JR, Sharp JW, Kumari VG, Wilson M, Payne JA (1999) The neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter, KCC2. Antibody development and initial characterization of the protein. J Biol Chem 274:12656-12664.

Wojcik SM, Katsurabayashi S, Guillemin I, Friauf E, Rosenmund C, Brose N, Rhee JS (2006) A shared vesicular carrier allows synaptic corelease of GABA and glycine. Neuron 50:575-587.

Wong M, Guo D (2012) Dendritic spine pathology in epilepsy: Cause or consequence? Neuroscience.

Woo NS, Lu JM, England R, McClellan R, Dufour S, Mount DB, Deutch AY, Lovinger DM, Delpire E (2002) Hyperexcitability and epilepsy associated with disruption of the mouse neuronal-specific K-Cl cotransporter gene. Hippocampus 12:258-268.

Wu HY, Lynch DR (2006) Calpain and synaptic function. Mol Neurobiol 33:215-236.

Xu G, Broadbelt KG, Haynes RL, Folkerth RD, Borenstein NS, Belliveau RA, Trachtenberg FL, Volpe JJ, Kinney HC (2011) Late development of the GABAergic system in the human cerebral cortex and white matter. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 70:841-858.

Yang B, Tadavarty R, Xu JY, Sastry BR (2010) Activity-mediated plasticity of GABA equilibrium potential in rat hippocampal CA1 neurons. Exp Neurol 221:157-165.

Ye ZY, Li DP, Byun HS, Li L, Pan HL (2012) NKCC1 upregulation disrupts chloride homeostasis in the hypothalamus and increases neuronal activity-sympathetic drive in hypertension. J Neurosci 32:8560-8568.

Yeo M, Berglund K, Augustine G, Liedtke W (2009) Novel repression of Kcc2 transcription by REST-RE-1 controls developmental switch in neuronal chloride. J Neurosci 29:14652-14662.

Yu CG, Joshi A, Geddes JW (2008) Intraspinal MDL28170 microinjection improves functional and pathological outcome following spinal cord injury. J Neurotrauma 25:833-840.

Yuste R (2010) Dendritic Spines. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press.

Yuste R, Bonhoeffer T (2004) Genesis of dendritic spines: insights from ultrastructural and imaging studies. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:24-34.

Zadran S, Bi X, Baudry M (2010a) Regulation of calpain-2 in neurons: implications for synaptic plasticity. Mol Neurobiol 42:143-150.

Zadran S, Jourdi H, Rostamiani K, Qin Q, Bi X, Baudry M (2010b) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and epidermal growth factor activate neuronal m-calpain via mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent phosphorylation. J Neurosci 30:1086-1095.

Zhang LL, Fina ME, Vardi N (2006) Regulation of KCC2 and NKCC during development: Membrane insertion and differences between cell types. J Comp Neurol 499:132-143.

Zhang SX, Bondada V, Geddes JW (2003) Evaluation of conditions for calpain inhibition in the rat spinal cord: effective postinjury inhibition with intraspinal MDL28170 microinjection. J Neurotrauma 20:59-67.

Zhang W, Lane RD, Mellgren RL (1996) The major calpain isozymes are long-lived proteins. Design of an antisense strategy for calpain depletion in cultured cells. J Biol Chem 271:18825-18830.

Zhao B, Wong AY, Murshid A, Bowie D, Presley JF, Bedford FK (2008) Identification of a novel di-leucine motif mediating K(+)/Cl(-) cotransporter KCC2 constitutive endocytosis. Cell Signal 20:1769-1779.

Zhao X, Newcomb JK, Posmantur RM, Wang KK, Pike BR, Hayes RL (1998) pH dependency of mu-calpain and m-calpain activity assayed by casein zymography following traumatic brain injury in the rat. Neurosci Lett 247:53-57.

Zhou HY, Chen SR, Byun HS, Chen H, Li L, Han HD, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK, Pan HL (2012) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor- and calpain-mediated proteolytic cleavage of K+-Cl- cotransporter-2 impairs spinal chloride homeostasis in neuropathic pain. J Biol Chem 287:33853-33864.

Zhu L, Lovinger D, Delpire E (2005) Cortical neurons lacking KCC2 expression show impaired regulation of intracellular chloride. J Neurophysiol 93:1557-1568.

Zhu L, Polley N, Mathews GC, Delpire E (2008) NKCC1 and KCC2 prevent hyperexcitability in the mouse hippocampus. Epilepsy Research, 79:201-212.